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Annual Memorabilia 2019

“E-NFEFEXSER

MAJOR EVENTS FE;EH)

MARCH 2019 —Z—HhE=H

The Group sponsored TEF2019 Quick App
Developer Conference (TEF20191R & FABH 3% & K

2).

REBAPTEF20191REFABRE RS -

JUNE 2019 —F—h %A

The Group held a “Business School of Game”
event with Facebook.

AEEE S Facebook B [ EE 2kt JEE) o
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Annual Memorabilia 2019

“E-NFEFEXSER

AUGUST 2019 —F—h&E/\A

We organised the 2019 MHA Carnival Night &
Reciprocal Reception for the 5th Anniversary of
the MHA during the China Digital Entertainment
Expo & Conference.

AEEEHEEBREEE B IREESED P EN
2019 e REBRBELAFEHES -

The Group strategically invested in Beijing Youbei
Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (t Zi B 8= Rl
BPFRAF]) to further expand its business to the
financial technology sector.

FEEEBMERELEERFINRBRLF &
—IRREBREEE SRR E -

6 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019




Annual Memorabilia 2019

B REFEXER

OCTOBER 2019 —E—h&%E+AH

A subsidiary of the Group became the Chairman
of Shenzhen Branch of Taobao Alliance.

REEFARMAHERER I BEEEREN

The Group as a lead sponsor organised the 5th
Black Stone Awards Ceremony in Shenzhen.

A& >
E E % E = ﬂﬁ = '@' *I ! AEBEAEIHFERYIENERIEBARMARHA
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Chairman’s Statement

EREEE

Mr. GAO Dinan
BHRBENE

Chairman, Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer

FE - BITEFREFEHTE

o/

Dear Shareholders,

In 2019, we embraced both challenges and opportunities. In the
spirit of commitment and courage, as well as in active pursuit of
change, we have explored business development opportunities
in various verticals in the market. Leveraging our indigenously
developed and constantly upgraded DAPG platform, we continued
to provide high-quality services to a large number of Android-
based ecosystem participants in China. In 2019, the Company
demonstrated steady advancement in both operation and
development, evidenced by continuing increase in revenue and
operating profit, as well as our overseas business expansion.
Furthermore, we adopted the multi-screen strategy by tapping into
the advantages of the 5G technology. | am pleased to present the
Shareholders our report for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Our total revenue increased by 55.0% from RMB1,546.3 million
in 2018 to RMB2,396.2 million in 2019. Gross profit increased
by 55.8% on a year-on-year basis to RMB338.2 million in 2019.
Operating profit increased by 72.5% on a year-on-year basis to
RMB175.8 million in 2019. In 2019, we recorded profit after tax
of RMB105.7 million for the first time, representing a turnaround
from loss to profit, which is mainly attributable to the fact that our
distribution businesses of mobile apps and games continued their
expansion, while we did not recognize any loss on the fair value of
convertible bonds, preferred shares, and warrants, nor did we incur
any loss from termination of convertible bonds for 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, we continued to deepen our collaboration with the
smartphone manufacturers in the PRC, and strengthen our leading
position in the Android-based ecosystem in China. We have also
seized opportunities and collaborated with Chinese smartphone
manufacturers to expand our business into the overseas
Android-based ecosystem market. Our business has enjoyed the
benefits brought by the economies of scale. The number of mobile
apps and mobile games we advertised increased from 3,869 in
2018 to 5,901 in 2019. Our revenues from mobile advertising in
2019 was RMB2,276.4 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 57.7%. Revenues from our online-video distribution and game
co-publishing in 2019 was RMB101.6 million and RMB18.2 million,
respectively representing a year-on-year increase of 50.7% and
73.9%, respectively.

In 2019, we initiated and implemented our 5G technology strategy,
enabling our DAPG platform to smoothly transit from the 4G era
to the 5G era, the era of the Internet of Everything. As a new
form for lightweight applications which allow instant use without
downloading anything, we believe that Quick App will lead to
disruptive changes in the 5G era. We have also actively expanded
the applications of Quick App technology in a more diverse, online
and offline scenarios including near-field communication services.
Meanwhile, we have continued to shore up our own technical
strengths, and improve our capability to process big data on
our DAPG platform at full speed. Leveraging our advanced data
analysis technologies and algorithms, in 2019, we have further
optimized the intelligent recommendation technology of our
DAPG platform. Furthermore, we have enhanced our platform as
a service (PaaS) capability, and have extended the applications of
our advanced technologies to other innovative areas, including the
Internet of Things.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREEE

We successfully held the Quick App Developer Conference (TRFE
FABIZ#& KX'E) in March 2019, and welcomed two new members,
Hisense and China Mobile, to join the QAA, to develop the Quick
Apps, connecting a larger user base to our online and offline
services. Currently, the QAA pursued various forms of cooperation
with numerous industries, empowering the offline retail industry
with a wide spectrum of functions such as expand applications
in various scenarios, enhance conversion efficiency, and enable
accurate targeted coverage. Additionally, the QAA established
close cooperation with a number of game engine companies to
develop the quick game technology, reducing the development
and access costs of game developers. As of December 2019, the
number of monthly active Quick App devices exceeded 300 million
units, representing an increase of nearly two times as compared
with that as of December 2018.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking forward, we will further deepen our cooperation with the
Android-based ecosystem participants and diversify our service
portfolio to create more meaningful and attractive value-added
potential for Android-based ecosystem participants. We believe
that diversified development in vertical fields will bring new growth
drivers to our business, proved by our strategic investments in a
fintech company in September 2019. We will utilize our leading
technical and industrial strengths to empower promising industries.
Furthermore, we will focus on enhancing our technical capabilities,
and to a greater extent, we will, together with smartphone
manufacturers in the PRC, further expand the global user base
in enormous overseas markets leveraging our technology when
exploring the synergy between the Quick Apps and 5G technology.
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APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest
gratitude to the staff and management team of the Group for their
diligence, commitment and dedication, which have contributed to
the Company’s current achievements. The Board also expresses its
gratitude to the shareholders and stakeholders for their unwavering
support for the Group. We are full of confidence in the future and
will join forces with Android-based ecosystem participants to create
a healthy, stable, and prosperous ecosystem.

Mr. GAO Dinan
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
25 March 2020
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Honours and Awards

RERIER

HONOURS AND AWARDS Z:82 I 18 [E)
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| FEEENRLE

wira

° In January 2019, the Group was awarded the “Outstanding Contribution Award in the Artificial Intelligence
Sector of 2018” by 51CTO.
ZE-NF-B-AEERES1CTO 2018 FEA T HERHERHERME] -

° In March 2019, the Group received the 2018 Artificial Intelligence Product Award from CIWEEKLY.
“E-NFZA-FEERE(EBREFT2018FEATEEEMR -

° In May 2019, the Group was awarded as one of the 7th Top 100 Hong Kong Listed New Economic Companies.
“E-NFRA -AEBREELEBRI100EHLELNT o

° In September 2019, the Group was included in the “2019 China New Internet Enterprise ¢ Artificial Intelligence
Enterprise TOP100” list.
“E-NFIA -AEBEE[2019FEH EHMEHE « ATEREEHETOP100 HEE -

o In September 2019, the Group received the 2019 Snowball “Most Valuable New Economy Company Award”.
“E-AFIA - AEEBRE0190ER R ABEHLEATE] -

° In November 2019, the Group received the second place in 2019 Deloitte Technology Fast 20 & China Rising
Star in Chaoyang.
TE-NEFT - A - AEEREEH2019HGSREERR20BERAAZEE —F -

° In November 2019, a subsidiary of the Group received the tenth place in 2019 Deloitte Technology Fast 50 &
China Rising Star.
TE-NF+-A-AREFARKERH2019FESRESHR0BEPRAZEE TE °

o In December 2019, the Group received 2019 Best Hong Kong “New Economic Company”.
TE-AFT A -AREEEE2019S BRI HREHLELQT 15 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR

Financial Highlights
MERE

FEERR

LOSS
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t—HItEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“E-RF ZE-RF ZE—+tF Z2-N\F ZB-hE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETR ARETT AR®TR ARETR
Revenue s 15,295 40,552 485,636 1,546,316 2,396,187
Cost of sales SHEMA (17,045)  (54,358) (439,638) (1,329,190) (2,057,972)
Gross profit/(loss) E£5,/(E18) (1,750)  (13,806) 45,998 217,126 338,215
Other income and gains HMR AR W 1,017 2,133 961 11,661 24,508
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (1,142) 2,017) (5,712)  (16,729)  (31,636)
Research and development costs T Ia®N (7,017) (10,189) (15,866) (26,344) (45,419)
Administrative expenses THRX (3,709) (4,056) (8,665) (74,635) (49,789)
Other expenses and losses HiBE REE (5) (32) (1,976) (1,084) (8,852)
Share-based payment expense U AERNARES (502)  (28,297) (1,866) (8,119)  (51,251)
Operating profit/(loss) EERF(B518) (13,108)  (56,264) 12,874 101,876 175,776
Finance costs B RRAR - (1,710 (3,528) 6,216)  (13,121)
Loss on termination of convertible & It AT RESNERE
bonds - - - (14,270) -
Fair value losses on convertible ARRES AT EES
bonds - - - (3,202) -
Fair value losses on preferred BEBRNATEESE
shares (3,053)  (35,405) (134,443) (217,129 -
Fair value losses on warrants REEENLATEEE - (4,748)  (16,239) (261,791) -
Profit/(loss) before tax RBAIRF(B5HE) (16,161)  (98,127) (141,336) (400,726) 162,655
Income tax expense Fri8ipx - - (3,758)  (20,815)  (56,921)
Profit/(loss) for the year ERiEH(B51E) (16,161)  (98,127) (145,094) (421,541) 105,734
Non-HKFRS Measures HEBYHIREER
(unaudited) B (REER)
Adjusted EBITDA® 4EAEEBITDAM (12,494)  (27,604) 17,422 166,625 246,443
Adjusted net profit® SRR (12,606)  (29,677) 7,454 126,978 159,698

(1) Adjusted EBITDA eliminates the effect of depreciation, amortisation,
finance cost, income tax, share-based payment expense, listing
expenses, loss on termination of convertible bonds, and fair value losses
on convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants.

2) Adjusted net profit eliminates the effect of share-based payment
expense, listing expenses, loss on termination of convertible bonds, and
fair value losses on convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants.

(1) ERABEBITDAEBEITE « i - MHBK
A~ RS ARG RERSNRAX - £
MRS - AR AR B 25 10 5 18 I PT HR R
a7 - @ERERBEZN A FEBENY
%,

@  EREERMNFEIEE RS BERA R
X EWRX - #IEFTHRRES N ER R
BIES - BRRRBREEN AT ERBE
HRE

—E-AFH BWEHERAT 13



Financial Highlights

M HEE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (SELECTED ITEMS)

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets

Equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the parent

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

EE
FRBEE
REEE
BEE

BEEKAE
FRRAFEBARGES

RS
B

FRBEE
RBRE
BafE

BREREaR

FEMBIRKRR (FEEE)

As at 31 December

R+=ZB=+—8H

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ZE-RF ZE-RF ZE—+F ZB-\F ZB-1E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®ETT ARETT ARETR
622 1,360 37,896 255494 219,749
38,911 34,785 287,815 1,057,440 1,369,365
39,533 36,145 325711 1,312,934 1,589,114
(5,540)  (76,696) (172,472) 875494 1,035,475
314 (166) - - =
(5,226)  (76,862) (172,472) 875494 1,035,475
22,414 82,409 362,325 6,473 6,543
22,345 30,598 135858 430,967 547,096
44759 113,007 498,183 437,440 553,639
39,533 36,145 325711 1,312,934 1,589,114

14  Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019



I
I

Total Revenue £ #%
(RMB in millions AR¥EHET)

2,396.2

2018 2019

Operating Profit £&8& 7
(RMB in millions AR HEIT)

12.5%
75
101.9

2018 2019

Non-HKFRSs measures.
BB MEERGTE -

Management Discussion and Analysis

iR E YL

Gross Profit £F|
(RMB in millions A R¥HET)

2018 2019

Adjusted net profit! & sEE iR |
(RMB in millions AR¥HET)

25.8%

159.7
127.0
2018 2019

“E-NAFHR BNSHARAT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

iR E S

REVENUES

Our revenues from mobile advertising increased by 57.7% from
RMB1,443.3 million in 2018 to RMB2,276.4 million in 2019, due to
the increase in the number of mobile apps and mobile games we
advertised. As we continued to enhance our business relationships
with smartphone manufacturers and other suppliers of distribution
channels, we were able to expand the number of mobile apps and
mobile games we advertised from 3,869 in 2018 to 5,901 in 2019.

In addition, we generated revenues from our online-video
distribution services and game co-publishing services of RMB101.6
million (2018: RMB67.4 million) and RMB18.2 million (2018:
RMB10.5 million) in 2019, respectively.

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the
periods indicated.

g

BFREBHEESNREH=Z—-N\ENA
R¥1,443 3B TIEMS7. 7% E_Z—NE
WARY2276.45E T RRAKMHEEN
BRHEARFRBEESHEEM - BRER
MEE S FHEBEE R DB RENEMERE
EERBRISEME > RASLUERME
ENBBEREFEBHEREEHR _—T—
NFER3,869EIEZE —Z — N FHY5,90118 °

o ZZE—NF > K2R BREREE
moRRERERHEEREEEREARY
101.6BBT(ZE—N\F : AR¥674HE8
TTIRAR¥1B2EER (ZE—N\F : AR
¥105BBTT) ©

TREFINARHRENLEBRHT -

Year ended 31 December

gE+-HA=1+—Bi1EE

2019 2018
—E-NE -z Nn\&

% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
1548 250 1548 7 7Y
ABRBTFIT Atk AREFr Bkt

Revenues Wiz
Mobile advertising BeES 2,276,362 95.0% 1,443,338 93.3%
Online-video distribution RERIAER DB 101,636 4.2% 67,442 4.4%
Game co-publishing TR RE 18,189 0.8% 10,459 0.7%
Others* H b~ - -% 25,077 1.6%
Total st 2,396,187 100% 1,546,316 100%

* Includes revenue from IT development related services

16  Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Mobile Advertising Services

We generated revenues by distributing advertisements of marketers’
mobile apps and mobile games in the distribution channels of
our MHA members consisting of eight Android smartphone
manufacturers in China, non-MHA smartphone manufacturers and
non-smartphone manufacturer distribution channel suppliers. We
also offered a variety of advertising formats across our distribution
channels, including app store search ads, in-feed ads, banner
ads, interstitial ads and splash screen ads, to suit our customers’
specific needs. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our
advertising revenue by source for the periods indicated:

BIRETR R BT

BEEER

RMZEBERRBERE (BESRPEZ S
ERETFHEED) - FERBREEREFRELE
BRGFEREFRRER I BRERERND
BREHD é’é‘ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ’]%iﬂﬁgﬁﬁiﬂ“&%
BERESUEENE - HATRDER
EPTE@E%;*EF’*%Eﬁ(@?ﬁﬁéﬂﬂﬁrﬁﬁf&
SEE FERARNES  BEREES  BERX
EERHREES) MBESRATFNEET
R o TREIIRFAREERMRIREE DB
EE WA -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—B1LEE

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\EF
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
1548 2209 1L 48 75 7Y
AR¥Fir Bt AR#FrT Bt
Mobile game distribution BEEE o 1,710,803 75.2% 1,005,630 69.7%
Mobile app distribution BEREARFDR 565,559 24.8% 437,708 30.3%
Total 485t 2,276,362 100% 1,443,338 100%

Our mobile advertising revenues from mobile game distribution
increased significantly from RMB1,005.6 million in 2018 to
RMB1,710.8 million in 2019, representing an increase of RMB705.2
million, or 70.1% from 2018. The revenues increased primarily
because we expanded the number of mobile games we marketed
and obtained new mobile game distribution channels from
smartphone manufacturers, especially from the MHA members.
Our mobile advertising revenues from mobile app distribution
increased from RMB437.7 million in 2018 to RMB565.6 million in
2019, representing an increase of RMB127.9 million, or 29.2%
from 2018, primarily because we had been actively expanding our
advertisement distribution channels for mobile apps and increased
the number of mobile apps we marketed.
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Online-video Distribution Services

Leveraging our success and experience in providing advertising
services, we have expanded into additional business verticals and
begun establishing our online-video distribution network to unleash
new monetisation opportunities since 2018.

With our stable relationships with suppliers of content distribution
channels and smartphone manufacturers, especially the MHA
members, we integrated the operational know-hows and experience
in the field of online-video distribution, and expanded our service
offerings to a broader range of marketers.

We generated a revenue of RMB101.6 million for this business line
in 2019, representing an increase of RMB34.2 million, or 50.7%
from 2018. The videos we distributed are mainly in the areas of
finance, entertainment and movies.

Game Co-publishing Services

We offer one-stop game co-publishing services to game
developers, which include game optimisation, marketing,
promotion, distribution, monetisation and other user-related
services. Leveraging our extensive experience in game co-
publishing, amassed data volume and technical know-how,
we actively identified and sourced new game content as well
as optimised existing game content based on our in-depth
understanding of user profiles, preferences, tastes, and playing
habits. Moreover, based on our close relationship with various
smartphone-based distribution channels, we allocated game
marketing and promotion resources more efficiently and effectively,
with insights into the effect of timing of offer and type of virtual
items based on user behavior and in-game spending.
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Our revenues from game co-publishing services increased by
73.3% from RMB10.5 million in 2018 to RMB18.2 million in 2019 as
we continued to expand our business. As at 31 December 2019, we

Management Discussion and Analysis

had co-published the following 19 mobile games in China.

Android-based

BIRETR R BT

AREMFEEREY > KRB EEEER
HHENRER=E-N\FARKI10588
TEM733%E_E—NEFEARKE182HE
ToRZIZE-NAE+ZA=+—0 &BFARN
FECBEL T 1958 B

Title operation platform Genre Initial launch time
=1 TEIREES L oEid BRI BT

A Legend Comes Mobile Role-playing game January 2018
BHRT B AENEEE —E-N\E—A
The Travel Fairies Mobile Role-playing game May 2018

i BE BERRER —E-N\FHA
Time lllusions Mobile Role-playing game May 2018

K 43R B BERRER —E-N\FHA
Armor Girls of the Caribbean Mobile Simulation game June 2018

IET s it g ] B Eta g —E-N\FXA
March! Three Kingdoms Mobile Role-playing game July 2018

EER ! =H B8 ABEHEBE —E-N\F+tA
Mobile Three Kingdoms Mobile Card game October 2018
Zh=F BE HEhEIE IR —E-N\E+A
Battle Hymn of the Dragon City Mobile Role-playing game October 2018
BELER BE BEWRER —E-N\E+A
Righteous Ardor Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
RMmMEE B8 AEREBRE —E-NF+=A
Martial World Conquest Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
BIFAT BE BERRER —E-NE+=A
Fairy Realm Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
EER BB BERREBR —E-NF+=A
Zealous Monkey King Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
EIENIEZ B AENEEE —E-NF+=A
Journey to the West Runner Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
TR BE BERRER —ZE-N\E+=A
The Rise of the God of War Mobile Role-playing game March 2019

EBj 160 U 2 BB BERRER —E-NEF=A
Star and Moon’s Wheel of Fortune Mobile Role-playing game May 2019
ERANEZH B BB EEE —E-N¥EHA
The Croods Mobile Role-playing game July 2019

BRI RIRA B8 ABHEBE —E-NEF+tA
One Punch Man Mobile Role-playing game July 2019
—#HBA BE BERRER ZE-NFLA
BLEACH: Battle with Spiritual Pressure  Mobile Role-playing game August 2019
B3R BREIR BE BEWRER —E-NENR
Return Of The Condor Heroes 2 Mobile Role-playing game August 2019
HEER{E2 B BB EBRE —E-NENB
My Hero Academia Mobile Card game October 2019
HHVEIESE B8 HEhEIE IS —E-NEF+A

“E-NEFR BNEEHARAE
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COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales is primarily comprised of distribution fees incurred
for advertisement placements onto the distribution channels, labor
costs and amortisation and other related costs associated with the
cooperation agreements with certain smartphone manufacturers in
relation to their distribution channels.

Cost of sales increased by 54.8% from RMB1,329.2 million in 2018
to RMB2,058.0 million in 2019. This increase was primarily driven
by an increase in distribution fees to our distribution channels from
RMB1,308.7 million in 2018 to RMB2,026.9 million in 2019, which
was in line with the increase in our revenues during 2019.

GROSS PROFIT AND MARGINS

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased by 55.8%
from RMB217.1 million in 2018 to RMB338.2 million in 2019.
The growth in gross profit was primarily driven by our enhanced
business relationships with smartphone manufacturers and other
distribution channel suppliers. As our business model gains further
recognition, we began to enjoy economies of scale which enables
us to increase the number of mobile apps and mobile games we
advertise without incurring the same rate of increase in our cost of
sales.

The slight increase in gross profit margin from 14.0% in 2018 to
14.1% in 2019 was primarily due to our enhanced efficiency in
consummating transactions on our DAPG platform.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains increased significantly from RMB11.7
million in 2018 to RMB24.5 million in 2019, primarily due to the
additional deduction of value-added tax arising from preferential
tax treatment, and the increase in interest income from our bank
deposits.
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SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of sales
employee salaries and related benefit expenses, traveling costs,
conference costs and marketing expenses. Our selling and
distribution expenses increased by 89.2% from RMB16.7 million in
2018 to RMB31.6 million in 2019, mainly attributable to the increase
in marketing and advertising expenses and the number of sales and
marketing staff.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COST

Research and development cost primarily included fees paid to
third party consulting service providers, and employee salaries and
related benefit expenses. Our research and development expenses
increased by 72.6% from RMB26.3 million in 2018 to RMB45.4
million in 2019, primarily due to the increase in the number of our
research and development staff and the development expenses of
our systems.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses decreased by 33.3% from RMB74.6
million in 2018 to RMB49.8 million in 2019, which was mainly
attributable to the absence of expenses in connection with the
Listing during 2019.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSE

Our share-based payment expense increased significantly from
RMB8.1 million in 2018 to RMB51.3 million in 2019, because we
granted additional 13,662,000 RSUs to certain grantees during
2019.

OPERATING PROFIT

As a result of the foregoing, our operating profit increased by
72.5% from RMB101.9 million in 2018 to RMB175.8 million in 2019.
Operating margin increased from 6.6% in 2018 to 7.3% in 2019.
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HERDHERX

HER T HEAZTEAEHERETERIE
BEAES - ZREA - EFRARE HFH
o HERDHEHETIH-_E-N\FHARYE
16.7EBTEBM8 2% E_E—NENAER
MI16EHBL  TEAREHRESHXIE
IAEEREHAEES o

SRR

WERAEEBIEOE=HEARBKIRMERS
TN ERREEFSRBEBENEY - &
PO ERIE-E—-\FENWARE26.38
BTiEmM72.6 %2 —E—NFHARKE4L5.4
BB ERARMMBAERZAGHEE
FAEINETER ©

ITBREX
EMWTHEXH-ZE—N\EPAREET46
BEAHA333%E_E—LENARK
498FHER  TEHN-E-—NFUE LT
B o

PRzt AR R (T 3RFE 32

BRAURDEBERNNRBEXHA=-ZT—N\F
MWARESIABTARBEZ-ZE-AFHA
R¥51.3H8T  EERAZRMAR=Z—LF
% AR AR HEEIM 3,662,000 Z BRI
BRADEE( ©

EERT

BARLEMER . EEEFB-SE—-N\ENA
RE101.9BBTIEM72.5%E 28— n¢
PARK175.8 BB T - KERBERH =
—N\FR6.6NBE_Z—NFM7.3% °

ZE-AFH BWMEHERAT 21



Management Discussion and Analysis

iR E S

FINANCE COSTS

Our finance costs increased significantly from RMB6.2 million in
2018 to RMB13.1 million in 2019, primarily due to higher interest
expenses incurred in connection with our new bank borrowings.

FAIR VALUE LOSSES ON PREFERRED SHARES
AND WARRANTS

We did not incur fair value losses on preferred shares and warrants
in 2019, and recorded an amount of RMB478.9 million in 2018.
On the Listing Date, all our preferred shares were automatically
converted into our ordinary shares, and thus in 2019, we did not
incur fair value losses on preferred shares and warrants.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense increased significantly from RMB20.8
million in 2018 to RMB56.9 million in 2019. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in taxable profit of our
subsidiaries in China.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

We recorded a profit of RMB105.7 million in 2019, and a loss of
RMB421.5 million in 2018, primarily due to the continued expansion
of our Group’s mobile app and mobile game distribution business
as well as the absence of material loss on termination of convertible
bonds and fair value loss on convertible bonds, preferred share and
warrants in 2019 as compared with that in 2018.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the HKFRSs, we also use
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit as additional financial
measures, which are unaudited and not required by, or presented
in accordance with, HKFRSs. We present these financial measures
because they are used by our management to evaluate our financial
performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do not
consider indicative of our business performance. We also believe
that these non-HKFRS measures provide additional information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help
our management compare our financial results across accounting
periods and with those of our peer companies.
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We define adjusted EBITDA as profit for the year without
considering depreciation, amortisation, finance cost, income tax,
share-based payment expense, listing expenses, loss on termination
of convertible bonds, and fair value losses on convertible bonds,
preferred shares and warrants (“Adjusted EBITDA”). We define
adjusted net profit as profit for the year without considering share-
based payment expense, listing expenses, loss on termination
of convertible bonds, and fair value losses on convertible bonds,
preferred shares and warrants (“Adjusted Net Profit”). The terms
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not defined under the
HKFRSs. The use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit has
material limitations as an analytical tool, as they do not include all
items that impact our profit or loss for the relevant years. The effect
of items eliminated from Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit
is a significant component in understanding and assessing our
operating and financial performance.

In light of the foregoing limitations for Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Profit, when assessing our operating and financial
performance, you should not view Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit in isolation or as a substitute for our profit for the year
or any other operating performance measure that is calculated
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, because these non-
HKFRS measures may not be calculated in the same manner by
all companies, they may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies.

The following tables reconcile our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit for the periods presented to the most directly comparable
financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not required
by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRSs.
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HILEE

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFIT AREFIT

Profit/(loss) for the year FEhitsd(E5E) 105,734 (421,541)

Add: fn

Depreciation nE 3,770 859
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 12,933 11,757
Finance cost [P35 %S 13,121 6,216
Income tax expense PR 56,921 20,815
Share-based payment expense DR BERNARER 51,251 8,119
Loss on termination of convertible bonds KRIEABRESFNER - 14,270
Fair value losses on convertible bonds TR EFN A EEE - 3,202
Fair value losses on preferred shares BEBRNAFEEE = 217,123
Fair value losses of warrants RIRREEN D FEEE - 261,791
Listing expenses X 2,713 44,014
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) TR EBITDA(KRESE ) 246,443 166,625
2019 2018

—B-nE  —E2-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ABRETFIT AREFIT
Profit/(loss) for the year EhitsF(E518) 105,734 (421,541)

Add: i

Share-based payment expense DR BERNIREX 51,251 8,119
Loss on termination of convertible bonds I BRRESNEER - 14,270
Fair value losses on convertible bonds ABRESN AT EEE - 3,202
Fair value losses on preferred shares BERNAFEEE - 217,123
Fair value losses of warrants RREZRN DT EEE - 261,791
Listing expenses WX 2,713 44,014
Adjusted Net Profit (unaudited) AR (REER) 159,698 126,978
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM
OUR CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

HNZFEMEIRR R SR

As at 31 December

®+=-HA=+—H
2019 2018 Change
—E-NE —E-N\F =)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT
Cash and bank balances Re&RIBTHEE 380,885 337,753 12.8%
Bank borrowings IRITIERK 235,958 146,000 61.6%
Current assets RBEE 1,369,365 1,057,440 29.5%
Current liabilities Gk IR 547,096 430,967 26.9%
Net current assets REEEFE 822,269 626,473 31.3%
Total equity PR FEXAEE 1,035,475 875,494 18.3%
Cash and Bank Balances IR& RERTTHEER

As at 31 December 2019, we had cash and bank balances of
RMB380.9 million, as compared with RMB337.8 million as at 31
December 2018. The increase in cash and bank balances was
mainly due to our stricter cash control and management. Our cash
and bank balances were denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars
and US dollars.

Bank Borrowings

Our bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
RMB146.0 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB30.0 million were secured by pledged deposits of US$5.0
million provided by one of our subsidiaries, (2) the bank borrowings
of RMB60.0 million were guaranteed by one of our subsidiaries, and
(3) the bank borrowings of RMB40.0 million are guaranteed by two
independent third parties.

As at 31 December 2019, our bank borrowings increased to
RMB236.0 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB106.0 million are secured by pledged deposits of US$17.0
million provided by one of our subsidiaries, (2) the bank borrowings
of RMB75.0 million are guaranteed by three of our subsidiaries,
(3) the bank borrowings of RMB40.0 million are guaranteed
by three independent third parties, (4) the bank borrowings of
RMB75.0 million are guaranteed by our Company, and (5) the bank
borrowings of RMB80.0 million are guaranteed by the Controlling
Shareholders. All the bank borrowings as at 31 December 2019
were denominated in RMB and will be mature within one year, with
fixed interest rates ranging from 3.83% to 5.22% per annum. The
increase in bank borrowings was primarily due to the increase in
external loans used for our business expansion.

RZE-NFE+=ZA=+—8  EMHEER
ERIBITEBGARKIB0.9HETL  M-F
—NE+ZB=+—HAIBAR¥337.8H
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FRESEE - RPMRSRIBITERIEA
R¥ B RETEHE ©
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@SRITERARECC.OEETHRMNVES
—BEHBATER  ROBRITERARE
40.0BEBTHMBBLIE=ZFER °

RZZB—-NFE+=A=+—8 ' BMNET
BERIB T ARB236.0HE T HF > (1)iR
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ML TIRMM17.05B X TEBERIEER
B QRTERARE7S.OEE THEMY
HP=EHEBARER  QRTERAR
MAOEBTH=ZBBILE=FER 4k
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Net Current Assets

Our net current assets were RMB822.3 million as at 31 December
2019, compared to RMB626.5 million as at 31 December 2018. Our
current assets were RMB1,369.4 million as at 31 December 2019,
compared to RMB1,057.4 million as at 31 December 2018, primarily
due to the increase in accounts receivable and prepayments. Our
current liabilities were RMB547.1 million as at 31 December 2019,
compared to RMB431.0 million as at 31 December 2018, primarily
due to the increase in accounts payable, income tax payable and
bank borrowings.

Total Equity

As at 31 December 2019, our total equity was RMB1,035.5 million,
compared to RMB875.5 million as at 31 December 2018, mainly
due to the net profit occurred during 2019.

RENEEFH

BN ABEEFERA_Z—ALF+=A
=t+—BAAR#8223FERXT - M=Z

NE+ZA=+—HAAARKG626.588
T RPN RBEER-_ZS—NFE+=A=
+—HAARY1,369.48EBT  M=-Z—
NE+ZA=+—HABAR¥1,057488
7T FEHRBERERR R FEAIIEM o KM
HRBEER-_FE-hE+=-A=+—85%
ARES47TABEBRL M-FE—N\E+=A
=+—-HEAARK4L31.05ET ' TEMH
REETER - BB RIRITERIEM -

BEHELEER

RZE-NF+ZA=+—8 » KMRE
WEEA NRH1,035.558 T M- /\F
+ZA=+t—HAAARM875.5BE T

FTEHR -_ZE-NEFEEEFER -
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS EERFEEEE
As at 31 December
®w+=B=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFiT ARHETF T
Current ratio (times) MENLL = (5E) O 25 2.5
Gearing ratio (%) @ EEESBHE%)@ 34.8% 33.3%

Year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=1+—B1t¥§E

2019 2018
—F-AE —E—JUF
Adjusted net profit margin © BARTRRER %) @ 6.7% 8.2%

Notes:

(1) Current ratio was calculated based on our total current assets divided by
our total current liabilities at the end of each financial period.

) Gearing ratio was calculated based on our total liabilities divided by our
total assets at the end of each financial period.

(8)  Adjusted net profit margin was calculated based on our adjusted net

profit for the relevant period divided by our total revenues for the same
period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Current Ratio

Our current ratio maintained at 2.5 as at 31 December 2018 and
2019.

Gearing Ratio

Our gearing ratio increased from 33.3% as at 31 December 2018 to
34.8% as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the increase in our
bank borrowings as a result of our continued expansion of business
operation.

Adjusted Net Profit Margin

Our adjusted net profit margin decreased from 8.2% in 2018
to 6.7% in 2019, primarily due to the increase in selling and
distribution expenses and research and development costs as a
result of our increased investments in our service offerings and
technologies.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS

Our capital expenditures mainly consist of additions to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, excluding assets from
the acquisition of a subsidiary. Our capital expenditures amounted
to RMB459,000 and RMB316,000 in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICIES

We expect to fund our working capital and other capital
requirements from a combination of various sources, including
but not limited to internal resources and external financing at
reasonable market rates. We seek to improve the return of the
equity and assets while adhering to our prudent funding and
treasury policies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

iR E S

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Our Group’s subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars and the Hong
Kong dollars. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from
recognised assets and liabilities in our Group’s PRC subsidiaries
when receiving or to receive foreign currencies from, or paying or to
pay foreign currencies to, overseas business partners. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Our Group did not hold any significant investments during the
Reporting Period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Our Group did not have other plans for material investments and
capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Our Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures in 2019.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain deposits placed with banks were used as pledged assets
for our Group’s bank borrowings. For more details, please refer to
Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2018: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).
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Directors and Senior Management

OUR DIRECTORS

The biography of each Director is set out below.

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Dinan (F35), aged 41, is our founder, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and has served as our chief
executive officer since March 2014, being responsible for overall
management of the business, strategy and corporate development
of our Group. Mr. Gao has 16 years of experience in the technology
industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Gao served as a business
director of mobile business department of Baidu Online Network
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B EEERBERAM (LX) ER A7)
from June 2008 to March 2014, a subsidiary of Baidu, Inc. (B E
‘AT]) which is a company listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: BIDU),
specialising in Internet-related services and products and artificial
intelligence.

Mr. Gao obtained a master degree in business administration from
Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1t R E & K £)
in July 2008.

Mr. ZHENG Wei (&B}%), aged 42, is our executive Director and the
vice chairman of the Board. Since he joined our Group in March
2016, Mr. Zheng has been primarily responsible for managing
overall strategy and developing the relationship with investors. He
has 13 years of experience in the technology industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zheng served as a partner of
Northern Light Investment Advisory (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (t#3%
RERER (L5) AR 2D F) from July 2015 to February 2016. Mr.
Zheng served as the general manager of the creation development
department and business cooperation department as well as a
vice general manager in the mobile service group of Baidu Online
Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2015.

Mr. Zheng obtained a bachelor degree in engineering mechanics
and a master degree in solid mechanics from Tsinghua University
(BEARE) in July 1999 and in July 2001, respectively. He also
obtained a degree of Ph.D. in informatics from Peking University (it
TAE) in July 2014.
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREERE

Ms. ZHOU Yan (F¥%5), aged 42, is our executive Director and
chief financial officer. Ms. Zhou is primarily responsible for the
management of financial strategy of our Group. Ms. Zhou joined our
Group in March 2017 and has served as the chief financial officer
of our Company since then. She was appointed as an executive
Director in June 2018. Ms. Zhou has 16 years of experience in
corporate finance.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhou served as senior management
of the finance department of Tsinghua Holding Co., Ltd. (B
B AEPBR2AF]) from June 2016 to February 2017. From July 2015
to May 2016, she served as the general manager of the finance
department in Tsinghua Holding Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (B%
AIEIRE AR A F). From April 2014 to June 2015, she served as
the general manager of finance department in Tsinghua Holdings
Human Settlements Construction Group Co., Ltd. (FiZAEE:R
(55@)BBR2AF]). From July 2010 to March 2014, she served as a
vice general manager of finance department in Beijing Enterprises
Holding Investment Management Co., Ltd. (At FIZRIRESEFR
A 1]), a subsidiary of Beijing Enterprises Holding Limited (1t 5%
BPFRAF) that is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 392).
From December 2008 to February 2010, she served as a senior
accountant at Beijing Futian Cummins Engine Co., Ltd. (1tZ3R%&
HERHTEE B#A R A 7)), a subsidiary of Commins Inc. that is a
company listed on New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: CMI).
From July 2004 to November 2008, she served as an accountant at
Beijing BOE Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd. (ltFZREERIGTHE
B BER 2 7)), a subsidiary of BOE Technology Group Co., Ltd. (3t
FERARFEERHEBRLQF) which is listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000725 and 200725).

Ms. Zhou obtained a master degree in accounting from Jilin
University of Finance and Economics (&M & & KE2) in July 2004.
Ms. Zhou obtained a fund qualification certificate granted by China
Securities Investment Fund Association (TEIE SR EE S E£IHS)
in April 2016, and a tax accountant qualification certificate granted
by China Association of Chief Accountants (B E5TEIHE) in
September 2012. She has been a senior-level accountant granted
by Beijing Municipal Bureau of Human Resources and Social
Security (b= A D E R Z{RFEF) since October 2017.
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Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Directors

Mr. SONG Chunyu (5R%Hi), aged 43, is a hon-executive Director
and joined our Group since May 2016. Mr. Song has been working
at Lenovo Group Limited (B8 5B HFR A F), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00992), and its subsidiaries
since July 2001 and served multiple positions successively, such as
managing director, partner and group vice president.

Mr. Song obtained a bachelor degree in automatic control and
a master degree in control theory and control engineering from
Harbin Institute of Technology (FEIE L KE) in July 1997 and
July 2001, respectively.

Mr. CHEN Tao (F%%5), aged 32, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 23 September 2019. Mr. Chen joined our Group in
June 2019 as the senior vice president and is responsible for the
corporate development. Mr. Chen has over 7 years of experience
in management and private equity investment. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Chen served as an investment manager at Shenzhen
Shenshang Richland Xingye Fund Management Co., Ltd. (I %
EEHEEESERERAT) from December 2014 to December
2015. From December 2015 to July 2017, Mr. Chen served as the
vice president of Shenzhen Qianhai ADV Fund Management Co.,
Ltd. (RYIEIEREE S EEBMRAE]). From July 2018 to June
2019, Mr. Chen worked in a fund management company based in
Shenzhen.

Mr. Chen graduated from the University of Sydney in March 2011
where he obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting. Mr. Chen
received his master of business degree in accounting and finance
from University of Technology, Sydney in July 2012.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (FREZE ), aged 55, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. Mr. Chen has been the deputy
secretary general of China Software Industry Association (57 Bl &4
1T¥1E) since March 2018. From January 2008 to January 2018,
he was the deputy director of Institute of International Technology
and Economics (BIFR i &2 55 FT) at State Council Development
Research Center (BB 3 RAF R H ).

Mr. Chen received a bachelor degree in material management from
Northern Jiaotong University (377 REAXE) in July 1986, and a
master degree in metal material and heat treatment from Yanshan
University (3L KZ) in June 1991. Then he obtained a degree
of Ph.D. in economics and management from Northern Jiaotong
University in May 2003.
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREERE

Mr. LIANG Zhanping (RE;¥F), aged 77, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. Mr. Liang has more than 50 years
of experience in information analysis and research. From May 1972
to June 2003, Mr. Liang served as a researcher and then as the
director of China Institute of Science and Technology Information
(BRI 15 BAFFAN). Mr. Liang also held multiple positions at
various institutions and organizations, such as adjunct professor of
information management department at Nanjing University (B K
E) from October 1999 to October 2002.

Mr. Liang received a bachelor degree in chemistry from Zhejiang
University (#75I A22) in September 1967.

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (#224§), aged 41, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. Ms. Zhao has been teaching in the
school of management at Qinhuangdao Campus of Northeastern
University (383t X£2) in the PRC since July 2004.

Ms. Zhao received a bachelor degree in accounting from
Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical Industry Management (ZRNfi
ZTHEEEERT) in June 2001, and a master degree in accounting
from Jilin University of Finance and Economics (& #hEf 48 K £2)
in June 2004. Ms. Zhao was also accredited as a certified public
accountant by the Beijing Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AL FEEMEETEHE) on 10 September 2010.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 41, is our founder, an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board and our chief executive officer.
For further details, please see the paragraph headed “Directors and
Senior Management — Our Directors — Executive Directors” in this
section.

Mr. ZHENG Wei (&8)&), aged 42, is an executive Director and
the vice chairman of the Board. For further details, please see
the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our
Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. ZHOU Yan (&%), aged 42, is an executive Director and our
chief financial officer. For further details, please see the paragraph
headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors -
Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. ZHANG Zhen (5R7&), aged 41, is our chief information officer
and joined our Group in August 2014. Mr. Zhang is primarily
responsible for corporate information management and overseeing
product testing of our Group. Mr. Zhang has nearly 16 years of
experience in technology industry.
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Directors and Senior Management

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang served as a manager of
wireless business department in Baidu Online Network Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. from December 2010 to December 2013. From
December 2004 to March 2005 and from March 2006 to March
2011, he served as a technology director of wireless business
department in Sohu New Era Network Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (IR AR E MM AR A F]), a subsidiary of Sohu.com
Inc., which is listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: SOHU) and primarily
engaged in providing Internet services.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Institute of Technology (1tZX ¥ T K£2) in
August 2004.

Mr. GENG Xuefeng (Bk22§8), aged 55, was appointed as our chief
strategy officer on 20 May 2019. Mr. Geng joined our Group in June
2018 as senior technology adviser and is responsible for providing
guidance on technology architecture. Mr. Geng has over 30 years
of experience in management and technology industry. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Geng served as a researcher and lecturer in
the department of electronic engineering at Tsinghua University (/&
FERE) from 1988 to 1990. From 1990 to 1995, Mr. Geng served
as the deputy director of the research business unit of The 54th
Research Institute of the former Ministry of Electronics Industry
of the People’s Republic of China (FEARLMBRE F I £
%A+ UHTZRER). From 1995 to 2014, Mr. Geng served multiple
positions in China Mobile Limited (P EI® B)EBR A a]), a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0941), with last position as the chairman and general manager of
China Mobile Internet of Things Co., Ltd. (FEYERER A F), a
subsidiary of China Mobile Limited. From 2014 to 2015, Mr. Geng
served as a venture partner of Northern Light Venture Capital. From
2015 to 2016, Mr. Geng served as the senior vice president of
Asialnfo Technologies Limited (ZEERHEIZR AR A 7]), a company
previously listed on Nasdap (stock symbol: ASIA) and currently
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1675). From 2017 to
2018, Mr. Geng served as the senior vice president of Unisplendour
Corporation Limited (X RHBER D F), a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000938).
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREERE

Mr. Geng obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronic and
information systems and a master’s degree in electronic physics
and devices from Tsinghua University in July 1986 and in
December 1988, respectively. Mr. Geng also obtained a master of
business administration degree in information and communication
management from the School of Management at Fudan University
(B KE) and Bl Norwegian Business School in March 2002. Mr.
Geng has been qualified as a professorate senior engineer by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the People’s
Republic of China (FZ A R ME T # 1= E1LEP) since August
2006.

Mr. NIU Chong (43t), aged 33, is a vice president of technology
of our Company and joined our Group in August 2014. Mr. Niu is
primarily responsible for providing guidance on computer science.
Mr. Niu has nearly 7 years of experiences in computer sciences
application.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Niu served as a senior engineer at
Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., from July
2013 to August 2014. He was responsible for research on cloud
computing platform.

Mr. Niu obtained a bachelor degree in computer science and
technology from Northeastern Petroleum University (R4t jHAER)
in July 2013.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Chi Keung, David (FR&34), aged 33, is our company
secretary and deputy chief financial officer of our Company,
being responsible for the financial management of our Group and
secretarial matters of our Company. Mr. Chan joined our Group and
was appointed as a deputy chief financial officer in May 2018. He
was appointed as the company secretary of our Company in June
2018. Mr. Chan has over eleven years of experience in accounting,
auditing, financial management and corporate governance matters.
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Directors and Senior Management

Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Chan was the chief financial
officer, company secretary and authorised representative of Zensun
Enterprises Limited (formerly known as ZH International Holdings
Limited) from June 2016 to April 2018, a property development
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00185). From
March 2015 to June 2016, Mr. Chan was a senior manager in the
finance department of CITIC United Asia Investments Limited, a
subsidiary of CITIC Limited (Bl S5 B R A al) which is listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00267). Prior to that, he served
in the assurance department of Ernst & Young with last position as
a manager from September 2008 to March 2015.

Mr. Chan received a bachelor degree in business administration
and accountancy from City University of Hong Kong in November
2008. Mr. Chan has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2014.
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Report of the Directors
EFEEHRE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a fast-growing technology company in the mobile
Internet market, helping connect businesses from various industries
to hundreds of millions of Android-based smartphone users in
China. It provides Android-based content distribution services for
marketers seeking mobile advertising, online-video distribution
and game co-publishing services. The activities of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 95 of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may recommend the payments of dividend on a per
Share basis in respect of the Shares of the Company. In considering
the payment of dividends, the Company takes various factors
into account, including but not limited to the Company’s financial
performance, the business conditions and strategies, the capital
requirements, statutory and regulatory restrictions and any other
factors which the Company may deem relevant. The declaration
and payment of future dividends will depend upon, among other
things, financial condition, future earnings, cash flow, liquidity level,
business prospects and other relevant factors.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for
the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 8 to 11 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 15 to 28 of this annual report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 21 December 2018 by way of global offering,
raising total net proceeds of approximately HK$194.7 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB171.2 million) after deducting
professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related
listing expenses.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had:

° used approximately RMB20.5 million for strengthening our
research and development capabilities;

° used approximately RMB25.7 million for promoting the
development standard of Quick Apps;

° used approximately RMB10.3 million for expanding our
service offerings and strengthening our ecosystem;

° used approximately RMB7.7 million for expanding our
monetisation channels and strengthening our sales and
marketing capabilities; and

° used approximately RMB13.7 million for working capital and
general corporate uses.

The remaining balance of the net proceeds was placed with banks.
The Group will apply the remaining net proceeds in the manner set
out in the Prospectus.

In January 2020, the Company issued and allotted to Xin Point
Holdings Limited, a Cayman Island company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1571), 25,789,000
new Shares at a subscription price of HK$1.90 per Share (the
“Subscription”). The Company received the net proceeds from
the Subscription of approximately HK$48.6 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB42.7 million) after deducting the expenses
incurred in the Subscription. The Company has not used the net
proceeds as at the date of this annual report and intends to apply
it for general corporate purposes and working capital use for its
business development. For further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 7 January 2020 and 20
January 2020.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group’s five largest
customers, which primarily include marketers seeking the Group’s
services, contributed to a total of 20.5% of the Group’s total
revenue and the Group’s largest customer contributed to a total of
6.3% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group’s five largest
suppliers, which primarily include distribution channel partners,
contributed to a total of 75.1% of the Group’s total cost of sales
and the Group’s largest supplier contributed to a total of 23.0%
of the Group’s total cost of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out on pages 99 to 100 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, amounted to approximately RMB811.4 million (as of
December 31, 2018: RMB820.5 million).
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
of December 31, 2019 are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group had not
made any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or
indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of the Company,
the Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective connected
persons.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHENG Wei (Vice Chairman)
Ms. ZHOU Yan

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. XIE Guowang (resigned on 7 January 2020)
Mr. SONG Chunyu

Mr. ZHU Jing (resigned on 23 September 2019)
Mr. CHEN Tao (appointed on 23 September 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Baoguo
Mr. LIANG Zhanping
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
CHEN Baoguo, Mr. LIANG Zhanping and Ms. ZHAO Xuemei shall
retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
CHEN Tao shall retire, and being eligible, have offered himself for
re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in
the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the AGM.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 29 to 35 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, and the Company considers
such Directors to be independent during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company on November 3, 2018 for an initial term of three
years with effect from November 3, 2018.

Each of the non-executive Directors, being Mr. SONG Chunyu
and Mr. CHEN Tao, has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company on November 3, 2018 and September 23, 2019,
respectively. The initial term for their respective appointment letters
shall commence from December 21, 2018 and September 23, 2019,
respectively, and shall continue for three years, until terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letter
or by either party giving to the other not less than three months’
prior notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on November 3, 2018. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall be three years from
December 21, 2018, until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to
the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is

not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors had any material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement that would enable the directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
any Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended December 31, 2019 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended
December 31, 2019 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 8 and 9
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ relevant income from the Group. When an employee
leaves the MPF Scheme, the mandatory contributions are fully
vested with the employee. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Employee benefits”
set out in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests of Directors and Chief Executives in the
Company or Associated Corporation of the Company
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Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding
Capacity/ in the
Name of Nature of Number of Long/short Company™
Name Corporation Interest Shares position (%)
1EAAEMRE
4 ik S, HintE BH&E 138/ WE  BHESO(%)
Mr. GAO Dinan® The Company Interest in controlled 488,248,800 Long position 38.35
corporations;
interest held jointly
EEE: PR AN L EES 488,248,800 3y} 38.35
HEFE#ER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® The Company Interest in controlled 488,248,800 Long position 38.35
corporation;
interest held jointly
BERXEO AN RREEES 488,248,800 3y} 38.35
HEFE#ER
Mr. ZHOU Yan® The Company Beneficial owner 5,000,000 Long position 0.39
B e ARAF BRBEAA 5,000,000 L3y 0.39
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Notes:

)

44

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,273,216,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2019.

Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2019 (i) held by Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 269,384,300 Shares; and (i) held
by Mr. Zheng and his wholly-owned company, Countryside Tech Inc.,
which is interested in 218,864,500 Shares as they are parties acting in
concert.

Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2019 (i) held by Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 218,864,500 Shares; and (i) held by
Mr. Gao and his wholly-owned company, Wanka Media Limited, which
is interested in 269,384,300 Shares as they are parties acting in concert.

Ms. ZHOU Yan is interested in RSUs granted to her under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme entitling her to receive 5,000,000 Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2019, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2019, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!"
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
EAR AT IR
e &l S #ERitE 38 E ¥R RAE BMHESHY (%)
Wanka Media Limited® Beneficial Interest; interest held 488,248,800 Long position 38.35
jointly with another person
Wanka Media Limited® BnfEs ) BE - AT HE 488,248,800 LSy 38.35
HENER
Mr. GAO Dinan®@ Interest in a controlled 488,248,800 Long position 38.35
corporation; interest
held jointly
SEBEER FErEES  RRSEEER 488,248,800 "R 38.35
Ms. LU Haiyan® Interest of spouse 488,248,800  Long position 38.35
[ SE - FequnlCl BfBER 488,248,800 Ha 38.35
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in
Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
AN 12
LYt 5 sty EiREE BE e BHESEO (%)
Countryside Tech Inc.® Beneficial Interest; interest held 488,248,800 Long position 38.35
jointly with another person
Countryside Tech Inc.® BE&nfs ) HE— AT HE 488,248,800 weE 38.35
BEWER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® Interest in a controlled 488,248,800 Long position 38.35
corporation; interest
held jointly
BRIZEEO SEEEEER  HEEEES 488,248,800 HE 38.35
Ms. FENG Chun® Interest of spouse 488,248,800 Long position 38.35
BEZLO BB 488,248,800 #E 38.35
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 105,391,430 Long position 8.28
Partners Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment SELEER 105,391,430 HE 8.28
Partners Co., Ltd.®
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 105,391,430 Long position 8.28
Holdings Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment ZiELEELR 105,391,430 we 8.28
Holdings Co., Ltd.®
Mr. ZHU Jing® Interest in controlled 76,200,470  Long position 5.98
corporations
KELEO SEEEER 76,200,470 e 5.98
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Notes:

)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,273,216,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2019.

Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2019 held by (i) Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him; and (i) Mr. ZHENG Wei and his wholly-owned company,
being Countryside Tech Inc., as they are parties acting in concert. Ms.
LU Haiyan, spouse of Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in Mr.
GAO Dinan’s entire interest.

Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2019 (i) Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly owned
by him; and (i) Mr. GAO Dinan and his wholly-owned company, being
Wanka Media Limited, as they are parties acting in concert. Ms. FENG
Chun, spouse of Mr. ZHENG Wei, is deemed to be interested in Mr.
ZHENG Wei’s entire interest.

The general partnership of both KIP Overseas and KIP Bright is Korea
Investment Partners Co., Ltd., which is controlled by Korea Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. Therefore, Korea Investment Partners Co., Ltd. and
Korea Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
entire interests as of December 31, 2019 held by KIP Overseas and KIP
Bright, namely 99,331,500 and 6,059,930 Shares.

As of December 31, 2019, Mr. ZHU Jing is deemed to be interested
in the interests through Shenshang Xingye Venture Capital Limited,
Richland China Limited Partnership, Investnet Finance Limited and
Richforest Global Investments Limited, all of which are controlled by him.
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2019, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

2016 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company adopted its 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on January 6, 2016 and
amended by the Board resolution passed on May 24, 2018. The
2016 Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve the grant
of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares. Certain
principal terms and details of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme are
summarized as follows:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivize
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme are existing employees, directors (whether executive or
non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors)
or officers of the Company or any member of the Group (the “RSU
Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons
to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme at its
discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU vests to obtain
Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable,
as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion. Each
RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so
specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares. A RSU
Participant does not have any contingent interest in any Shares
underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are actually
transferred to the RSU Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may
not exercise voting rights in respect of the Shares underlying the
RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless otherwise specified by
our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU grant letter to the RSU
Participant, nor do they have any rights to any cash or non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying the
RSUs.

The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of
the scheme, being March 31, 2016 (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with its terms).

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited
(the “RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustee to be held by
the RSU Trustee and which will be used to satisfy the Shares
underlying the RSUs upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure
the RSU Trustee to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or
purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy
the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company
shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations in
connection with the administration of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted and to be
granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be transferred,
allotted or issued to the RSU Trustee.
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Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “Vesting Notice”) to each of
the relevant RSU Participants. The Vesting Notice will confirm the
extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time schedule
have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the number of
Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip
distributions in respect of those Shares) involved.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held
or to be held by the RSU Trustee for the purpose of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme from time to time. The Company has allotted
and issued to the nominee of the RSU Trustee 62,500,000 ordinary
shares underlying all the grants under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme, representing 4.91% of the number of Shares in issue as at
December 31, 2019 (without taking into account of any Share which
may be issued pursuant to the exercise of any RSU that may be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and the exercise
of any option that may be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme).

As of December 31, 2019, we had granted RSUs representing
62,499,240 Shares to 71 grantees under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme, including the following senior management and other
current or former key employees of the Company, including RSUs
granted and vested pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
to our Director and senior management as set out below:
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Number of Number Number Number Number of
Shares of Shares of Shares of Shares Shares
underlying underlying underlying underlying  underlying the
theRSUs  theexercised  the cancelled the lapsed RSUs as at Exercise
Name of Director/ Date of asat  RSUsduring  RSUsduring  RSUsduring  December31,  Vesting Price
Senior Management Grant January 1,2019 the Period the Period the Period 2019 Period (US9)
BE-F-1E HEZR-1E
-A-H BmEfTE +ZR=+-8
L Rk MhoHEEY  BRERME  HIRWRD
E{iH Bl 0N IRARHEL  ERARGE E{iF TR
EE/ROEEASHE RUEY Eh¥E EH¥E  ERRGHE  AERHEE EheE HEY (&)
Ms. ZHOU Yan 30 June 2017 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 21 December 2018 0.0000002
Shares Shares
Bggt ZE-tE 5,000,000 - - - 5000000 ZE-N\F 0.0000002
~A=TH Rk REff  +=A=t-H
Mr. NIU Chong 31 March 2016 6,094,000 - - - 6,094,000 21 December 2018 0.0000002
Shares Shares
4r%x “B-RF 6,094,000 - - - 6094000 ZZ-NE 00000002
=A=t-A kit BB +=A=t-8
Mr. ZHANG Zhen 31 March 2016 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 21 December 2018 0.0000002
Shares Shares
RELE “E-RE 5,000,000 - - - 5000000 ZE-N\F 0.0000002
ZA=1-H R kRt  t=A=t-A
Mr. GENG Xuefeng* 22 June 2018 723,708 - - - 723,708 2019-2022 0.0000002
Shares Shares
Sy “2-)\f 723,708 - - - 28708 —E-hEE 00000002
AAZTZR LGy 0 g 3
*  Mr. GENG Xuefeng was appointed as the chief strategy officer of the Group * MEBRAELBZZTE-NFRAZTHREEZRE
with effect from 20 May 2019. AASENEEEEE -
Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows: HARITENZRERDECHBLBOT ¢
Number of RSUs
FRFIROEMLEE
Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2019 48,837,240
BE_FT—NE—HA—BWEKRITESS 48,837,240
Granted 13,662,000
EfR 13,662,000
Forfeited -
=l -
Exercised -
BE1TE -
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2019 62,499,240
BER-F—NEF+-A=+—BHERITESR 62,499,240
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POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On November 3, 2018, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is subject to,
the regulations under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate employees, Directors and other participants,
and to provide a means of compensating them through the grant
of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of the
Group, and to allow such employees, Directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of the
Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 127,321,635 Shares
(i.e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating this Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible
person under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years from November 3, 2018 and the options granted have a 10-
year exercise period. Options may be vested over such period(s)
as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion subject to
compliance with the requirements under any applicable laws,
regulations or rules.

The exercise price of the option shall be such price as determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of
the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the
offer of the grant of the option), but in any case the subscription
price shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted under

the Share Option Scheme during the year ended December 31,
2019.
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2019 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company adopted its 2019 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on August 29, 2019.
The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to the provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve the grant
of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares. Certain
principal terms and details of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme are
summarized as follows:

The purpose of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivize
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme include existing employees, Directors (whether executive
or non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive
directors) or officers of the Company or any member of the Group
(the “2019 RSU Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the 2019 RSU
Eligible Persons to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme at its discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme
(the “2019 RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU
vests to obtain Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges
applicable, as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion.
Each RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if
so specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of
non- cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares.
A 2019 RSU Participant does not have any contingent interest in
any Shares underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are
actually transferred to the 2019 RSU Participant. Further, a 2019
RSU Participant may not exercise voting rights in respect of the
Shares underlying the RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless
otherwise specified by our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU
grant letter to the 2019 RSU Participant, nor do they have any rights
to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/
or the sale proceeds of non- cash and non-scrip distributions from
any Shares underlying the RSUs.

The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of the
scheme, being August 29, 2019 (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with its terms).

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited (the
“2019 RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue new Shares to the 2019 RSU Trustee which
will hold such Shares to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs
upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure the 2019 RSU Trustee
to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or purchase
existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the
Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company shall
procure that sufficient funds are provided to the 2019 RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the 2019 RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration of the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted and to be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be transferred,
allotted or issued to the 2019 RSU Trustee.
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Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “2019 Vesting Notice”) to each
of the relevant 2019 RSU Participants. The 2019 Vesting Notice will
confirm the extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the
number of Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and
non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) involved.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares
held or to be held by the 2019 RSU Trustee for the purpose of the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme from time to time. Unless the Board
otherwise decides, the total number of all Shares held by the 2019
RSU Trustee under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme must at all
times be not more than 15% of the number of issued Shares from
time to time.

No RSU have been granted or agreed to be granted under the 2019
Share Incentive Scheme during the year ended December 31, 2019.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share incentive plans as described above, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, or that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, were entered
into by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2019 or
subsisted at the end of the year of 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the Reporting
Period.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No related party transactions disclosed in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted as a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below in this annual report, during the year
ended December 31, 2019, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.
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Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has entered (1) the Huanju Times Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Huanju Times and Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders, and (2) the ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, to enable us to, among others, (1) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe in consideration for the services provided
by our Company thereto; (2) exercise effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and (3) hold an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe when and to the extent permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ results of operations, assets and
liabilities, and cash flows are consolidated into our Company’s
financial statements.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:
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=) Beneficial ownership in equity interests

mund Beneficial ownership through contractual arrangements

)

Control of WFOE over the Registered Shareholders through (i) Exclusive
Option Agreements, (i) Equity Pledge Agreements, and (iii) Voting Rights
Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorneys

Control of WFOE over the business of Consolidated Affiliated Entities
through Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

The ChiLe Registered Shareholders refer to the registered shareholders
of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe is owned as to 51% by Mr. Gao
and 49% by Beijing JinChi, which in turn is owned as to 38.5% by Mr.
HUA Xinjiang (Z£%7/T), 56% by Tibet Jiukun Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. (Fafl ik B #7578 B R 2] and 5.5% by Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership (/8= HEREABLE (ARAE)).
Both Tibet Jinkun Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Jiazhuo

Investment Limited Partnership are controlled by Mr. HUA Xinjiang.

The Huanju Times Registered Shareholders refer to the registered
shareholders of Huanju Times. Huanju Times is owned as to 72% by Mr.
Gao and 28% by Mr. Zheng.

A brief description of each of the specific agreements that comprise
the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(a)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Huanju Times and the WFOE
and (2) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Shanghai ChiLe and the
WFOE (collectively the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements”), the WFOE agreed to be engaged as the
exclusive provider to Huanju Times Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and Shanghai ChiLe Consolidated Affiliated Entities
of comprehensive technical support, business support
and relevant consultation services for annual service fees,
including but not limited to the following services in respect
of the Relevant Businesses: providing business management
consultation; providing marketing and promotional services;
providing system integration and maintenance services;
providing financial support; and providing equipment and
properties transfer, leasing and disposal services.
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(b)

Under Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the
service fee shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with
nature of the services and shall consist of 100% of the total
consolidated profit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
after deduction of any accumulated deficit in respect of
the preceding financial year(s), operating costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contributions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of
service fees according to, among others, scope and nature of
services and relevant market prices. The service fees shall be
paid on an annual basis and in accordance with the payment
instructions of the WFOE. Notwithstanding the payment
arrangements in Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements,
the WFOE also has the right to adjust the payment time and
payment method. Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe agree to
accept any of such adjustment.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements have an
initial term of ten years commencing from their respective
effective date, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018,
and will be automatically renewed for additional ten years.
The WFOE also has the right to renew the term at its will and
Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe shall agree to any such
renewal. The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements
shall not be terminated unless (a) in writing by the WFOE; or (b)
term of such agreement is expired.

Exclusive Option Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive option agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times
and Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the
exclusive option agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and the Shanghai
ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), the WFOE has the right to require the
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChiLe Registered
Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity interests in
Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe to the WFOE and/or a
third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time
and from time to time, for considerations equivalent to the
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws. The
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered
Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the
WFOE any consideration that they receive in the event WFOE
exercises the options under the Exclusive Option Agreements
in such way required by the WFOE to acquire the equity
interests and/or assets in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe.

(b)
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(c)

Each of the Exclusive Option Agreements have an initial
term of ten years commencing from their respective effective
dates, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018. The WFOE
has the right to renew the term at its will and Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe shall agree to any such renewal. None
of the Exclusive Option Agreement shall not be terminated
unless in writing by the WFOE. Without prior written consent
of the WFOE, none of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe or
their respective shareholders may terminate such agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the equity pledge agreements dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times and
each of the Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2)
the equity pledge agreements dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and each of the ChiLe
Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Equity Pledge
Agreements”), Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and
ChiLe Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their
respective existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe, where applicable, including any
interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts.

The pledge in respect of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe
took effect upon the completion of respective registration
with the relevant administration for industry and commerce,
which are April 15, 2016 and March 12, 2018 respectively for
the Huanju Times Contractual Arrangements and the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements, and shall remain valid for an initial
term of ten years commencing from the respective effective
dates, which may be renewed by the WFOE in writing. If
there is outstanding debts of Huanju Times Registered
Shareholders, ChiLe Registered Shareholders, Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements, the valid period of Equity Pledge Agreements
may be renewed in writing by the WFOE to the date when all
such outstanding debts have been fully paid.
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(d)

Voting Rights Agreements and Powers of Attorney
Pursuant to (1) the voting rights proxy agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into between the WFOE and the Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the voting rights proxy
agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered into between the
WFOE and the ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively,
the “Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”), each of Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed the WFOE and its designated persons
(including but not limited to the Directors and their successors
and liquidators replacing the Directors, but excluding those
who are Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChiLe
Registered Shareholders) as his/her attorneys-in-fact to
exercise on his/her behalf, and agreed and undertook not
to exercise without such attorneys-in-fact’s prior written
consent, any and all right that he/she has in respect of his/her
equity interests in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe.

The valid period of each of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement commenced from their respective effective dates,
namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018, and shall not
be terminated unless (i) in writing by the WFOE or (i) all the
equity interests or assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe,
where applicable, is transferred to the WFOE.

Each of Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChilLe
Registered Shareholders, through the respective power of
attorney (“Power of Attorney(s)”) dated June 15, 2018 issued
by him, irrevocably appointed the WFOE and/or its designated
person as his proxy, effective from March 1, 2016 or March
9, 2018, where applicable, to the date when the Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement expires.

(d)
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(e)

Spousal Undertakings and Beijing JinChi Shareholder
Undertaking

On June 15, 2018, the spouse of each of Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr.
ZHENG Wei and Mr. HUA Xinjiang, where applicable, signed
an undertaking (collectively, the “Spouse Undertakings”) in
favor of the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (1)
her spouse’s existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChilLe (together with any other interests
therein) are separate properties of her spouse; her spouse or
the ultimate beneficial owners are entitled to deal with his own
equity interests and any interests therein in Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChiLe in accordance with the respective Contractual
Arrangements. Each spouse also further confirmed that
she will fully assist to the performance of the respective
Contractual Arrangements at any time; (2) unconditionally
and irrevocably waives any right or benefits on such equity
interests and assets in accordance with applicable laws and
confirms that she will not have any claim on such equity
interests and assets; (3) her spouse may further amend or
terminate the Contractual Arrangements or enter into other
alternative documents without the need for authorization or
consent by the spouse; and (4) they will be bound by the
terms of the Contractual Arrangements as amended from time
to time if she has obtained any equity interests, directly or
indirectly, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe for whatever
reasons.

On June 15, 2018, all of the ultimate beneficial owners of
Beijing JinChi, namely Mr. HUA Xinjiang, his spouse and
two brothers, signed an undertaking (the “Beijing JinChi
Shareholder Undertaking”) to the effect, among others,
that each of such person unconditionally and irrevocably
(1) confirmed and agreed with the execution of agreements
in connection with the Chile Contractual Arrangements by
Beijing JinChi and (2) agreed to execute any document and
take any action as necessary to fulfill their obligations under
such agreements, including transfer of their equity interests in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between our Group and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the year ended December 31, 2019. There was no
material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted during the
year ended December 31, 2019.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound on the basis
that none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Contractual Arrangements had been removed. As of
December 31, 2019, we had not encountered interference or
encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating
our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
under the Contractual Arrangements.

The revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries amounted to RMB2,165.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2019, representing an increase
by 65.9% from RMB1,305.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2019,
the revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries accounted for approximately 90.4% of
the revenue for the year of our Group (2018: 84.4%).

Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our distribution of mobile applications and games and mobile co-
publishing business as well as online-video distribution services
operated through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their
respective subsidiaries are subject to foreign investment restrictions
in accordance with the Administrative Measures of Foreign
Investment Admission (Negative List) (2019 Revision) (SME &
AFERIE RS (B EEE) 20194 HR)). Since foreign investment in
such business areas in which we currently operate are subject to
restrictions under the current applicable PRC laws and regulations,
as advised by our PRC legal advisor, we determined that it was
not viable for our Company to hold our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities directly through equity ownership. For details of the foreign
investment restrictions relating to the Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the sections headed “Contractual Arrangements
— PRC Regulatory Background” and “Contractual Arrangements
— Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign Investment” of
the Prospectus and the section headed “Development in the PRC
Legislation on Foreign Investment” in this annual report.
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Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that (1) the Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fundamental to our
Group’s legal structure and business, (2) such transactions have
been and will be entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of our Group, are on normal commercial terms and
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of our Group and our
Shareholders as a whole, and (3) the parties to (a) the Company’s
undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by the Company and (b)
the Shareholders’ undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by Mr.
Gao, Mr. Zheng, and all then existing shareholders of our Company
relating to the Contractual Arrangement, have complied with such
undertaking. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual arrangements and any new
transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal of existing
agreements to be entered into between any of our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and any member of our Group (“New Intergroup
Agreements” and each of them, a “New Intergroup Agreement”)
technically constitute continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors consider that, given
that our Group is placed in a special situation in relation to the
connected transactions rules under the Contractual arrangements,
it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable, and would
add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company if such
transactions are subject to strict compliance with the requirements
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among
others, the reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and annual review requirements.

Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign
Investment

On March 15, 2019, the second meeting of the 13th Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress approved the
Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China (&
# \REMEIEGRE L)) (the “FIL”) which became effective on
January 1, 2020. The FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures (NG ELL H5E)), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures ((FRIME1ERE RZEE)) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises ((7MN&{E%7£)) to become the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC. The FIL stipulates
three forms of foreign investment, but does not explicitly stipulate
the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.

The FIL specifically stipulates three forms of foreign investment,
namely, (1) establishment of a foreign invested enterprise in the
PRC by a foreign investor, either individually or collectively with
any other investor; (2) obtaining shares, equity interests, assets,
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interests or any other similar rights or interests of an enterprise
in the PRC by a foreign investor; and (3) investment in any new
construction project in the PRC by a foreign investor, either
individually or collectively with any other investor.

The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements
as a form of foreign investment. Provided that no additional laws,
administrative regulations, departmental rules or other regulatory
documents on contractual arrangements has been issued and
enacted, the FIL does not, by itself, have any material adverse
operational and financial impact on the legality and validity of our
Company’s Contractual Arrangements.

Notwithstanding the above, the FIL stipulates that foreign
investment includes “foreign investors invest through any other
methods under laws, administrative regulations or provisions
prescribed by the State Council.” Therefore, there remains
uncertainty regarding whether future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council may
regard contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment,
whether our Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be in
violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how
the Contractual Arrangements will be handled. Our Company will
disclose, as soon as possible, updates of changes to the FIL that
will materially and adversely affect our Company as and when
occur.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the businesses in China
do not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if there are regulations or their interpretations change in
the future, we could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements
and the relinquishment of our interest in our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

o Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership. Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChilLe or any of their shareholders may fail to
perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.
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We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our
PRC Holdcos that are material to our business operations if
our PRC Holdcos declare bankruptcy or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The ultimate shareholders of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe
may have conflicts of interest with us, which may materially
and adversely affect our business.

If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the FIL and how it
may impact the viability of our current corporate structure,
corporate governance and business operations.

Further details of these risks are set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors — Risks relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the
Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation
of our Group’s businesses with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries
from government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least once
a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual
reports; and

our Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
review the legal compliance of WFOEs and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Listing Rules Implications and Waivers from the Stock
Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company
under the Listing Rules upon Listing as certain of the parties to the
Contractual Arrangements, namely Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. ZHENG
Wei and Beijing JinChi are connected persons. Mr. GAO Dinan and
Mr. ZHENG Wei, both of whom are executive Directors and our
Controlling Shareholders, and Beijing JinChi, which is a substantial
shareholder of Shanghai ChiLe, are connected persons of our
Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver
from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of
the Listing Rules, (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for
the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule
14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting
the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less
under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange subject however to the following
conditions:

(@ no change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

(b)  no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;

(c) the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable
our Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

(d) on the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide
an acceptable framework for the relationship between our
Company and its subsidiaries in which our Company has
direct shareholding, on the one hand, and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, on the other hand, that framework may be
renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing
arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly
foreign owned enterprise or operating company (including
branch company) engaging in the same business as that of
our Group which our Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms
and conditions as the existing Contractual Arrangements; and
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() we will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an on-going basis.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@) the transactions carried out during the year ended December
31, 2019 had been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

(b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;

(¢) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between our Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities; and

(d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
engaged the Auditor to perform certain procedures on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

After performing the procedures related to the disclosed continuing
connected transactions, the Auditor has concluded in a letter to the
Board that:

(@ nothing has come to their attention that causes them to

believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Company’s Board;
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(b) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with a series of contractual arrangements disclosed in the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
governing such transactions; and

(¢) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that dividends or other distributions have been
made by Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their respective
subsidiaries to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company and is not involved in any material legal proceedings.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, every Director or other officers
of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur
or sustain in or about the execution of his duties in his office. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its directors and officers.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The important events after the Reporting Period are disclosed in
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

An outbreak of COVID-19, first reported in December 2019, has
spread throughout the world, especially in China, the United States
and Europe. On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization
declared the outbreak a global pandemic. Many businesses and
social activities in China and other countries and regions have been
disrupted, including our customers and smartphone manufacturers.
This global outbreak has also caused market panics, which
materially and negatively affected the global financial markets, such
as the plunge of global stocks on major stock exchanges in March
2020. The Group had resumed its operations since February 2020.
As the business of the Group primarily focuses on online activities,
as at the date of this annual report, the Directors anticipate that the
COVID-19 will have no material adverse impact on the business
and results of operation of the Group. However, we cannot assure
you that the disruption and potential slowdown of China’s and the
world’s economy in 2020 and beyond may not adversely affect
the Group’s results of operations and financial conditions in future
periods. Additionally, if the outbreak persists or escalates, our
business operations and financial condition may also be adversely
affected. The Directors will closely monitor the potential impacts,
and inform the shareholders if the outbreak of COVID-19 will
cause any material adverse impact on the business operations and
financial conditions of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the Auditor, reviewed the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 73 to 87 of this annual
report.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 328 employees as of December 31, 2019, as
compared to 326 employees as of December 31, 2018. The Group
enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover
matters such as position, term of employment, wage, employee
benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus and other employee benefits, and is determined
with reference to their experience, qualifications and general market
conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the Group
is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and
competence.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public
float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, was held by the public at all times since the Listing
Date and as of the date of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company will hold the AGM on 5 June 2020, Friday. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from 2 June
2020, Tuesday to 5 June 2020, Friday, both days inclusive, in order
to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend the AGM, during which period no share transfers will be
registered. To be eligible to attend the AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 1 June 2020, Monday.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the Auditor during the Reporting
Period. The accompanying financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRS have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as Auditor will
be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
GAO Dinan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions under the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period.
The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of
the Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The
Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference which are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in
respect of legal action against the Directors. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHENG Wei (Vice Chairman)

Ms. ZHOU Yan (Chief Financial Officer)
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Non-executive Directors:

Ms. XIE Guowang (resigned on 7 January 2020)
Mr. SONG Chunyu

Mr. ZHU Jing (resigned on 23 September 2019)
Mr. CHEN Tao (appointed on 23 September 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. LIANG Zhanping

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining
the composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms
of, among other things, skills, regional and industry experience,
educational background, culture, race, gender, age and other
qualities. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The Board diversity
policy is available on the website of the Company.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company considers all of them to be independent parties.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including

financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
with any other Director and chief executive.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the code provision of the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments as well as the
identity of the public companies or organizations and the time
involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a
timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

In accordance with A.6.5 of the CG Code with regards to
continuous professional development, directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics will be issued to directors where appropriate. The
Company also arranges trainings to provide Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a director.
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During the Reporting Period, all Directors have complied with the
CG Code in relation to continuous professional development,
apart from reading materials relevant to the Company’s business,
director’s duties and responsibilities. All Directors also attended
and/or gave presentation in seminars/forums. The Company
updates Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding
the Group’s business and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. All Directors have provided to the
Company with their training records on a regular basis, and such
records have been maintained by the Company for accurate and
comprehensive record keeping.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officers

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and performed by
different individuals. The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company are held by Mr. GAO Dinan. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer in Mr. GAO Dinan has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board considers that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make
and implement decisions promptly and effectively. In light of the
above, the Board considers that the deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in the circumstances of the
Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company on November 3, 2018 for an initial term of three
years commencing from November 3, 2018.

Each of the non-executive Directors, being Mr. SONG Chunyu and
Mr. CHEN Tao, has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company for an initial term of three years on November 3, 2018 and
September 23, 2019, respectively. Their respective appointment
letters shall commence from December 21, 2018 and September
23, 2019, respectively.

Each of the independent non- executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years on November 3, 2018 commencing from December 21, 2018.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is

not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company after appointment
and new Directors appointed as an addition to the Board shall
submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review the relevant papers and are adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated
to all Directors or Board Committee members for information and
records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by
the Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee
members. Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors/
Board Committee members for comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is
held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by
Directors.
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Attendance of Directors at various meetings EENSEERZHERE

During the Reporting Periods, details of the Directors’ attendance in ~ RIREHE  EERUT SR 2 BFERFE
the following meetings are set out below: HYIWMT :

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HFERAY BERRY

Annual
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors EE EEEEd BHZEE FMESE REZEE REEEXE
Executive Directors BiTEE
Mr. GAO Dinan BRBEE 4/4 N/A N/A 2/2 1N
TER TER
Mr. ZHENG Wei BREE 4/4 N/A 212 N/A 1
18R TER
Ms. ZHOU Yan 5] Jeas 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1N
TER TER TER
Non-executive Directors FniTEE
Ms. XIE Guowang HEL L 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11
(resigned on 7 January 2020) (202051 A7 BEHE) TER TER TER
Mr. SONG Chunyu REMEE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1N
TER TER TER
Mr. ZHU Jing RERE 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A 11
(resigned on 23 September 2019) (R2019 9 23 A EHE) TERA TER
Mr. CHEN Tao RELE N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 23 September 2019) (R2019F9 A23 A EZM) TER TEA TER TER TER
Independent Non-executive Directors BiFEH{TES
Mr. CHEN Baoguo REELE 4/4 2/2 2/2 N/A 11
TER
Mr. LIANG Zhanping REI£E 4/4 N/A 2/2 2/2 1
TER
Ms. ZHAQ Xuemei BEat 4/4 2/2 N/A 202 1
TER
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries
of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
for the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are also subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision right for all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board recognizes that
corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the
Directors which includes:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
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3. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

4.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. CHEN Baoguo (Chairman),
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei and Mr. CHEN Tao, majority of them are
independent non-executive Directors. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise, and provide an
independent view of the effectiveness of, the financial reporting
process and the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, oversee the audit process and perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Code provision C3.3(e) (i) of the CG Code provides that the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee shall have the terms that the
members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and
senior management and the Audit Committee must meet at least
twice a year with the Auditor. The Company has included such
terms in relevant terms of reference, and thus complied with the
Code provision C3.3(e) (i) of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period.

During the Reporting Period, two Audit Committee meetings were
convened. The Audit Committee had performed the followings
tasks, among others:

1. reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2018 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June

2019;

2. reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems;
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3.  discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their
audit findings;

4. reviewed the auditors’ remuneration;

5. reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors to
determine the provision of such services would affect the
independence of the auditors; and

6. performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed
the corporate governance policies and practices.

Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three members, including one executive
Director namely Mr. GAO Dinan (chairman) and two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. LIANG Zhanping and Ms.
ZHAO Xuemei. The primary functions of the Nomination Committee
include, without limitation, reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board, reviewing the Board diversity policy,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors and making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment of directors.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity
on the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be considered from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, industry experience,
technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services and time to be devoted as a Director. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put
to the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two Nomination Committee meetings
were held. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as
well as discussing matters regarding the appointment, retirement
and re-election of Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, including two independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. LIANG Zhanping (chairman) and
Mr. CHEN Baoguo and one executive Director namely Mr. ZHENG
Wei. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
without limitation, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedures for developing policy on such remuneration,
(i)  reviewing and approving performance based remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board, and (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two Remuneration Committee
meetings were held. The Remuneration Committee had
reviewed and approved the remuneration of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Please refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for
details of remuneration of members of the Board for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

Details of the remuneration by band of Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 29 to 35 of this annual report, for the year ended December
31, 2019 are set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB) FrEEE (ANR¥ET)

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility of preparing the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 to give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group
and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with timely updates on Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 88
to 94 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Company has established and maintained adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board delegates its responsibility to the Audit Committee to review
the establishment and practices of management with respect to
risk management and internal control systems formally on a half-
yearly basis. The Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the key
risks of the Company, including determining the level of risk the
Company expects and is able to take, and proactively considering,
analyzing and formulating strategies to manage the key risks that
the Company is exposed to. The Audit Committee oversees the
management of the design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems. The senior management
team also provides all necessary and relevant information to the
Board, giving the Directors sufficient explanation and information
they need to discharge their responsibilities and make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before them
for approval. The internal audit team of the Company has direct
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reporting lines to the Audit Committee. These systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

We have designated responsible personnel in the Company to
monitor the ongoing compliance by the Company with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations that govern our business operations and
oversee the implementation of any necessary measures. In addition,
we plan to provide our Directors, senior management and relevant
employees with continuing training programs and/or updates
regarding the relevant PRC laws and regulations on a regular basis
with a view to proactively identify any concerns and issues relating
to any potential non-compliance. In addition, we have adopted
a set of internal rules and policies governing the conduct of our
employees. We have established a monitoring system to implement
anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures so as to ensure that our
employees comply with our internal rules and policies as well as
the applicable laws and regulations. For example, our management
is responsible for conducting a fraud and bribery risk assessment
on an annual basis and our audit committee reviews and approves
our annual risk assessment results and policies. We have also
identified certain forbidden conducts in our internal anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies, including, among others, the prohibition to
acceptance of bribes or rebates, embezzlement or misappropriation
of our assets, and forgery or alteration of our accounting records.

Risk Management

The Company is committed to continuously improving the risk
management system, including structure, process and culture,
through the enhancement of risk management ability, to ensure
long-term growth and sustainable development of the Company’s
business. The Company has established a risk management system
which sets out the roles and responsibilities of each relevant party
as well as the relevant risk management policies and processes.
Each business group of the Company, on a regular basis,
identifies and assesses risk factors that may negatively impact the
achievement of its objectives, and formulates appropriate response
measures.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the overall
risk status of the Company and evaluating the change in the nature
and severity of the Company’s major risks. The Audit Committee
considers that the management of the Company has taken
appropriate measures to address and manage the key risks which
they are responsible for at a level acceptable to the Board.
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The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.
The review process comprises, among other things, meetings
with management of business groups, internal audit team, legal
personnel and the external auditors, reviewing the relevant work
reports and information of key performance indicators, and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company. The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended
December 31, 2019, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by staff
with the appropriate qualifications and experience and that such
staff receives appropriate and sufficient training and development.
Based on the work report from the Audit Committee, the Board also
believes that the Company'’s internal audit function is adequate with
sufficient resources and budget. The relevant staff has appropriate
qualifications and experience, and receives sufficient training and
development.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
the Auditor to the Group during the year ended December 31, 2019
was approximately as follows:
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Amount

&%

(RMB’000)

Type of Services BRFSEER (NRETT)
Audit and audit related services* BRR BB R 2,220
Non-audit services I FZRTS 70
Total st 2,290

Note

*

The amount of audit and audit related services fee comprises the service
fee for the audit of the Group’s 2019 consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Chi Keung has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company. See the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management — Company Secretary” in this annual report for
the biography of Mr. CHAN Chi Keung.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, Mr. CHAN Chi Keung has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees will be
available to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Auditor
will also attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at www.wankaonline.com, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

The 2018 annual general meeting at which the external auditors
attended was convened on 6 June 2019. The Board encourages all
its shareholders to participate in the forthcoming AGM where the
members of the Board and external auditors will be present and
communicate with its shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each general meeting.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as of date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or any one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the
headquarters of the Company at 4/F, Building No. 6, Runfeng
Deshang Yuan, 60 Anli Road, Chaoyang, Beijing, PRC.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company has
not been amended during the Reporting Period.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WAL ZBEN R &

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Wanka Online Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanka
Online Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 95 to 250, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (*“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
%ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@

Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion

on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A EAF S

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the
Group’s goodwill was approximately RMB183,612,000,
which is subject to annual impairment testing.
Impairment provision is required when the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to
which the goodwill is allocated are lower than the
respective carrying values of the respective CGUs.
REZB-IF+ZA=+—8  XEENHBREED
A ARY183,612,000T » HEUARSFHRERR -

ENFABRRE MR ENRSELEN ((REELE
DA E S P RERER S EE BV REER -
FESHRIRE R -

The calculation of the recoverable amounts of these
CGUs involves significant management’s estimation,
subjective assumptions and judgements, such as
expected future cash flows from the CGUs, budgeted
gross margins, revenue growth rates and discount
rates, and is sensitive due to business and market
volatility, and uncertain economic outlook.
HZERSEABENTRESENHESREEENE
BEME THEERAE  flnReEEENNER
RRAERE FEEFE  WABREURBIAER -
BURHAXBRTSRBMERESHEANSNTHEEMLM
BEUR -

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
testing of goodwill are included in notes 2.4, 3, and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

SETBCR - ST HETFEE U R EERE R E A ERE
BENREME®KRMET2.4  3R15°
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We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment testing of goodwill:

BMEBmBRENSNTUTETREF (APERE)

* we assessed the key assumptions underlying the
cash flow forecasts, including revenue growth
rates, budgeted gross margins and discount
rates through enquiry with management and
by reference to the historical performance and
business plans of the relevant CGUs. We also
took into account the accuracy of previous
budgeting process;

e HMABABMEER S2REBEREELENNE
E%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ??&ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%m%ﬁﬂ%f%ﬁ

CBREWAERE  FEEMNERRUEE - &M
%%F BETEE mEIBREAERM |

®* we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assess the methodologies and certain significant
assumptions such as the discount rates used by
management in the impairment testing; and

o  HMEFBABMGEERTMEIERE TEKRRR
BlanERBERENAPEANIERE R

* we assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
in relation to the Group’s goodwill impairment
testing in the consolidated financial statements.

o  RMMEEMBRRPEEASERERENH
HIEERSRRE °

—E-NFH BWEHAERAT 89



Independent Auditor’s Report
Oﬁﬁ#ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%

Key audit matters (continued)

PSSt HIE (&)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable

PR R = B R 1

Accounts receivable constituted a significant portion of
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and
the Group was exposed to credit risks thereof. The
Group recognises an allowance based on the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) approach under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments.
The measurement of ECL requires the application of
significant judgement and estimates, such as provision
rates which are based on days past due for customers
that have similar loss patterns, historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
RZZB-NF+ZA=1t—0  BRERELELEEEE
ENEXRB  AEEEHGEERR - AEERIEEE
IR EERNFERELHA T ANEREERSE ((FAHE
BEE D EEREE RAPGEEFENGEFTERAE
RAB R > SINERBRXREFEBEUBER
X BAGEFECRNEFFEHBER  UREBA
BERATIE M EEREERE -

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
of accounts receivables are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
SETBCR - ST HETREE U R ERER TR E R
BENREMERKRMEE2.4 - 3R19 -
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We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment assessment of accounts
receivable:

BMY BRSO ER G T AT B EF (Hhas) :

®* we obtained an understanding of and assessed
management’s processes and controls relating
to the credit control and collection of accounts
receivable;

o EBMTHRUFTHEBEERBEGEEZESRIKEEER
MHRE R IZH

e we obtained and assessed management’s
expected credit loss allowance and judgements
on the recoverability of accounts receivable by
examining the information used by management
to establish such judgements and estimates,
such as the historical default information, current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

s RMEBREEREERAURTEBABRMGETNE
B WBEENER EREEMRRRAIEMLE
B MEYFEEEENRBEEBRERRLE
Wi BR R AT L ] e 9 S I

* we tested the ageing report and past due report
of accounts receivable on a sample basis; we
also considered the collection of the accounts
receivable subsequent to the end of the reporting
period; and

o RMHBOURBBERRNIRER RS RBHRE
M7hEBHRE S REBBGRRBEMYE | &

° we assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in
relation to impairment of accounts receivable in
the consolidated financial statements.

o RMFHMEZRESMBHRRPEBERUERTURENKE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WAL ZBEN R &

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WAL ZBEN R &

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
25 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FEEmR

BE-T-NF+=A=t+—ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—F-NE —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE AREBTR ARBT T
REVENUE g 5 2,396,187 1,546,316
Cost of sales SHER AR (2,057,972) (1,329,190)
Gross profit EF) 338,215 217,126
Other income and gains Hu A R s 5 24,508 11,661
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHBAX (31,636) (16,729)
Research and development costs T8 AR AR (45,419) (26,344)
Administrative expenses T X (49,789) (74,635)
Other expenses and losses Hitnpix R EE (8,852) (1,084)
Share-based payment expense LR AR N 29 (51,251) (8,119)
Operating profits R 175,776 101,876
Finance costs U 957N 7 (13,121) (6,216)
Loss on termination of convertible bonds #& LE AT IR &5 K& 1B = (14,270)
Fair value losses on convertible bonds A& RES A FEEE - (3,202)
Fair value losses on preferred shares BEBRNATEERE = (217,123)
Fair value losses on warrants RRFEFEN DT EEE = (261,791)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BB ADRF (FE) 6 162,655 (400,726)
Income tax expense FrHimx 10 (56,921) (20,815)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FRER,(EE) 105,734 (421,541)
Attributable to: THIA LS :
Owners of the parent BARER A 105,734 (421,541)
Non-controlling interests FEERER - -
105,734 (421,541)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BAREEERIEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY FEEEREF](E8)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (expressed (UERAR¥TIIR)
in RMB per share) 12
Basic HAR RMBO0.09 RMB(0.54)
ARK#0.095t AK¥(0.54)7T
Diluted i RMBO0.08 RMB(0.54)
AK#0.08t AK®(0.54)7T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeZElimR

BE—ZNFT-RA=t—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-AE @ —B-\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥T T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FRRF, (& 105,734 (421,541)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HitbZ2EB A (E18)
Other comprehensive income that may be FRENEEHIBEEREN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent HihZ2EKA :
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign ~ BEEINEFEEEME =58
operations 515 4,658
Net other comprehensive income that may be & EHRIEHDEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BRPEMEE
periods WA F5E 515 4,658
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not FE2#ZEHEEHR S EE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ~ EBHEMNEAMEEH
periods: WA (E1E) :
Exchange differences on translation of the AARGREEENESZ
Company 2,481 (45,554)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that TEEZENRENR2EE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in BENEMEEBA S (EBR)
subsequent periods FEE 2,481 (45,554)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FREMZAENBA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B518) BBk 2,996 (40,896)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FRARERA (BB B
FOR THE YEAR 108,730 (462,437)
Attributable to: THIA LB :
Owners of the parent BAREEA 108,730 (462,437)
Non-controlling interests IR R - -
108,730 (462,437)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBIRAR

—E-NFt+=A=t—H
31 December 2019

2019 2018
b S E —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BEREE 13 956 1,206
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 5,323 -
Goodwill HE 15 183,612 183,612
Other intangible assets Hith@mpEE 16 24,388 37,321
Investment in an associate R—EEENRNRE 17 874 =
Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE 18 4,596 9,770
Prepayments FERIE 20 - 23,585
Total non-current assets FEREEELE 219,749 255,494
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Accounts receivable FEUBR SR 19 597,485 443,889
Prepayments, other receivables FEMTFIE - IR
and other assets REMEE 20 390,995 275,798
Restricted cash ZREEE 21 119,515 34,317
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEESEEY 21 261,370 303,436
Total current assets REEEHAE 1,369,365 1,057,440
CURRENT LIABILITIES FEaE
Accounts payable FE{FERRX 22 94,936 48,542
Other payables and accruals H AR08 N T R E 23 35,488 53,548
Contract liabilities EHNEaE 24 99,631 147,043
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 25 235,958 146,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 3,638 =
Income tax payable RS 77,445 35,834
Total current liabilities BB ELAEE 547,096 430,967
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 822,269 626,473
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 1,042,018 881,967
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HFEUBRRRR
—g—nF+-A=1-A
31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-rE  —F-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE ARETT AREET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Other payables HAthfEFRIE 23 500 500
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 1,564 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE 18 4,479 5,973
Total non-current liabilities EFRBaEREE 6,543 6,473
Net assets EEFHE 1,035,475 875,494
EQUITY R E
Equity attributable to owners BATEE AELRE
of the parent
Issued capital 2EITRA 28 1 1
Treasury shares EFRS 28 —* —*
Other reserves Hithfd 30 1,035,474 875,493
Total equity AR 1,035,475 875,494

* The amount is less than RMB1,000.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HERMBEHE

BE-T-NF+=A=t+—ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2019

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARRAAEL
Employee
share-based  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued  Treasury Share  Capital compensation  reserve fluctuation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  shares premium  reserve reserve funds  reserve losses Total interests equity
HRHA
ERtiER EX
BRfRE EERG BROEE BARE  HMBGE iRt KRR RHER aif FEREE REER
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
Wit ARBTR AR¥TR ARETR ARBTT ARMTI ARMTR ARETR AR®TR ARETT ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2018 R=F-\5-A-A 4 - 37933 13166 30,665 1127 8177 (263540) (172,472) - (172472
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - [21541)  (421541) - (154
Other comprehensive loss ~ FREMZESE
for the year:
Exchange differences EiZR - - - - - - (40,896) - (40,89) - (40,89)
Total comprehensiveloss ~ FAZABELE
for the year - - - - - - (4089) (421,541)  (462,437) - (462,437)
Issue of shares Bk 2% 1 < 150917 (3634 - - - - 1,502,084 - 1,502,084
Appropriation to statutory ~ BAE RS
reserve fund - - - - - 16173 - (16173 - - -
Equity-settled share option ~ WEREBHBRERH
arrangements 29 - - - - 8,119 - - - 8,119 - 8,119
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NE
TZR=1-H 1 - 1,543,850 9,532 38784 17300  (32719) (701,254) 875494 - 875494

t The amount is less than RMB1,000.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Oﬁé’l‘éi&*‘i@ﬁ%

BE—ZNFT-RA=t—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2019

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATHAAER
Employee
share-based  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued  Treasury Share  Capital compensation reserve fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  shares  premium  reserve reserve funds  reserve losses Total interests equity
ke
EiitofEs B

EEfRs EARG: BbER AABR  FMER AEGRE RBER 0 RMER o FERER RERR
Notes RMBOO RMBI0O0 RMBOOO RMBOOO  RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOX  RMBOOO RMBOX AMBOO0  RMBIOOO
B ARBTT ARMTR ARRTR ARRTR  ARRFR ARRTR ARRMTR  ARRFR ARRTR ARMTL ARETR

At1 January 2019 R=E-hE-F-A 1 - 1,543,850 9,532 38,784 17300 (32719 (01.254) 875494 - 875494
Profit for the year ERigHl - - - - - - - 105734 105,734 - 10574
Other comprehensive income  EREMZEYA -

for the year:
Exchange differences ENZR - - - - - - 29% - 2,9% - 29%

Total comprehensiveincome ~ EAZEARAEE
for the year - - - - - - 2,99 105,734 108,730 - 108,730

Appropriation tostatutory  HAEEEES

reserve fund - - - - - 3,192 - (319 - - -
Equity-settled share option ~~ WER£EEH
arangements BlREZR A - - - - 51,251 - - - 51t - 515

At 31 December 2019 RZZ-0E

tZA=t-8 1 - 1,543,850° 9,532" 90,035 20492 (29,723 (598,712 1,035,475 - 1085475
8 The amount is less than RMB1,000. B ST EARE1,0007T ©
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves ’ ZEFER B BREERAMBIRRARAGEE R
of RMB1,035,474,000 (2018: RMB875,493,000) in the consolidated Ho sk A R #1,085,474,0007% (ZF — N\
statement of financial position. F : AR¥875,493,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
.-w\éfﬁﬁiﬁﬁ X

BE-ZNF+-A=t—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—F-NE —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHHRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI ADRF (E8) 162,655 (400,726)
Adjustments for: RUTREBEEHFAR :
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net SNEEIE (e ) FEE 6 2,681 (1,641)
Finance costs BAFE RN 7 13,121 6,216
Bank interest income RITRIB A 5 (4,335) (110)
Investment income REWA 5 - (161)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment HBEEBNEE 6 1 -
Impairment of accounts receivable FEUEBRFURE 6 5,960 134
Depreciation of property, M BERRBEINE
plant and equipment 13 708 859
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 14 3,062 -
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 16 12,933 11,757
Share-based payment expense DURHABERNNARESZ 29 51,251 8,119
Fair value losses on preferred shares BERNAEEESE - 217,123
Fair value losses on warrants RREFEN D EEE - 261,791
Fair value losses on convertible bonds TR ES N FEEE = 3,202
Loss on termination of #IETERESNEE
convertible bonds - 14,270
Listing expense FHEEx 6 2,713 44,014
250,750 164,847
Increase in accounts receivable FEURBRFRIZ A0 (159,556) (224,324)
Increase in prepayments, other FESRRIE - HthEWRERIE
receivables and other assets REAEEZ M (112,260) (166,237)
Decrease/(increase) in long-term REFFEMFIER A (38h0)
prepayments 23,585 (4,717)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FE{FERFRIE N, (GFA) 46,394 (12,231)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilites &#IE &M, GHL) (47,412) 134,741
Increase/(decrease) in other H A FIE R ST FIE
payables and accruals i, GiA) 15,736 (24,371)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &3EFT15, (FrF )R & B4 17,237 (132,292)
Interest received BRI 1,397 110
Income tax paid [SERIIEES (11,630) (3,243)
Net cash flows from/(used) in operating ~ &&5EEFS(FrH)
activities Be& e T8 7,004 (135,425)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

o \éfﬁﬁiﬁa%%

BE—ZNFT-RA=t—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—F-NE —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE ARETT ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHIARESRNE R
ACTIVITIES
Investment income RERA = 161
Purchase of financial assets at fair value B EIR AP EFT BN
through profit or loss EREE - (5,000)
Redemption of financial assets at BEIZR A EFT ABRN
fair value through profit or loss SREE - 5,000
Purchase of items of property, BEYE BMERSKBER
plant and equipment (518) 176)
Purchase of items of intangible assets BEEFEEEB - (175)
Purchase of a shareholding BE—EEE AT RE
in an associate (874) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries g N =N 31 - 20,377
Net cash flows from/(used in) BETEE(FTA)
investing activities REREFH (1,392) 20,187
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Drawdown of bank loans REURITE R 32(b) 301,400 154,000
Repayment of bank loans BIRBITER 32(b) (211,000) (18,000)
Capital injection from shareholders BEEE - 64,524
Proceeds from issuance of BT ERES TS RIE 32(b)
convertible bonds - 20,000
Proceeds from initial public offering BIRAHBEMERE - 239,130
Listing expenses paid 2N LEmAX 32(b) (36,265) (38,897)
Repayment of convertible bonds BEAERES 32(b) - (61,195)
Proceeds from issuance of BITEEREBRIE 32(b)
preferred shares - 93,695
Principal portion of lease payments HEARNAES IS (3,808) -
Interest paid 2FE 32(b) (13,122) (4,451)
Loans from employees REEEMNER 32(b) - 600
Repayment of loans due to employees  EEEEENER 32(b) - (4,080)
Dividend paid 2IRE 32(b) - (11,301)
Increase in restricted cash ZPR&IIR L1 (85,198) (34,397)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing ~ BEEEIFTE,(FiA)
activities RERBFEE (47,993) 399,628
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SZERHERER

BE-T-NF+=A=t+—ALFE
Year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
—E-1E 2 —B-N\&
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FMIEE ARETT ARET T
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH B & NIREZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2, O )8 (42,381) 284,390
Cash and cash equivalents at FOHReRESEEY
beginning of year 303,436 11,490
Net foreign exchange difference RINEETE 315 7,556
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRASRBASEED
AT END OF YEAR 261,370 303,436
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND BR& RIS EEBMEHR DT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances HE NIRRT 261,370 303,436
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FERBERRER
in the consolidated statement of REREXRFREAS
financial position and statement RESZEEY
of cash flows 261,370 303,436
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wanka Online Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 7 November
2014. Its registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive P.O.Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is
collectively referred to as the Group.

Prior to November 2014, the offshore structure was held
by the Company’s predecessor, Wanka Inc., a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014. On 7
November 2014, the Company entered into a letter agreement
with Wanka Inc., pursuant to which all the shares of Wanka
Holdings Limited, a company set up in Hong Kong by Wanka
Inc., would be transferred from Wanka Inc. to the Company
for a consideration of HK$1.0. The transfer was completed on
28 November 2014 and since then, the Company has been
the holding company of the Group.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries, including
controlled structured entities, were mainly involved in mobile
advertising services, online-video distribution services and
game co-publishing services.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Name

=1

Wanka
Holdings Limited.
TR R A B

#AN

Wanka Huanju Culture
Media (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd.”*"*" (“Wanka Huanju”)

MBS L& (L R)
BRAF"M
(MmEE)

Structured entities:

mRtER

Huanju Times Culture
Media (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd.*"" (“Huanju Times”)

BB EE (R)
BRAR (B )

Beijing Jingzhe Century
Information Technology
Co., Ltd."*"

TRBEH L BRI
BRAF™

Wanka Huanju Culture
Media (Hainan) Co.,
Ltd.*"

BB &R (5m)

BRAR™

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
place of operations

AR IR
BHARER0H

Hong Kong
6 June 2014

B8
S UE SRS A =

People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”)/
Mainland China
10 October 2014
hEARLNE
(TREL) /" K BE
—2-mETATA

PRC/Mainland China
7 March 2014

HE/hE AR
—E-MFE=AtH

PRC/Mainland China
15 November 2006
HE/hE AR
“EZRF+-ATEA

PRC/Mainland China
1 June 2017

B/ hE KR
—E—tF5xA-H

Nominal value

of issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

ERTEE/
HMRAEE

HK$1
187

US$40,990,000
40,990,000% 7t

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T

RMB1,000,000
AE#1,000,0007

RMB5,000,000
AE5,000,0007

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

AT REEEH ()

Bft 18 2> S RO 4H A
ARAFWEEMEATNFREIIM
T

Percentage of
equity attributable to Principal
the Company activities
Direct Indirect

FRARMERELS  FERE
BE B3

100 - Investment holding

REZR

= 100  Mobile advertising

services

BBRERSE

Note 1
FiaE1

Mobile advertising
services

BBRERSE

Note 2
fizE2

Mobile advertising
services and
game
co-publishing
services

BBEERBR
B E R

- Note 2
M2

Mobile advertising
services

BBRERYE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Name

B

Wanka Huanju Culture
Media (Tianjin) Co.,
Ltd.*"

BB EE (K2
BRAF™

Sichuan Wanka Huanju
Culture Media Co., Ltd.**"
(“Sichuan Wanka”)

)1 SR B AL R
BRAR ()15 )

Shanghai ChiLe
Information Technology
Co., Ltd.*"" (“Shanghai
ChiLe")

EEnREERE
BRAR ™ ([ Ligitgt))

Xinjiang ChiLe Information
Technology Co., Ltd. "

FEELEERR
BRAR™

Shanghai Langdao
Information Technology
Co., Ltd.""

LERERERHR
BRAF™

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
place of operations

AL, MR
RHREREH

PRC/Mainland China
9 June 2017

HEREARE
“E-tFXANA

PRC/Mainland China
20 November 2017
HE]/ REARE
—E-tFt-A=tH

PRC/Mainland China
18 June 2014
HE]/REIARE
“E-WERATAR

PRC/Mainland China
26 September 2016
el REIRRE
“E-RERAZTRA

PRC/Mainland China
27 July 2016

B/ hE KR
~g-XELA=TA
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Nominal value

of issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

BRTEE/
HEMRAEE

RMB5,000,000
AE#5,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000
AEK5,000,0007

RMB40,816,327
AKH40,816,3277T

RMB5,000,000
AE#5,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000
AE#5,000,0007T

AT REEEH ()

Fit BB 22 S1RYHERBAEHL ()

Percentage of
equity attributable to
the Company
Direct Indirect

FRREGREL A
BE B3

- Note 2
HizE2

- Note 2
fizE2

- Note 1
{iE

- Note 3
MizE3

- Note 3
MizE3

Principal
activities

Mobile advertising
services

BBRERSE

Mobile advertising
services

BBRERYE

Online-video
distribution
services

REREER
DR

Online-video
distribution
services

REREER

DERE

Online-video
distribution
services

REREER
DR



Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Note 1:  Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe were set up under PRC law
and were controlled by the Company through Wanka Huanju
via a series of contractual arrangements.

Note 2:  The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and
were controlled by the Group through Huanju Times. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huanju Times.

Note 3:  The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and were
controlled by the Group through Shanghai ChiLe. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shanghai Chile.

The names of these subsidiaries referred to in this report
represent management’s best effort in translating the Chinese
names of the subsidiaries, as no English names have been
registered.

This company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.

AR

These companies are registered as limited liability companies
under PRC law.

s Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

1.

RESRRA

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

AT REEEH ()

Pt A SR 4ERAEF ()

T BEE AR SR RER B
&ﬁ%z 3 e A2 R BT
BB B — RIS TP MRS -

MizE2: AQRWEEZRXHEERZS
FHEEATERTARE ﬁﬁuZ%
RIER AR MR
WIRERRE R mIES o EZ%
BERRNE2EWNBAR -

I W mE
I B AR

HH-
D) B i 4

i)
3

MizES: AR RWEEELEER
PERAETEAE - M2
RIER AR MR ﬂ‘iEE
Wi mIES - %%
Bt ERNBA E o

JHi i\“#
i

I

I W mE

aF B\ A

i‘l‘ﬁl:
kel

R EMIRRZENRB R RS
DERERNIBEFEPNEAHNG
R RARKGEMEMZEERME -

" ZATCDREPEERELAINGE

Az

" RERARREBTEEREMABRA

o

2 3

* WIFH BB LG FT R B PIR L K
SR EBAERER S-SR ER
PR °

AR EAEERDHAEBMFEE
*iﬁﬁiik?&%:ﬂ%ﬁkﬁé#ﬁi%ﬁﬁ

DTHARBMBAT - ESARIIHE
B ARZHBEESARRERT
Eo
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A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Contractual arrangements

The regulations in Mainland China restrict foreign ownership
of companies that provide certain Internet related businesses,
which include certain activities and services operated by the
Group.

In order to enable certain foreign companies to make
investments into these businesses of the Group, the
Company controls certain subsidiaries through contractual
arrangements. In 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (the “2014 Contractual Arrangements”)
with Huanju Times and its registered shareholders which
were further updated in 2016 (the “2016 Contractual
Arrangements”). Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and
Shanghai Chile’s registered shareholders entered into a set of
contractual arrangements dated 9 March 2018 in compliance
with the applicable rules and requirements, namely the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements.

In preparation for the listing of the Company on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, in
2018, (i) Wanka Huanju, Huanju Times and Huanju Times’
registered shareholders entered into a new set of contractual
arrangements in compliance with the applicable rules and
requirements, namely the 2018 Contractual Arrangements,
which superseded and replaced the 2014 and 2016
Contractual Arrangements and have come into force from
June 2018; and (ii) Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and
Shanghai ChilLe’s registered shareholders entered into a
new set of contractual arrangements in compliance with the
applicable rules and requirements, namely the New ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements, which superseded and replaced
the ChiLe Contractual Arrangements and have come into
force from June 2018.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

The 2014 Contractual Arrangements, 2016 Contractual
Arrangements and 2018 Contractual Arrangements, ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements, have enabled the Group to conduct
businesses in industries that are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in Mainland China, and have enabled Wanka
Huaniju to:

1)

3)

4)

govern the financial and operating policies of Huanju
Times and Shanghai Chile;

exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe as
consideration for the business support, technical and
consulting services provided by Wanka Huanju;

obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe from the respective registered
shareholders at a minimum purchase price when it is
permitted under laws and regulations in Mainland China.
Wanka Huanju can exercise such options at any time
until it has acquired all equity interests of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe; and

obtain a pledge over the respective existing and future
equity interests, including any interest or dividend paid
for the shares, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe, to
Wanka Huanju as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment
of outstanding debts from the respective registered
shareholders.

1.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

AT REEEH ()

Ft B A BERAEF ()

BHRH (E)

“E-IFESNREE  —B-AFEH
ZHRZZE-N\FENTH  MEEY
ZHERMMESNLZHIRBABHNR
B SAKEAEPREAEZIERE
REVWITREARER  T<SIWERER
A

1) SEEBEEAR CEhENETE
REEBER

2) TEBEBRARLEOERES
BANRERE ;

3) EHBEBRAREEBORFEE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group
has rights to exercise power over Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries, receives variable returns from
its involvement in Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries, has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries and is considered to control Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries. Consequently, the
Company regards Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries as controlled structured entities and consolidated
the assets, liabilities and results of operations of Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries in the financial
statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times and its registered shareholders and the Contractual
Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and its
registered shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and are legally binding
and enforceable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 REEE (E)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A
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A EBE FA 2 B % ERRABA T
35T R AT BB A A -

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

BB ELERIEISIES B BEE#HEBZFREHEFE

HKFRS 16 Leases

BB BIRELERZE 1657 HE

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

BBETTERIZE1955E7 FTEIEET ~ AR ECAEE

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

BBETTAERIE28RIERT RIBERAREELRFZ R EH

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

58 (BRI BRERREES) - FrEHEE e THEM
FEZ e PRE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23
2015-2017 Cycle

EBUBREER —FE—HFE EBMBREEREIN BB BHRELERE 1155
—E-tFBHFENE EBETTEAE125RBBE T ERE235R 18R]

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKAS 19, and
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which
are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs are described below:
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int
4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under
a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
HKAS 17. Lessors continue to classify leases as either
operating or finance leases using similar principles as in
HKAS 17.

HKFRS 16 did not have any significant impact on leases
where the Group is the lessor.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application
of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard
has been applied retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits at 1 January
2019, and the comparative information for 2018 was not
restated and continued to be reported under HKAS 17
and related interpretations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and
the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The
Group elected to use the transition practical expedient
allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore,
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been
applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or
after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as
operating leases
Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for office premises.
As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases
as either finance leases or operating leases based
on the assessment of whether the lease transferred
substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the Group
applies a single approach to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases,
except for two elective exemptions for leases of
low-value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis)
and leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
(“short-term leases”) (elected by class of underlying
asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term commencing from 1 January 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of
the right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the
outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as
operating leases (continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate at 1 January 2019. The right-of-use assets
were measured at the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued
lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the
statement of financial position immediately before 1
January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment
based on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected
to present the right-of-use assets separately in the
statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

° Applying the short-term lease exemptions to
leases with a lease term that ends within 12
months from the date of initial application

° Using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend/
terminate the lease
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 E:tBEEE RINE (&)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019

(@ (&)
—E-hE—A—-HNIHBRE

The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 RZE—NF—B—BEMKEE
January 2019 was as follows: BTSRRI 16EENTE
T
Increase/
(decrease)
B, (Rd)
RMB’000
AREETT
Assets &E
Increase in right-of-use assets EREEEE 6,210
Increase in total assets 4E E AN 6,210
Liabilities Bf&
Increase in lease liabilities HESBEM 6,512
Decrease in other payables and accruals HitEA R ESTE AR (302)
Increase in total liabilities meEEm 6,210
Increase in retained profits R R FIE N -
Increase in non-controlling interests FEIERRAERIT AN -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019 (continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to

2.2 St BRMEBTRINE (B)

(@ (&)
—E-hE—A—-HHNIHBHE
(# )
R-BE-NF—A—HKWHEES

the operating lease commitments as at 31 December ﬁ/\_ s—N\E+=-A=+—H
2018 are as follows: REREAELHIRNOT ¢
RMB’000
ARET T
Operating lease commitments as at N=T—-N\FE+=-H=+—HH
31 December 2018 EEBERE 9,317
Less: Commitments relating to short-term  JFi4> : ERSERAFAE KR T AR
leases and those leases with “E-NFE+ZA=+—HZ
a remaining lease term ended on or B 45 R AR EHEREHIAIE
before 31 December 2019 (2,241)
Commitments relating to leases of ~ EHMEK(E{EEEHEHEEIE
low-value assets (24)
7,052
Weighted average incremental borrowing R-ZE-—hE—A—A1
rate as at 1 January 2019 IR S ERE 5.49%
Discounted operating lease commitments RZZ—hAF—HA—HH
as at 1 January 2019 ARIR TR SRR 6,512
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 NR-TB-hE—RA—HWHEEER 6,512
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope
exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an
associate or joint venture to which the equity method
is applied and does not include long-term interests
that in substance form part of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture, to which the equity method
has not been applied. Therefore, an entity applies
HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such
long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net
investment, which includes the long-term interests, only
in the context of recognising losses of an associate or
joint venture and impairment of the net investment in
the associate or joint venture. The Group assessed its
business model for its long-term interests in associates
and joint ventures upon adoption of the amendments
on 1 January 2019 and concluded that the long-term
interests in associates and joint ventures continued
to be measured at amortised cost in accordance with
HKFRS 9. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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31 December 2019
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS
12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies
outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity
considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the
assumptions an entity makes about the examination of
tax treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates;
and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation,
the Group considered whether it has any uncertain
tax positions arising from the transfer pricing on its
intergroup sales. Based on the Group’s tax compliance
and transfer pricing study, the Group determined
that it is probable that its transfer pricing policy will
be accepted by the tax authorities. Accordingly, the
interpretation did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EEMIEREMBEFBIMTE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HhEZEL|
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised TEERZEVBBRERPIAREAUT
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in BB EREMBVFET R EIETE B

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB EHRELAFEIR (BFIA)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7

HRMEREEREIS - BEGTER|
EIF R BB BMELERETIE (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

BERMEREERE10EREBSFTAER
#2858 (BRI AR) (=B ——%F)

HKFRS 17

FEIREZER o
Definition of a Business’

EBEHEZE

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

FIEREYE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

REZHABE N AR L ELF R EEL ELHE°

Insurance Contracts®

BRI REERE7H REEE#9°

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material’

BB EAF1EREBEFER BAWESE

%85k (BRI A)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 ' MR-Z-TF—F - B2 &FRY
FEHMER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 2 RZTZ—F—F— AR &AM
FEHMER

s No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for s 1) R B T 5 ) A2 Ak ) HR B TR AN

adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.
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31 December 2019
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BIEMBEREZNE LSS

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. Since
the amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other
events that occur on or after the date of first application, the
Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date
of transition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEF BUREIE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets designated as fair
value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial information are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
information on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (Continued)

or

(o) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(o) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viiiy the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Electronic devices 33%
TR
Transportation equipment 25%
ERE
Leasehold improvements 33%

HERE

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Commercial resources

Commercial resources associated with certain business
cooperation agreements with certain mobile phone
manufacturers are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over the shorter
of the estimated economic lives and the licensed period or
the duration of the cooperation agreement with mobile phone
manufacturers, which was estimated to be 3 years.

Software copyright

Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of 5 years. Certain software is acquired as part of the
business combination of Shanghai ChiLe.

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination

Customer relationship is acquired as part of the business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe has a
portfolio of customers or a market share and expects that,
because of its efforts in building customer relationships and
loyalty, the customers will continue to trade with Shanghai
ChilLe. The customer relationship is determined by an external
valuer, stated at fair value at initial recognition and less any
impairment losses subsequently, and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
during which benefits will be derived from the customer
relationship to the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Research and development costs
All research and development costs are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software
or other assets is capitalised only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to
complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Where
applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 EXETBEREE (18

HE(B=F—-15—A—BEER) (&)

FREERREA (B)
@ RAEESE

EHEEEREEM®E A S (B
HEEERNHERER)ER -
EREEERBABEMRTH
ENREBETE  IREMNE
HMrBHEREEHRAR - £H
REENABEACEIMERRE
MNEHE  EENNBEERAR
REE B sz Al fEH (VEE
o HREFAEWEEEE - W
BR - EHEEENRSBER
BRREBRABEEIMEHEEBE
ERHEMERREEMEHN
BT EH - FHEEEREEN
HEIR et A ERFH (UBE
ERE)VRERERNE AT

MAEYE 2E3FE
THRERERSHEEENES
REZEEAEBIRN A RRIBEE
EMTE NERBEENM
SHRIE A FEAIETE -

—E-NEFH BwSEHARAS 135



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of electronic devices that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

138 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019

2.4 EXEFTEREE (8)

HE(R=F-NF-—A—BmER)

fisd & 2 PRAE RERVAE K38 2 B 3R % JRL B 4T3
BREBA - AEBEEERSREEHE
B NAKESHEAA - AIAREERE
EHETHENEEIRIFRBEE
mE&ERE T RUNESNERREZE
BORRTABRER - MAKERAMRAA
AIEERE T RANASNNERE HE
AWEHEAEER - REPRNRER
ERTABRER o

RERAMEMEE

MintEsR RatE

ERMEENIPERN D ERHER RS
A E - BBHMEEREEAY
EFFBEREBRHEAFETIR -

TREETNRERRFN D BEURNE
MEENSRRSRFRRAEEEE
SHMEENBHEER - KIPESEAH
BT HAKEC L ERERHIE
SRBLETABREABER D ZEN
B2 RWFIRS  AEENREAFE
k(& mEEILFEAFETAE
BIXRGHATEEREE - TEEE
EREARBOI I EECEAER D
BREELENEZBWIE - ZRE
B BREENE1SRIEENRS
B - BBRT X WARR ATt B B
RETE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLSs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
accounts receivable which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

144 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019

2.4 EXEFTEREE (8)

SRMEERE (&)

— Rk (&)

AEERR  BEANNTEMEBESI0
RE - FERBEEEM -

FEEBENNHREHORNERE
EREEDN - AW RETHERT - &
FtRAEBELAEMREZHR - &
KBTI RABRIIBERBERAEE
TRATRERBUE I R EE S WS HAR
HEREERFED - SREENEL
BEBRMARES QRS M

DU SER AT BN S REER —BUAR
RRELERE T I ERBRADETE
FEHMEERRE - BERATRESENE
WBRFRER D o

F-BE- FEERBEKDNERUR
THEBEZEMNVNEHET
A HREEEZEHEZEER
128 BAMEEEEE

EoBR- ARVDERUREERR
ERREMELFEER
BENETRMEENERMT
B HEEBREREAER
EHEREERENESHE
B

FoRE- EREAHCREFER
ENEHMEE (BXFBE
FANBEERENERME
E) HBEBRRHEEMAER
PHEREESRENESHE
FTE



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants.
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A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Preferred shares

Preferred shares issued by the Company are redeemable
upon the occurrence of certain future events and at the option
of the holders. This instrument can be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at any time at the option of the
holders or automatically converted into ordinary shares upon
the occurrence of an initial public offering of the Company or
agreed by majority of the holders as detailed in note 26 to the
financial statements.

The Group designated the preferred shares as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They are initially
recognised at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction
costs are recognised as expenses in the statement of profit or
loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the preferred shares are

carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Warrants

Warrants have been issued by the Company to some
investors of the Company to purchase certain ordinary shares
or preferred shares of the Company. The warrants may be
exercised by these investors when some conditions are met
according to the terms of the warrants.

The Group designates the warrants as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. They are initially recognised
at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognised as expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the warrants are carried
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

The convertible bonds have been issued by Huanju Times or
Sichuan Wanka to some investors of the Company which are
convertible into ordinary shares of Huanju Times or Sichuan
Wanka. The convertible bonds may be converted by these
investors when some conditions are met according to the
conversion terms.

The Group designates the whole contract related to the
convertible bonds as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss if the conversion rights do not meet the definition
of equity instruments. They are initially recognised at fair
value and will be revalued at the end of each reporting period.
Any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised as
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 EXEFTEREE (8)

ERBEGE)
BRETE ()

AATRCEEETREERITARER
LBEARANE TEERIELR
RRER MRS TIRERBZER
BERIBRRER RFITE ©

AEERDRERIEERZAFETA
BENEme s  NrRAFERR -
EEEELERERARERRERR
FX o

RAEERE  FREFELIFEA
iR HAVESBRNEDRER -

R ESF

AR RESC REERA M) T s
TR ARERESE  TERHEE
R ST E AR - R RES
A HZEREBRERE TIRHEOER
TREBRRRER -

R EAFERBETANES &%
BRI RRESEBNROESNEE
ARAFEFABENEREE - 2%
TREENREA FEER LS
BREHAREM - EAEEBERZHEAS

—E2-NFHR BNEBHERAT 147



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Convertible bonds (continued)

For the convertible bonds with embedded conversion rights
that meet the definition of equity instruments, the component
of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of a liability
is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a long term liability on the
amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or
redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to
the conversion option that is recognised and included in
shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs (if any). The
carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs (if any) are apportioned
between the liability and equity components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
equity components when the instruments are first recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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31 December 2019
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

150 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019

2.4 EXEFTEREE (8)

Frig#i

FriEs R BN RIRSERLIE © B2 IE R
B AE B AR EHR A AER
BEER  MREMEEBRAREER
TR TERT o

B EEER R ERBEZHEHR
CRARERCEANBRRBE - I
ZRIAEEELE T ERRRITHRE
RABD) - A AT AR BB R E R
BBHRE ISR -

FERRFRAREE  BRREHARE
EREBENHEEAEMBRE 2 AN
REEZEBNAE TS EERETIRE
&

REEFL A RERBE 14 = RERE
EBIREE - AT ERERI

s EERESERNKEIHER
EREBSHUMIRE PR
5B EETHER R ERBE
NREENEEREEMESE
54

s FERMEBEARNRERHNE
AB TR EREMS - fHAEME
FEFEEENRERRE - B
TR ERARNT RARRAES
2HEE o



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXEF BUREIE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the statement
of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalment or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

The Group principally derives revenue from the rendering of
mobile advertising services, online-video distribution services,
game co-publishing services and IT development and related
services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services performed, stated net of returns and value-added
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

(1)

Mobile advertising services

The Group provides mobile advertising services to
its customers and revenue is recognised over the
period when the services are provided. Revenue
from mobile advertising services is recognised based
on actual performance measurement. The Group
recognises the revenue based on (i) per-click when the
users click on the advertisement, (ii) per-impression
when the advertisements are displayed to users;
or (iii) per-download when the third party apps are
downloaded by users.

The Group distributes advertisements on third-party
advertising publishers’ websites or mobile publications
and evaluates whether the Group is acting as the
principal or agent in the transaction. The Group is
a principal in a transaction if the Group controls
the services provided before they are provided to
customers. If control is unclear, the Group considers
whether it is primarily obligated in a transaction, is
subject to inventory risk or has latitude in establishing
prices and selecting suppliers. The Group records
revenue on a gross basis when the Group has assessed
that it is acting as a principal in the transaction;
otherwise, it records revenue on a net basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@

3

Online-video distribution services

The Group generates revenue from providing the
online-video distribution services to the content
providers and revenue is recognised over the period
when the services are provided.

The Group enters into marketing arrangements with
content providers to use the Group’s channels to
promote contents to potential subscribers over a
particular period of time. The Group recognises a
proportion of the subscribers’ payments, such as a
monthly package, predetermined in the contracts with
the content providers.

Game co-publishing services

The Group engages in game co-publishing services
through cooperation with third-party game developers
and distribution platforms under certain co-operation
agreements. The third-party game distribution platforms
collect the payment from players and remit the net
proceeds, after deducting the commission charged,
to the Group. In general, the portion of the proceeds
received by the Group is calculated based on the
standard price of the in-game virtual currency sold and
the agreed sharing ratio in the contracts signed with
third-party game distribution platforms.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

3

“)

Game co-publishing services (continued)

The Group recognises the game co-publishing services
on a gross or net basis depending on whether the Group
is acting as a principal or an agent in the transaction.
When the Group takes primary responsibilities of further
game development and updates, game operation,
including determining distribution platforms and
payment channels, providing customer services, hosting
game servers, if needed, and controlling game and
service specifications and pricing, the Group considers
itself as a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly,
the Group records the mobile game revenue on a gross
basis and revenue is recognised only when the in-game
virtual items are purchased and consumed by the
players, and the commission fees paid to distribution
platforms and payment channels and amortisation
of licence fees paid to third party game developers
(if any) are recorded as cost of revenues. When the
Group’s responsibilities are publishing, providing
payment solution and marketing promotion service,
the Group views game developers to be its customers
and considers itself as the agent of game developers in
the arrangements with game players. Accordingly, the
Group records the game publishing service revenue, net
of amounts paid to game developers.

IT development and related services

The Group engages in IT development services by
independent research and revenue is recognised when
the required development is delivered to customers and
customers confirm their acceptances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Conference service income is recognised by the net value
after deducting the conference fee upon completion of the
meeting.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by either the
relevant authorities or the local municipal governments
of the provinces in Mainland China in which the Group’s
subsidiaries are located. The Group is required to
contribute to the central pension scheme in respect of
its employees in Mainland China and these costs are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme

The Company operated an employee share incentive
plan for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations on 31 March 2016
(the “2016 Share Incentive Scheme”). Employees
(including executive and non-executive directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). The share option plan was amended and
a restricted share plan (the “RSU Plan”) was effected on
24 May 2018. Pursuant to the RSU Plan, the restricted
share units are used as the settlement instrument of the
employee benefits in the share-based compensation
scheme, under which the vesting condition has been
revised as i) upon the completion of the Company’s IPO
and ii) fulfilment of a certain service period. Except that,
there is no significant change compared with that of the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using the Hull-White Enhanced ESO
Valuation model, further details of which are given in
note 29 to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of
the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share when applicable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is the United States
dollars while the presentation currency of the financial
statements is RMB. In the opinion of the directors, as the
Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC, the use of RMB
as the presentation currency is more appropriate for the
presentation of the Group’s results and financial position.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial information of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

164 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019

2.4 EXEFTEREE (8)

EEND#N

BE BRERLEENSRANEE (B
FELERERNEEEEIERE
WA E AR HERENEE) HEE
IENERRAERZEEEN B K
ATUEARL - EEEEE LEIHE
FE R S ] SR SR RR R - AlF IR
BRAERRANER - FHIRERA
RS IR BB Y32 H AT BRI E Pk
HHIREWRARERLAVMEFR R AR
Bk o TR HALER AR EETA
B - ERRAREERMENESH
EENREREMRA

HhEs
RATWINEEBRET - MAHHRE
N2FNEBR/ARE - EBRS - BN
REBNEEEBTEMNATE - £H
ARBHERZIEBEERE L2 IR
SENEERMBIRRN - AEENEE
BETHASNIIEEY  BAARE
EMBENRNNEBIERZIER
B - AREEEESHNINERZ NS
B 5 HHMERS BRNEEBERS
iR o UMNSSHEMEREER BT
BREMARRITHNEEBERRE - &
ERREERIEE R NN ES
REERD



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the Company and the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the
Company and overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual Agreements

The Company does not directly or indirectly have legal
ownership in equity interest in certain of the PRC entities
(Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries).
However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to exercise power over these PRC entities,
receives variable returns from its involvement with these PRC
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over these PRC entities and is therefore considered
to have control over these PRC entities. Consequently, the
Company regards these PRC entities as controlled structured
entities and consolidated the assets, liabilities and results
of operations of these PRC entities in the year ended 31
December 2019.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their registered shareholders
are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and are legally binding and enforceable.
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31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue recognition: gross versus net

Application of various accounting principles related to the
measurement and recognition of revenue requires the Group
to make judgements and estimates. Specifically, significant
judgements are required in determining whether the Group
is acting as the principal in a transaction. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group controls the services
provided before they are provided to customers. If control
is unclear, the Group has to consider whether it is primarily
obligated in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk or has
latitude in establishing prices. The Group records revenue on
a gross basis when it acts as a principal in the transaction;
otherwise, it records revenue on a net basis. The judgement
of revenue recognition on a gross or net basis depends on the
continuing assessment of the above factors on a transaction
basis. The Group records revenue from the majority of its
mobile advertising services on a gross basis.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The Group has unrecognised
tax losses of RMB25,991,000 that are available for offsetting
against its future taxable profits as at 31 December 2019.
Further details are included in note 18 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2019
was RMB183,612,000 (2018: RMB183,612,000). Further
details are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type and customer

type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information (i.e., gross domestic product). At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable is disclosed in
note 19 to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Recognition of employee benefit expense for share
options/restricted share units (“RSUs”) granted

The Group operates a share incentive plan, i.e., the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme, under which employees render
service as consideration for equity instruments (RSUs and
share options) of the Company, for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including executive and non-executive directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, which are equity-settled transactions. The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees for share options
or RSUs granted should be measured by reference to the
fair value of the share options or RSUs at the grant date and
the replacement date. The cost of equity-settled transactions
is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The total fair values of the share options or RSUs at respective
grant dates and the replacement date were valued using
the Hull-White Enhanced ESO Valuation model. Significant
estimates on assumptions, such as the risk-free interest rate,
expected volatility and dividend yield and expected forfeiture
rate, are required to be made by the directors and are
disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements.
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A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has four reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@ Mobile advertising services segment;
(b)  Online-video distribution services segment;
() Game co-publishing services segment; and

(d) “Others” segment comprises, principally, the Group’s IT
development and related services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on segment
revenue and segment cost of each operating segment. The
selling and distribution expenses, research and development
costs and administrative expenses are not included in the
measure of the segments’ performance which is used by
management as a basis for purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment. Other income and gains, other
expenses and losses, finance costs, share-based payment
expense, loss on termination of convertible bonds, fair value
losses on preferred shares, fair value losses on warrants, fair
value losses on convertible bonds and income tax expense
are also not allocated to individual operating segments.

The revenue from external customers reported to
management is measured as segment revenue, which is the
revenue derived from the customers in each segment. Cost
of sales primarily represents distribution expenses paid to
distribution channels.

Other information, together with the segment information,
provided to management, is measured in a manner consistent
with that applied in the financial statements. There was no
separate segment asset and segment liability information
provided to management, as management does not use
this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEHEEE (E)
(continued)
The segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2019 BBE_Z-NER-_ZF—-NF+=H
and 2018 is as follows: =t+—HIEFEENIHREOT -
2019 2018
—B-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Type of goods or services MR YRR
Mobile advertising services BEESRE 2,276,362 1,443,338
Online-video distribution services MR BIEE D BIR 101,636 67,442
Game co-publishing services TR R AR TS 18,189 10,459
Others HAth - 25,077
Total revenue from contracts with customers & F & A EE 2,396,187 1,546,316
Timing of revenue recognition Wi 25 T SR B
Services transferred at a point in time 1 R E R B R AR TS - 21,698
Services transferred over time BB B S i R PR % 2,396,187 1,524,618
Total revenue from contracts with customers & FE &KLY EE 2,396,187 1,546,316
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_ZE—hhEFE+=-A=+—HLEEE
are as follows: WD EREENT -
Mobile  Online-video Game
advertising distribution co-publishing
services services services Total
BoES HBHEIIE IEEREHE
IR¥ ERSBERE RRH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR AREFR

Segment revenue 2 EBE 2,276,362 101,636 18,189 2,396,187
Segment cost of sales DEBHERA 1,966,538 51,105 9,231 2,026,874
Segment results DEEE 309,824 50,531 8,958 369,313
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. HESEIEE (B)
(continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-Z—N\GE+-A=+—HLEFE
are as follows: D EREENT ¢
Mobile  Online-video Game
advertising  distribution  co-publishing
services services services Others Total
R EmDBRE FR#% Htty a5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AR%Tn ARBTT AR%TT AR%TR
Segment revenue 2 EE 1,443,338 67,442 10,459 25,077 1,546,316
Segment cost of sales D EREERAR 1,264,739 36,324 7,358 284 1,308,705
Segment results DEEE 178,599 31,118 3,101 24,793 237,611
The major customers which contributed more than 10% of BE-_E-—NEr=_FE-—-N\F+=ZH=
the total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2019 and +-—HILEEERBRBARIFEI0%H

2018 are listed below: FEEXFITRAT !
2019 2018
—EB-hE —E-)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Mobile advertising services: BERESRE
Customer A ZEA - 162,527
Online-video distribution services: PR RIEE D BRI - -
Game co-publishing services: TR ECERT - =
Others: Hi - -
Note: MIEE -

- represents no customer contributing more than 10% of the total

revenue for that year.

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and earns
substantially all of the revenue from external customers

located in Mainland China.

- EZFIETFEMBAEANE

10% °

FEEERAEFEAELEE - FIREXR
BB W 2 2R B A R R Bl K BE B9 M ER B

F o

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018,
substantially all of the non-current assets of the Group were
located in Mainland China.
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CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wr#s « HiUg A\ Bl iz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BRI DWAOT -
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEAIBI Kz

Mobile advertising services BEESRE 2,276,362 1,443,338

Online-video distribution services RERIRIEE D B IRTE 101,636 67,442

Game co-publishing services P B AR TS 18,189 10,459

Others HAt - 25,077
2,396,187 1,546,316

() Disaggregated revenue information () EnirzlimEs

The revenue from contracts with customers by type of
goods or services, geographical markets and timing of
revenue recognition by segment is disclosed in note 4 to
the financial statements.

The revenue from contracts with customers is as same
as the amounts disclosed in the segment information.

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included HERNRMEHANENEBA
in contract liabilities at the beginning ~ BRAJURE :
of the reporting period:
Mobile advertising services BEESRE

BERIRBEL - wETHER
RO MEAREZNEEEINE
F & # W as i B 35 3R 3k i iE 4 3

B

O

EFEAREES BEHREN
EREAAE o

TRETRRER RS HEEIR
BEHDNENEEA RN WS
B

2019 2018
—g-n%E  —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

147,043 12,302
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Mobile advertising services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within one to three months from the date of billing,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required.

Online-video distribution services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within three to twelve months from the date of billing,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required.

Game co-publishing services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within one to three months from the date of billing,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required.
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wik - Hibug A\ Rk (58)
(continued)
(i) Performance obligations (continued) (i) BHEEE)
Others Hith
The performance obligation is satisfied upon rendering BREERRHRBRE FER
of the services and customers’ acceptance confirmation, BREET TRBEEBEHZEA
and payment is generally due within three to six months EE=ZXEAREIE -

from the date of billing.

The amount of transaction prices allocated to the R+=ZB=+—8 2BZEF
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or BB CRERS IO REK)
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December is as follows: MR ZERSRENT
2019 2018
—F—-NE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFRT ARBTT

Amount expected to be recognised as FEEIISER BINFHI ST

revenue:

Within one year —FR 99,631 147,043
The amount disclosed above does not include variable FYBEESETBESORY
consideration which is constrained. aJERE o
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31 December 2019
=F-NEFF+=A=t-H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WEs » Hibg A\ Rlgas (8)
(continued)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: HWARKEDFOT
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBT

Other income and gains HA A R W
Conference service income, net SRR FEE 436 3,953
Bank interest income RITREWA 4,335 110
Investment income REWA - 161
Government grants* BURF R B 8,592 5,652
Foreign exchange gain, net INEE W AR FEE - 1,641

Additional deduction for value BEBINET R
added tax 10,418 -
Others Hity 727 144
24,508 11,661

* Certain government grants have been received by subsidiaries * REEHIBD FARRE HIBTES

of the Company from the local government authorities as TEE A TSR R BT -

encouragement and support for innovation and development.
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. BeBiAnEF (F51E)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBNRBADER, (BE) LHBR
(crediting): GFTAVUTBIBREE !
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hi=E ARETT ARET T
Cost of services, net of purchase BRAE AR AR - NBREREE 0
rebate 2,026,874 1,308,705
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 13,14,16 16,703 12,616
Auditor’s remuneration ZE BN 2,220 1,750
Minimum lease payments under KREHETHREREN
operating leases £ - 3,721
Lease payments not included inthe  FRRHEEEETE RN
measurement of lease liabilities HEMAR 2,423 =
Listing expenses* Empxkt 2,713 44,014
Employee benefit expense (excluding EEEABE X (FTEEE
directors’ and chief executive’s EREFETHAENS
remuneration (note 8))A: B (FfFEE8) ) A
Wages and salaries TERFSE 67,016 36,128
Pension scheme contributions/AA BIREFTEIEFAA 8,019 5,575
Share-based payment expense VARR 10 5 B 19 43 57X BE
53 51,210 8,027
126,245 49,730
Fair value losses on preferred shares B %R A FEEE - 217,123
Fair value losses on warrants RIREFEN AT EEE - 261,791
Fair value losses on convertible bonds A #28% &%\ FEEE - 3,202
Loss on termination of convertible #IE R RES P EE
bonds - 14,270
Impairment of accounts receivable*  FEUBRFUR{E* 19 5,960 134
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net* SMEEE, /(W)
R 2,681 (1,641)
Profit/(loss) on disposal of items of ~ HEWE - MERRE
property, plant and equipment 1E B KER(B5E) 1 -
Bank interest income RITRIEUA 5 (4,335) (110)
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31 December 2019
=F-NEFF+=A=t-H

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued)

*

Impairment of accounts receivable and foreign exchange losses
are included in “Other expenses and losses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, and foreign exchange gains are
included in “Other income and gains” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

A Employee benefit expense excluding share-based payment
expense are included in “Cost of sales”, “Selling and
distribution expenses”, “Research and development costs” and
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

AN At 31 December 2019, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in
future years (2018: Nil).

# It represents listing expenses that are charged to “Administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

6. B

AN

Bianam#l, - (B58) (&)

FEUR FURE M IMNE B RFT A AR
RN [ E AR BRI - ok
EWmAt A EEERAR [ EbR
AR

BERNFAS (TREARD BER
N RFASORIAGZABERAN [
ERA] [HERDHFA ] - [H1%
BRA IR TR T o

RZE-NF+ZA=+—8 &%
BB B2 WA A E R
RERERARFEOHFI(ZF-N
FE)

HigaRaBaR PR TR 90
Brr EmRASE

7. BERE

HEBEHANDHWT
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFT ARBTT

Interest expenses FEBX
- Bank borrowings —RITERK 12,798 4,346
- Loans from employees - RBEEEMNER - 242
- Convertible bonds (note 27) — AR &S (MiEE27) - 1,628
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14) HESBEMNFIE (MEE14) 323 -
13,121 6,216
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EFERERSITEIASFIN
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, REBEBHIAEFSLWR(TLEHR
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of all) - FE N BMEHIZE383(1)@) ~ (b)
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), C)RMHER AR (KEESMEER)
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies ROl 2B EN AR FEESEREST
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of BAEFHMMOT :
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2019 2018
—F-NE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFR ARBT T

Fees: wE

Directors ) 531 87

Other emoluments: HifNE :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEEBYRNGZ 2,781 558

Share-based payment expense LR BER AR - 517

Pension scheme contributions BIRSETEIMHR 108 107
2,889 1,182
3,420 1,269
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31 December 2019
=F-NEFF+=A=t-H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERmE{TBASRHMN
REMUNERATION (continued) )
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@) BILIEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FAZNFEILFHTEENE
during the year were as follows: W :
2019 2018
—B-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARBT T
Mr. Chen Baoguo® PBREE Bl e 177 29
Mr. Liang Zhanping® R RS 177 29
Ms. Zhao Xuemei® HHEMg L Lo 177 29
531 87
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRWEENFBIFEHITES
independent non-executive directors during the year WEMEE (ZFE—N\F : #) o
(2018: Nil).
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) ITEE > ERITEERRS
and the chief executive TEAS
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE_FT-NIE+-A=+—H
WL
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses contributions remuneration
e EE DURMAELRE BiE
e REVIZ BEREX BHEEEA bz
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Gao Dinan'2 SEL PR - 864 - 28 892
Mr. Zheng Wei? [ - 884 - 28 912
Ms. Zhou Yan® 5] e - 750 - 36 786
Non-executive directors: FBTES:
Ms. Xie Guowang?”’ HEEL L2 - - - - -
Mr. Song Chunyu? RERELE? - - - - -
Mr. Zhu Jing?? RERES - - - - -
Mr. Chen Tao* BRELE - 283 - 16 299
- 2,781 - 108 2,889
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERESITBIASHM
REMUNERATION (continued) (%)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) BITESE  ERITEERRS
and the chief executive (continued) TBAE (&)
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_FT—-)N\E+=-H=+—H
IEEE
Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses contributions remuneration

¥ 2 URHAER BifE
e  REWNE OOEREx SERR FHeE
RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR ARETRT ARETR

Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Gao Dinan'? BHREEE? - 183 - 47 230
Mr. Zheng Wei? BfR 42 = 272 - 25 297
Ms. Zhou Yan® B ts - 103 517 35 655
Mr. Ho Kyung Shik® ESEEES - - - - -
Mr. Xu L#? BRBELS - - - - -
Mr. Fang Yuan® RS - - - - -
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Ms. Xie Guowang?’ HEE L2 - - - - -
Mr. Song Chunyu? REMEE? - - - - -
Mr. Zhu Jing? REFHE? - - - - -

= 558 517 107 1,182

—E-NEFH BwSEHARAS 183



Notes to the Financial Statements

PRSI

31 December 2019

—Z-hFt+=A=t+—-8

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

1

Mr. Gao Dinan is the chief executive of the Company.

Mr. Gao Dinan and Mr. Zheng Wei were designated as
executive directors of the Company, and Mr. Zhu Jing, Mr.
Song Chunyu and Ms. Xie Guowang were appointed as
non-executive directors of the Company effective from 15
June 2018.

Mr. Ho Kyung Shik, Mr. Xu Li and Mr. Fang Yuan resigned
as directors of the Company with effect from 15 June
2018.

Mr. Chen Tao was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company effective from 23 September 2019.

Ms. Zhou Yan was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 15 June 2018. Prior to her appointment,
Ms. Zhou Yan was an employee of the Group. The
remuneration received by Ms. Zhou Yan from the Group
prior to her appointment as executive director was not
included as directors’ remuneration above since the
services provided by her to the Group was not in the
capacity of director of the Company.

Mr. Chen Baoguo, Mr. Liang Zhanping and Ms. Zhao
Xuemei were appointed as independent non-executive
directors of the Company with effect from 3 November
2018.

Ms. Xie Guowang resigned as a non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 7 January 2020.

Mr. Zhu Jing resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 23 September 2019.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.
REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year and in prior years, share options/RSUs
were granted to directors and the chief executive of
the Group in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share incentive plan of the Company, further
details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements. The fair value of these options, which
has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
over the vesting periods, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration
disclosures.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2018: Nil).

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9.

The five highest paid individuals during the year include
director and the chief executive of nil (2018: one director),
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the five (2018:
remaining four) highest paid individuals who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

EERESTHA SN

(48)
REFARBEFE  REARQF
R M RBTE - AEEESK
RE{THRAERAERAEEIREMH
RGERBREZRHERDE
f - HE-SHBHRPBIRE
FizE29 - HHEBREN D FED
REBHATESERER LN
R BHEEERNAFENBR
RABRNWESHECT ARNREER
RETHRASNKZFMBES -

FR - BEESHIHKSTHAE
A RARZREEMFHM
ZH(ZZ-NF  §) -

hABREHMAL

R BERGHMA T TREEAE
ERBETHAR(CE-NF: —F
HE) o HHHEERN LS -
FREE(CB-N\F  HTHE)H
BHMAL (LHAAAEBRBBT

BAB)WHMEENT
2019 2018

—B-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFT ARBTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e  EMREYRZ 3,059 1,042
Share-based payment expense D5 BERNAREX 38,692 256
Pension scheme contributions BIREEHEIMHERR 179 385

41,930 1,683
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9.
(continued)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid individuals whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

AEmGHMALT (E)

FESKIBRSTHRAEBNRSHMA
THHMARATEENABINT

Number of employees

EEXE
2019 2018
e S 2 —E-N\EF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£2%1,000,0007% T - 4
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,0017% 7t 24,000,000 7T 1 —
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 7L £ 7,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 7T £ 7,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 11,000,001 7% 7t £ 11,500,0005% 7T 1 =
HK$20,500,001 to HK$21,000,000 20,500,001 7% 7t £21,000,0005 7T 1 =
5 4

During the year and in prior years, share options/RSUs were
granted to the non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid individuals of the Group in respect of their services to
the Group, under the share incentive plan of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements. The fair value of these options, which has been
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting
periods, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid individuals’ remuneration disclosures.
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10. INCOME TAX

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Islands income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
The income tax expenses of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 represented current tax expenses
related to the Group’s operations in Mainland China and
deferred tax.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in Mainland China was calculated at the tax rate
of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for the periods, if
applicable, based on the existing legislation, interpretations
and practice in respect thereof, except for two PRC
subsidiaries, which are entitled to a preferential tax treatment
of 15% for three years since obtaining the qualification if they
continue to be qualified as a “new high technology enterprise”
in the three years.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-hFt+=A=t+—H

10. Frfa#i

AABRBEFREREEETMAYL - B
BABMBAESHBMENR

REBEZ-Z-—NER=-Z-N\F+=H
=+—HIEFE  AEEREBIRE
EERERFURF  BURFHREEBRIE
FRE - AEERBEZE-Z—-NER=
Z—-N\FE+ZA=+—HILEENFE
BB IR B E B KRB E
B REER EABR RV EN AR TE R X -

RIBPEARENRITEAR  RERE
Bl > AEE B AR E KK R
YT S L B IR B FAR L e T FERRBUE R
25% MBRETE (MER) - HERE
[EHERIMEE ERE=FNHEZE
BRERTEREE=ZF15%NEEH
ZR B 7 ] R R Y 2 RIBR OB o

2019 2018
—T-hEFE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T

Current — Mainland China BUER — h B KR
Charge for the year FAMX 53,241 31,736
Deferred IRRE 3,680 (10,921)
Total tax charge for the year FABIEFA B 56,921 20,815
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss)
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as follows:

10. Fife®i (/&)
BARARAERIDWELQREEME
B EREBAEER R EHBADER],
(BB EABIAMY - BREEHR
SHEOTIERXAERAT ¢

2019 2018
it B —B-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETT

Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADEF (E518) 162,655 (400,726)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) BETER R (25%) 5T EHFIIE 40,664 (100,181)
Lower rates for specific provinces or HSTE B 10 S it 5 MR AR A 2 B
enacted by local authority BB (3,457) (6,072)
Effect of different tax rates in different FRITAEEE R R RN L
jurisdictions 153 65
Expense not deductible for tax FHHASIEZNER 15,517 133,549
Tax losses utilised SEARIEERE - (10,697)
Tax losses not recognised RERMNBIEEER 4,044 4,151
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate RN EB B R EHNHIE
FIx 56,921 20,815

11. DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/loss per share amount
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,210,716,350 (2018:
777,848,095) in issue excluding the treasury shares during the
year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
As the Group incurred loss for the year ended 31 December
2018, the potential ordinary shares were not included in the
calculation of diluted loss per share, as their inclusion would
be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share amount for
the year ended 31 December 2018 is the same as the basic
loss per share amount of the respective year.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

12. BABEBERGA ARG
BREF, (FE)

BREARRF,(BR)SEDEREAE
ERAREEREFEABRGERE
),/ (B8 ) L% 1,210,716,3508% (=
T—)\F 777,848,095 R) B RTEBE
BB (R EIEEFRRD) 8 EF 98 m
B -

BREBRR (BB BBRERT
ESNNEBRIEFHIBMBRRAER
BESHETENEERIICERME
"”'E'tﬂ HRAEERBE-ZT-/N\F
TZA=T—BLLFEREER 8
"”’_J‘]ﬂ%&,ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂfl,ﬂﬁ)& EEEBR
 ARFTARSEERBESE - B
1t|: BE-Z-/\Ft+-A=t—HL
FENSREESESHREAREEN
BREAFESFTMERE -

BREARBEFEENAEDIERUT

on: RIF
2019 2018
—B-AE —B-N\E
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to TEEREAREERRN,
ordinary equity holders of the parentused |SIERFIANE A TIZE
in the basic and diluted profit/loss per BRHEE AREERERN,
share calculation (RMB’000) (B18) (AR%T ) 105,734 (421,541)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR SREARZEF],

in issue during the year used in the basic (BB sTEME 8T

earnings/(loss) per share calculation LB IR E 1,210,716,350 777,848,095
Effect of dilution — weighted average number 158 22— 18 IR AV hnAE

of ordinary shares: P

RSUs 52 BRI AR 40 PR %) 59,504,829 -

1,270,221,179 777,848,095

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (expressed EREARRR,(EE) RMBO0.09 RMB(0.54)

in RMB per share) (LBRAR¥TIIR) AE#0.095t AR#(0.54) 7T
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (expressed EIRE#ERR,(FE) RMB0.08 RMB(0.54)

in RMB per share) (UERARETIIR) AR#0.08t AK¥(0.54)7T
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31 December 2019
=F-NEFF+=A=t-H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - MERRE
Electronic Transportation Leasehold
devices equipment improvements Total
i ERRE HAEmERe dct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AREFT AREFR AREFR

31 December 2019 —E-NE
+=-A=+-—H
At 1 January 2019 R=Z—-hE
—A—H
Cost BAR 1,861 943 193 2,997
Accumulated depreciation Rt (1,403) (252) (136) (1,791)
Net carrying amount IREFE 458 691 57 1,206
At 1 January 2019, net of R=Z—-hE
accumulated depreciation —A—B"
MREFITE 458 691 57 1,206
Additions B 459 - - 459
Disposals HE 1) - - (1)
Depreciation provided during ~ FRFHEMNITE
the year (334) (317) (57) (708)

At 31 December 2019, netof ~ RZ=ZE—hEF

accumulated depreciation +=ZA=+—-8"
MREFITE 582 374 - 956
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hE
+=ZA=+—H
Cost BA 2,302 943 193 3,438
Accumulated depreciation e (1,720) (569) (193) (2,482)
Net carrying amount BREFE 582 374 - 956
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Notes to the Financial Statements

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

MSERME

31 December 2019
—E-AF+=A=+—H

13. X « MERRE (E)

Electronic  Transportation Leasehold
devices equipment  improvements Total
ETRBE E@mRe HEWMEERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
31 December 2018 —E-0\E
+-A=+—H
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F
—A—H
Cost AR 1,599 - - 1,599
Accumulated depreciation FiHRE (932) - - (932)
Net carrying amount REFE 667 - - 667
At 1 January 2018, net of RZE-N\F
accumulated depreciation —-A—B>
HBRRFHTE 667 - - 667
Additions B 151 - - 151
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EEKT B A E]
(note 31) (BfEE31) 111 943 193 1,247
Depreciation provided during ~ FRFHRIINE
the year (471) (252) (136) (859)
At 31 December 2018, netof ~ R=Z—/\F
accumulated depreciation +ZB=+—-8"
HBRRFHTE 458 691 57 1,206
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+ZA=+—H
Cost AR 1,861 943 193 2,997
Accumulated depreciation FiHE (1,403) (252) (136) (1,791)
Net carrying amount IREFE 458 691 57 1,206
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31 December 2019
—E-NFt=A=1—H

14. LEASES 14. 8
The Group as a lessee AREEARBEAN
The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its AEEREEEXKFAPRLAEYHER
operations. Leases of office premises generally have lease FINHESH  c MAEYENWHRERE
terms between 2 and 3 years, and some have lease terms FEMEZE=FMNHEE  HFoiIE12E
of 12 months or less. Generally, the Group is restricted from BEUTHEE - —RME @ AEEE
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the mAKEUNEER S HEEEELH
Group. ZPRE o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEESESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets FR o AEENERAEEENER
and the movements during the year are as follows: HERSENT :
Office premises
WA
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2019 R=—ZE—NF—HA—H 6,210
Additions nNE 2,175
Depreciation charge ERX (3,062)
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hhE+=ZA=+—H 5,323
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

14. LEASES (continued) 14. 5 ()
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEEBRBEAN (E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HE&EE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FR HEEENRAERESR
movements during the year are as follows: mr
Lease liabilities
HEARE
RMB’000
AR®BTR
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 R-E-—hF—A—AMNEREE 6,512
New leases HEE 2,175
Accretion of interest recognised during the year & R#ERHF S 12E 323
Payments OB (3,808)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NF+=-A=+—H
HYBRME(E 5,202
Analysed into: pagiip= I
Current portion BNHAER 2 3,638
Non-current portion JEBNHAER 1,564
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HESEH T NE SRR
note 39 to the financial statements. T39I E o
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

14. LEASES (continued) 14. fAE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AREEEEBEAN (B)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) THEEMREERHSENT

to leases are as follows:

2019
k- B3
RMB’000
ARETT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEERNE 323
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENERX 3,062
Expense relating to short-term leases and other B2 HifAE R A THBAR =T N
leases with remaining lease terms ended on F+ZA=+T—HRZAHERN
or before 31 December 2019 (included in HthfAE (MBI REERSAT
expenses and cost of sales) BR) BB 2,147
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets EBEEEEERE (MBI REER
(included in expenses and cost of sales) ARVIER) BN 276
Total amount recognised in profit or loss REZRERNALE 5,808
(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash (d HERSRHAERERREN
outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced AR EMRER AR RKIR SR ERE
are disclosed in notes 32 (c) and 35, respectively, to the FEIRRMIFES2(c) M35 & ©
financial statements.
15. GOODWILL 15. EE&
2019 2018
—F-NE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFR ARETT

At 1 January: B—A—HB:

Cost and net carrying amount BN % BREFHE 183,612 448
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) W BB R RS~ 7] (FHEE31) - 183,164
Cost and net carrying amount FRERARREFE

at end of the year 183,612 183,612
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15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (the “CGU”), which are
reportable operating segments, for impairment testing:

o Online-video distribution CGU; and

° Game co-publishing CGU.

Online-video distribution CGU

The recoverable amount of the online-video distribution CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 21.6% (2018: 25.6%). The growth rate used to extrapolate
the cash flows of the online-video distribution CGU beyond
the five-year period is 3% (2018: 3%). The directors of the
Company believes that this growth rate is discreet given the
future uncertainty of the global macro economy and market.

Game co-publishing CGU

The recoverable amount of the game co-publishing CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by senior management. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31
December 2019 is 43.2% (2018: 38.5%). The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the game co-publishing
CGU beyond the five-year period is 3% (2018: 3%). The
directors of the Company believes that this growth rate is
discreet given the future uncertainty of the global macro
economy and market.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

15. BHE (8&)

B iR (E A
BREBRSHNENEED SRR
TEUREEEIBNREELEN
(TREEEEM DETRERR -

e WEEREEERIBRESELES
I, &

s BHEBEREELERN -

PEREER D BIREEEEMN
PERIEERD BB S ELE BN
O&ENRBERALSREEBIEN
HENRELFPEUBEENRSRE
R ENFERAEEETE - BANRRS
REFERNRATBIEEA21.6%(ZF
— N\ :25.6%) - AREERKRIE
ERSBRESELBENAFHBER
EHRENEREREIN(ZE—N\F :
3%) c ARBRESBRE  EEFZIR
ZERERTISNRRIEEY » 2
RERAEE-

BEEEIR SRR
FEBERSEESEMMNITIREESEET)
BERACSREEEBIENEN RS
hFEHEMEEENRSRERAF
ENFAEEEE -R-ZF—NF+
Z—HA=t+—H BERARBEEREFER
MR ATBE IR R B43.2% (=2 — \F :
38.5%) c ANEEREHERSELE
BUNRAFHBEZBESRENERRS
3% (ZB—N\F :3%) - KATEER
B ERIEZHREZELERTHHARR
THEEM  ZERERAEE-
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

15. GOODWILL (continued) 15. B2 (&)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
CGUs are as follows:

PTEEEREELEMNEHEREEN
T

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT AREET T

Online-video distribution B RIBE M B 183,164 183,164
Game co-publishing TR 448 448
183,612 183,612

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
CGU. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Revenue growth rates — The basis used to determine
the revenue growth rate is the historical data of the CGU,
management’s expectation of the future market and the
average growth rate achieved by comparable companies.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the above CGU and discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

The directors of the Company assessed that, the recoverable
amount of the CGUs would still exceed the carrying amounts
of the CGUs if there is a reasonably possible change in
a key assumption on which management has based its
determination of the CGU'’s recoverable amounts. Therefore,
no impairment was considered necessary.
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CPEE e

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HhEREE

O

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

Commercial Customer
resources Software relationship Total
BEER B EFRR% st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
31 December 2019 —B-hE
+=-A=+-—H
At 1 January 2019 R=Z—-hE
—A—H
Cost BA 20,152 6,165 25,000 51,317
Accumulated amortisation Rt (8,957) (998) (4,041) (13,996)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,195 5,167 20,959 37,321
Cost at 1 January 2019, netof RAZZ—HF
accumulated amortisation —A—BHAA
MRE T 11,195 5,167 20,959 37,321
Amortisation provided FRFHREH
during the year (6,717) (1,216) (5,000) (12,933)
At 31 December 2019, netof ~ R=ZT—AF
accumulated amortisation +=A=+—-8"
MEREFHEH 4,478 3,951 15,959 24,388
At 31 December 2019 R=Z—N1F
+=A=+-A
Cost 2% 20,152 6,165 25,000 51,317
Accumulated depreciation e (15,674) (2,214) (9,041) (26,929)
Net carrying amount BRENFE 4,478 3,951 15,959 24,388
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—E-NEtZA=t-A

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. HhEREE (&)

Commercial Customer
resources Software relationship Total
B*ER o} BEFEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARET T
31 December 2018 —B-\F
+=-A=+-—H
At 1 January 2018 R-Z-N\&F
—A—H
Cost BAR 20,152 - - 20,152
Accumulated amortisation Rt (2,239) - - (2,239)
Net carrying amount HREHE 17,913 - - 17,913
Cost at 1 January 2018, netof AZZE—/\F
accumulated amortisation — B — B
MRE G 17,913 - - 17,913
Additions RE - 165 - 165
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB AR
(note 31) (BIEE31) - 6,000 25,000 31,000
Amortisation provided FAFHRAEEE
during the year (6,718) (998) (4,041) (11,757)
At 31 December 2018, netof ~ RA=ZE—/\F
accumulated amortisation +=ZA=+—81"
MR EFTEEH 11,195 5,167 20,959 37,321
At 31 December 2018 R=Z-N\&
+T=HA=+—H
Cost BAR 20,152 6,165 25,000 51,317
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (8,957) (998) (4,041) (13,996)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,195 5,167 20,959 37,321
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7} i‘%iﬁ%lﬂﬁi@

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Intangible assets recognised in 2018 were related to the
software and customer relationship associated with the business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. On 12 March 2018, the Company
issued 12,024,632 Class B ordinary shares to acquire a 100%
equity interest in Shanghai ChiLe. The software of RMB6,000,000
was recognised, which is valued by an independent valuer using
“excess profit” method of discounting the future expected net
profits of Shanghai ChiLe generated from the software. The
customer relationship of RMB25,000,000 was recognised.

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

16. HitE\REE (&)
fE -

(@)

REZT— N\FREROEFEEY K HE
EEHREREMHERNRGRES
MR N N\F=ZA+=H K
AN R)EE1T12,024,632 BB EE T3 AL A
Wi g 2 20 - AR
#6,000,0007CE FHER + JYRBEL
H1ERT{E A [ BEEFE AAS L m s
B B PR AE R SR B HAAT I 8L BR M 4
B - ®EFBEARE25,000,0007CE
THER ©
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31 December 2019
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. REEZEATMIRE
2019 2018
—T-hEF —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Share of net assets PMEEEFE (326) =

Goodwill on acquisition BB R R 2 1,200 -
874 -

Particulars of the material associate are as follows: BARBENTNERBAOT ¢

Percentage of

ownership
Particulars of Place of interest
registered incorporation attributable Principal
Name share capital and business to the Group activity
st AL 3L FEEES
&% N REBHE FREESL IEXH
Beijing Youbei Digital RMB10,000,000 Beijing 40 Research and
Technology Co., Ltd. development of
innovation technology
Beijing Youbei Digital ARH 5l 40  REERIFTRA
Technology Co., Ltd. 10,000,000t
The Group’s shareholdings in the associate all comprise REE R N R B IR ERREm)I
equity shares held by Sichuan Wanka. TMSE NERRD
The financial year of the above associate is coterminous with SRk ) B Y B B R B AR SR [ Y B
that of the Group. BEEEE -
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31 December 2019
—E-AF+=A=+—H

18. DEFERRED TAX 18. EIEFHIE
The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as EEFEEEREBEWESNT !
follows:
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE

At 1 January 2019 R=ZB-1%F
—A—H - 9,762 8 9,770
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ERRABZEET A/
profit or loss during the year ($0FR) HOIEFER 18 1,300 (6,476) 1,276 (3,900)
Gross deferred tax assets RZE-NE+=A
at 31 December 2019 =+ —HHELERE
BERE 1,300 3,286 1,284 5,870
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEE

At 1 January 2019 R-E-NF—F—H - 5,973 5,973

Deferred tax credited to profit or ~ FERFT A Bz AR IE
loss during the year 1,330 (1,550) (220)

Gross deferred tax liabilities RIE-NEF+ZB=+—HHK
at 31 December 2019 ERERIEE BEAE 1,330 4,423 5,753
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31 December 2019
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18. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 18. BEHIIE (&)
Deferred tax assets EEBRIEEE

At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—N\F—HA—H - - -

Deferred tax credited to profit or R AIBZEHIEIER

loss during the year b | 9,762 8 9,770
Gross deferred tax assets RZE-N\E+ZA=
at 31 December 2018 T+ —-HHELERIEE
E#E 9,762 8 9,770
Deferred tax liabilities BEBIEAE

At 1 January 2018 R=ZZE—-NE—H—H - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) BB A =) (FIEE31) 7,124 7,124
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FRFTABRIELERIE

during the year (1,151) (1,151)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R-ZZE-NFE+=-A=+—H

at 31 December 2018 FEELER IE B EE%E 5,973 5,973
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18. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-hFt+=A=t+—H

18. EEHIIE (&)

PMEHMS @ HETELEREEERAE
SRR RIEE - TIBAREEE
IEBIRARER D AT LAERIHEFRERE A9

2019 2018
—E-AE @ —B-\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Net deferred tax assets recognised inthe RSB FiIR N RIEDAIELE
consolidated statement of financial position FIBE EFE 4,596 9,770
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the R4RE ISR T RERKIEL
consolidated statement of financial position %18 & (&% 48 (4,479) (5,973)
Net deferred tax assets EERIEEEFE 117 3,797

The Group has tax losses of RMB39,134,000 (2018:
RMB55,981,000) that are available for offsetting against its
future taxable profits as at 31 December 2019. All of these
losses have arisen in Mainland China, and are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period
of five years of the companies in which the losses arose.

Among which, tax losses of RMB25,991,000
(2018:RMB16,932,000) have not been recognised as at 31
December 2019 as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008 if any.

R-ZE-NF+-A=+—H8  &x5H
7B AR S R SR FE SR B R MV FL BB 1B
AK#39,134,000 T (ZF—N\F : A
[S#£55,981,0007T) ° FTB=ZEEET
REPEAME > TEHEFSEENAT
&% A FHEMNRRERBRF]

H  RZZ2—-HEF+=ZA=+—1"
R R B IEE B A K %25,991,000
T (ZE—-N\F : AK¥16,932,000
7t AAZEEERIIHERIGESRS
EBE-BEENMEBARMESL  BF
A RIS FERR BRI AT A LUK S5 B U85

B

REBHEISHEMERE  RPBAER
M HINEIRE R E RPN IREE SRR
BAMBI10% AP - BEREE =
ZEN\F-A-ARERABBAR=-Z
EEEFT A=+ -HZEMEENK
i o BB ARESRINEIRE EFERDE
RE BT ARBERS - AITTEEAR
BEHFEINRE - gAKENS @ AR
RHB10% - Bt REBARZER
PEAERIOHMEARR -EENF
—A-HEELENEFN (WHE) DKW
RESMTAMBL o
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—E-NEtZA=t-A

18.

19.

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 18. IBREHIIE (&)
At 31 December 2019, no deferred tax liabilities have been RZZE-NE+ZA=+—8 » #Em
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on TR AR TE AN A 2 82 8] 1A R B KB A AL
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes HIFT B A BRI BE B B RIFE A R FEHIHL
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. MERELERIEEE - EERR - WE
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these AFREARRRRTKRAEE D IKZE
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable B - R=Z—NEF+=-A=+—8"
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences iei R MR AR AE 54 16 B 15 A A HP [ X Bk
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China BARRENEREZHEEHANBARYE
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised 226,258,000t (ZE—N\F : AR
totalled approximately RMB226,258,000 at 31 December 61,404,000) °
2019 (2018: RMB61,404,000).
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 19. FEMARTR
2019 2018
—T-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARMT T
Accounts receivable FEW AR 603,579 444,023
Impairment RE (6,094) (134)
Total st 597,485 443,889

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are partially on
credit. For some customers, payment in advance is hormally
required. For mobile advertising and game co-publishing
business, the credit period generally ranges from one to three
months for major customers. For online-video distribution, the
credit period generally ranges from three to twelve months.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a
certain concentration of credit risk as 36% (2018: 27%) of
the Group’s accounts receivable were due from the Group’s
five largest customers. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that these customers have a good track record with the
Group based on past experience and no significant changes
in credit quality are noted, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that there are no significant credit risks on the
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its accounts receivable balances.
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.
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31 December 2019
—E-hFt+=A=t+—H

19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 19. FEUCRRSR (&)
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end FEWER R (NBRESIBEE) RIEHI R
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of ERBEAMNIRRIAOT ¢

loss allowance, is as follows:

2019 2018
it B —B-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFR ARBT T

Within 3 months 3EAMA 495,766 420,469
3 to 12 months 3Z12{@R 73,573 15,739
1 to 2 years 1825 27,816 7,649
2 to 3 years 2%3F 330 32

597,485 443,889
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEWERFTRENEERENEEHNT

accounts receivable are as follows:

2019 2018
—EF-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBTT

At beginning of year F4 134 -
Impairment losses, net (note 6) REEEFEE (fEE6) 5,960 134
At end of year FR 6,094 134
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date AZRE B EAEL ARG ETRESD
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. o UUGtETAEEEERE - BEXRDE
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings REBHLIEEERANZERE 9248
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., BI(ENREER R EFER) BB X
by service type and customer type). The calculation reflects BETE ZGTENMEMENELER - &
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money MEENRREHEATENERBES
and reasonable and supportable information that is available I8 » BRI R AR R EIRETERINES
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions BENAZER R-_E—-NE+=-A=
and forecasts of future economic conditions.The impairment +—HREBEEEIENESHEEEE
loss as at 31 December 2019 was based on expected credit HE MEHEEEERBAESEEE
losses which is determined by historical credit loss experience IRESEE TN FRAIE M B REI TR o

and adjusted with forward-looking information.
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19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 19. FEURBREX (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure UT A RBEBAREEEREEERE
on the Group’s accounts receivable using a provision matrix: WERREERREONER
For mobile advertising services and game BHEERS RBEEHEER
co-publishing businesses
At 31 December 2019 R-ZT—-hE+=-A=+—H
Past due
B
Within 3 3to 12 1to2 Over 2
Current months months years years Total
B 3@k 3E12f8A 1E2f BiBoF @t
Expected loss rate BHEEE 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 19.230% 100.000% 0.742%
Gross carrying amount  FEEAE 415,375 23,639 78,991 20,785 3 538,793
(RMB’000) (AR®EFT)
Expected credit losses ~ FAHIEEEE - - - 3,907 3 4,000
(RMB’000) (AR®F 1)

At 31 December 2018

For mobile advertising services and game co-publishing
businesses, the expected credit loss rate for accounts
receivable is minimal. For online-video distribution business,
the impairment loss as at 31 December 2019 was based
on expected credit losses which is determined by historical
credit loss experience and adjusted with forward-looking
information.
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19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

For online-video distribution business

At 31 December 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements

WAL

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

19. FEMZARSR (&)

PERIREER Y BER
R-'B—-hE+=-A=+—H

Past due
L
Within 3 3to12 1t02 Over 2
Current months months years years Total
EP A 3fEAM 3F12fEA 1E25 HBif2F @t
Expected loss rate BHEEE 0.654% 0.854% 1.687% 9.039% 80.349% 3.232%
Gross carrying amount  SREIAME
(RMB’000) (AR®F 1) 43,982 13,170 2,655 3,298 1,681 64,786
Expected credit losses ~ FHEEFE
(RMB’000) (AR®F) 288 112 45 208 1,351 2,094
At 31 December 2018 R-ZB—-N\E+-A=+—H
Past due
B
Within 3 3t012 1to2 Over 2
Current months months years years Total
B AR 3ZE12{EA 122F B2 st
Expected loss rate BHEEE 0.055% 0.126% 0.710% 7.495% 50.761% 0.198%
Gross carrying amount  BREIAE
(RMB’000) (AR®F) 54,542 3,864 9,289 1 65 67,761
Expected credit losses ~ TAHif= &8
(RMB’000) (AR®EFT) 30 5 66 - 33 134
No accounts receivable were pledged to secure bank loans RZEBE—-IFE+ZHA=+—H #EA
and other loans as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). BERITER R EMERMIKFEIE
YRR (=T —NF &) o

—E-NFR BWMSBAERAS 207



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND OTHER ASSETS

20. TAIFRIE « H A FEWERIE K

Hib&EE

2019 2018
—g-n%E  —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT AR®TT

Non-current portion: FEENERER 2

Prepayments FERIR - 23,585
Current portion: BIHAER 2 -

Prepayments FE{IFIE 332,695 228,265
Deposits and other receivables ek EMmEWRFIE 58,300 47,533
Total wst 390,995 275,798

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

Since 1 January 2019, the Group has applied the general
approach to provide for expected credit losses of deposits
and other receivables prescribed by HKFRS 9. Impairment
of deposits and other receivables is assessed based on
12-month expected credit losses, which are the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that result from the default
events that are possible within the twelve months after the
reporting date. When there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime expected credit losses. To measure the expected
credit losses, deposits and other receivable have been
classified based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The expected credit losses are estimated by
applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The expected credit loss rate for
deposits and other receivables is minimal.

208 Wwanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019

ATA LSS S RE W R LRIT
MENTHRAPHIANEERRIE - R
“E-NER-F-NF+ZRA=1—
B BEREHFERRIME -

B-ZE-NF-A—-HE AEECE
REBUBERELERFIRRAEN—R
FEREERHEMRUGENRHREE
EEHRRE - RERAMBWRIAN
REDRERRS AR+ —@ART
REBRLENENSHMERN12EAE
HEEER (ZHMEMEFEERN -
2 )ETRHE - EERRBNRER
BmERN - A REEMEREEER
FHREME - REERBEEEE B
RHMEBWRECREAZEERRY
HRBMREETSE - HREEBE
DBZEXEEVBEBIERERAR/EL
REMEE - ARBRRURRERMNR
KRBT FER (WER) -
BERHMABRUGENRBEEBESR
BRI



Notes to the

Financial Statements

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 21. HERRESEEMLRER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS RER

2019 2018

—E-h%E —B-N\#F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBTT

Cash and bank balances RERRITER 253,791 197,508
Short term time deposits SHITERR 127,094 140,245

380,885 337,753
Less: Restricted cash: B ZREIES

Pledged time deposits for FIRITERIKIFNEREFR (118,595) (34,317)

bank loans (note 25) (HI5E25)

Bank deposits frozen for litigation R AR ERITER (920) =
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESEEY 261,370 303,436
Denominated in: T3 E8EHE -

- RMB —ARY 234,438 79,908

-UsD —%7T 26,910 1,309

- HKD BT 22 222,219

261,370 303,436
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, AREELIEHERAHMER o KR
under Mainland China’s prevailing rules and regulations over m > RIEDEAPES S IMNERIRITIR A
foreign exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB BER  REENERESERRINE
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct EBORITEAREHBRAHMEN -

foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily iR
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made )
for varying periods of between seven days and one year 2
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, &
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit )
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy B

banks with no recent history of default.

TERRENS ARTERINRNF
NZEFTE - EHEMERRTAEE
BERREFR  HHRNFERE—
HETE  HARZEHEREFR
RETE - MITEBRDERRBESE
ITHASRIE O FCSRAVIRTT A ©
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22.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

22. FEfTERFR

FEENENRFNBREPRENER
AEMEH A BRE DT T -

follows:
2019 2018
—F-NE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T
Within 1 year 1FR 84,924 48,318
1 to 2 years 1224 9,972 224
More than 2 years 2F Lk 40 =
94,936 48,542

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled on terms of 60 to 90 days.

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

ENRRTFE X —RRAEH60ZE

MHRALEER -

23. H{bREfHRIAR ERHRIA

2019 2018
—F-NE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR¥T T

Non-current portion: ERBHD
Other payables Hb S FRIR 500 500

Current portion: R

Payroll payable ESEHE 6,151 5,295
Listing expenses payables FEfS LB - 33,552
Other payables and accruals BB FER EFTFUE 29,337 14,701
35,488 53,548

Current portion of other payables and accruals are
non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three
months.

As a result of the initial application of HKFRS 16, accrued
lease payments of RMB302,000 previously included in “Other
payables and accruals” were adjusted to the right-of-use
assets recognised at 1 January 2019 (refer to note 2.2 to the
financial statements for further details).
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24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

. BHAE

Details of contract liabilities are as follows BHEEHBNOT :
31 December 31 December 1 January
2019 2018 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F —E-N\F
+=A=+—H +=HA=+-—H —H—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T ARET T

Short-term advances received EREFREEBX
from customers

Mobile advertising services BEESRE 97,511 138,505 12,302
Online-video distribution services #A4&RIBE R D 2RI 20 2,841 =
Game co-publishing services TR R AR TS 2,100 5,697 -
Total contract liabilities BHEERE 99,631 147,043 12,302

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
render mobile advertising services, online-video distribution
services and game co-publishing services. The decrease in
contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly due to the decrease in
short-term advances received from customers in relation to
the provision of mobile advertising services at the end of the
year. The increase in contract liabilities in 2018 was mainly
due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the provision of mobile advertising
services at the end of the year.

BHEBRRERRUBBRERY - A
ARG IRE fn 0 3R ARAS K e B SE AR S UK
HHEHMBR - —E-NFENEER
LEZRHRFREFFBREINEBE
HEBRERBOEHRRRD I
—E-\FNENEERTEMN . £
REAREREEFRIINEERHAZE
RE R E S BRIB IR o
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 25. R ERITIER

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings as at rEER-_Z—NFE+=-A=+—HH
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are as follows: —E-N\F+ZA=t+—HWFERIT
ERIFBENT

As at 31 December 2019
R-T—-NhE+=-H=+—H

Effective
contractual
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIRETHFIE(%) FIHAR ARETT
Current Bn &R
Bank loans — secured IRITER—FEM 3.830-4.900 2020 105,958
— unsecured — I 4.350-5.220 2020 130,000
235,958
As at 31 December 2018
R=Z—N\E+=-A=+—H
Effective
contractual
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BRRETHFIZE (%) 2R H ARET T
Current BN &R
Bank loans — secured IRITER —FEM 5.220 2019 30,000
- unsecured — IR 5.220-8.000 2019 116,000
146,000
2019 2018
—E-nE  —F-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFRT  ARMTR
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: EEERITER
Within one year or on demand —FRHIRER 235,958 146,000

235,958 146,000
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(@) As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank loans of (i)
RMB30,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits of
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB34,317,000)
provided by a subsidiary of the Company, Wanka Holdings
Limited; (ii) RMB20,000,000 was guaranteed by a third party,
Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-tech Financing Guaranty Co., Ltd.;
and (i) RMB20,000,000 was guaranteed by a third party, Beijing
Culture & Technology Financing Guaranty Co. Ltd..

(b)  Asat 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank loans of

(i

(vi)

(vii)

(vil

RMB105,958,000 was secured by pledged deposits
of US$16,999,973 (equivalent to approximately
RMB118,595,000) provided by a subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Holdings Limited;

RMB30,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and
two subsidiaries of the Company, namely, Wanka Holdings
Limited and Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd.;

RMB45,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and
board members, Gao Dinan and Zheng Wei;

RMB15,000,000 was guaranteed by the chairman of the
board, Gao Dinan and two subsidiaries of the Company,
namely, Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
and Huanju Shidai Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd.;

RMB20,000,000 was guaranteed by an independent third
party, Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-tech Financing Guaranty
Co., Ltd., which was counter guaranteed by the subsidiary
of the Company, Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing)
Co., Ltd,;

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by the chairman of the
board, Gao Dinan and an independent third party, Beijing
Zhongguancun Sci-tech Financing Guaranty Co., Ltd.;

RMB10,000,000 was guaranteed by an independent third
party, Beijing Haidian Tech-Enterprise Financing Guarantee
Co. Ltd., which was counter guaranteed by the chairman of
the board, Gao Dinan and the subsidiary of the Company,
Huanju Times Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd.; and

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by the chairman of the
board, Gao Dinan and an independent third party, Beijing
Capital Financing Guarantee Co. Ltd..

MEHRME

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

st BERITIERR (&)

i

N

A.

R-E—NF+-_A=1+—8 K&
B/ #R17E 5 () A R #30,000,0007T
AR R B B A B Bt Ak A BR A &)
IR£#95,000,000% 7T (HEERHAR
#34,317,0007T) 89 B IR 1F ;R AEK
¥ 1 (i) AR #20,000,000THE=H
IERPENEERERRERAAE
1%+ Raliii) A R #20,000,000TTHE =
FAEERm R R A R BR A A
IR -

RZBE-AF+-A=+—8 &1
RIMIRTTE P

(i AR#105,958,000 7L AR
AIMTEE R A IIE AR B R A A
REBHEMFH16,999,973
ET(HERHODARE
118,595,0007T ) #&1R :

(i)  AR®30,000,0007THARA A
RANR AR M B A m BT iz
R R A E RITMEE (L E
WAL BRA FREER

(i)  AR®45,000,0007THAA A
hEZEKESHE MEER
HER

(vy AR®15000,000tHEZE
EREBRDBEURKRBBMRM
BN E I mE B s 1 (4
R)ARRARREERASUE
BEGER)BER D AREE
1R

v) AR#20,000,000THEL
F=HARPEANMXEEE
RERDAREER - AAR
AP B A B I ER B S
(At ERABIRMETAE
PReE LR

v AR¥5,000,000TtHEES
ITREERERBYE=HIER
FEANBHERERRERAR
RULER

(i)  AR%10,000,0007THBLE
=t ERHR R A
RERARREER  HEF
CEERPERAARMBER
AEERAXEEEET)E
RO ETREERERE
R &

(vii) AR¥5,000,000/tHESE
FEERERBYE=FIR
BHEIRE BRER A AREE
Re
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

26. PREFERRED SHARES 26. Bt

The movement of preferred shares during the year ended 31
December 2018 is as follows:

BE—Z-\G+-A=+—HLEE
BEEREBUT

RMB’000

AREFT

At 1 January 2018 —E-N\F—A—H 259,944
Issuance of Series B+ and C preferred shares TR+ N CERE LR 92,431
New issue upon exercise of warrants TR RE R B T EE 1T 359,327
Fair value loss on preferred shares BERN AT EEIE 217,123
Converted to ordinary shares EAEBER (982,253)
Exchange realignment [ AR 53,428
At 31 December 2018 RZZB-NF+ZHA=+—H -

After the completion of the global offering of the shares of
the Company on 21 December 2018, all the convertible
redeemable preferred shares were converted to ordinary
shares of the Company. The fair value of each of the
convertible redeemable preferred shares is equivalent to the
fair value of each of the ordinary shares of the Company on
the conversion date, which is the offer price set at HK$3.56
per share in the global offering.
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS 27. T[{RAZ1E S REeIRIERE
The movement of the convertible bonds and warrants for the TRRESNAREEREZ-ZE—N
year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below: F+-A=1+—HIEFENEBHSIWM
g
Convertible

bonds Warrants

AR ES A

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 R=ZE—N\F—HA—H 25,297 41,358
Issue during the year FREBT 16,798 3,202
Fair value losses on warrants RREE AT EER = 261,791
Fair value losses on convertible bonds gRES AT EEE 3,202 =
Interest expense FEMAX 1,628 -
Repayment of convertible bonds BEARRKRES (28,669) -
Transfer to other payables ERE H SRR (18,256) -
Exercise of warrants TR RAES - (297,674)
Exchange realignment & 5 AR - (8,677)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-N\#F

+ZA=+—H = =
On 24 May 2018, all the warrants were exercised and the —E-NEFERA=-1TMA » FiBERKRE
convertible bonds were settled. The conversion rights of B ETFEREUBRBESNIEES
certain convertible bonds were terminated and an expense of EFoialRESNERED AR I
RMB14,270,000 was recognised as the difference between X AR#14,270,000 T AT AR
the fair value of convertible bonds and the amortised cost at B35 N FEEL B EAN 2 B
the termination date and the balance was transferred to other EFE ) MERER T HAENTIE o
payables.
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. k&
Issued
BT
Total par Total par
Company Authorised Number of value of Number of value of
NG number of ordinary ordinary treasury treasury
shares shares shares shares shares
EERNEE EERHE LERAEE EBEEROHE EEROLERE
‘000 ‘000 RMB ‘000 RMB
T Tk AR¥T Tk ARET
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA
and 31 December 2019 =t-BR=E-NF
+ZB=+-H 250,000,000 1,210,716 948 62,500 -
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital NATRANESERM AT -
was as follows:
Number of
ordinary
shares Issued Share
in issue capital premium Total
[EX:<h)
EBERYE CSBRORAE R R1E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTRT ARETR
At 1 January 2018 R=Z-NF—A—H 62,016,506 = 37,933 37,933
Issuance of new shares (Note (a))  Z¥1TH7R% (Hiz¥(a)) 20,038,039 - 312,648 312,648
Split shares by 1:10 (Note (b)) #1100 LBl 2 IR R 4D
(Mf=E(b) 738,490,905 - - -
Conversion from preferred shares BB LR E#

(Note (c)) (FitE(c)) 313,780,900 1 982,253 982,254
Global offering (Note (c)) 2IREE (i(c) 76,390,000 - 211,016 211,016
At 31 December 2018 R-Z—-N\FE+=A

and 31 December 2019 =t+-Hk

—E-hE+=A

=+—H 1,210,716,350% 1 1,543,850 1,543,851
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company AATRZE—NEFE+—A+BIEER
with limited liability under the laws of Cayman Islands EHEFHEFMRLEERRERS
on 7 November 2014 with an authorised share capital of FATF  EERAAE50,000ET 2
US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par #£500,000,000 f2 & IR EIf80.0001 E T
value of US$0.0001 each. Pursuant to the shareholders’ MR - BRER—_ZE—+F&+—HB+H
resolution passed on 15 November 2017, each of the issued HEBEBHRERER  EREETRE
and unissued shares was subdivided into 50 shares of the BITRHODIFRAEANDTS0ORESREE
Company with a par value of US$0.000002 each. 0.000002 = JTHYBR 17 ©
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@)

On 12 March 2018, the Company issued 12,024,632 Class B
ordinary shares to Goodluckshome Inc., a company wholly owned
by Mr. Hua Xinjiang, to acquire a 100% equity interest in Shanghai
ChiLe. For detailed information, please refer to note 32(a)(ii) to the
financial statements.

On 24 May 2018, all the warrants were exercised, pursuant to
which, the Company issued 5,682,100 Series A-1 preferred
shares, 2,105,200 Series B preferred shares, 605,993 Series B+
preferred shares and 3,927,350 Class B ordinary shares.

On 24 May 2018, the Company issued 4,086,057 Class B
ordinary shares to PICC Investment Fund SPC at a price
of US$8.61 per share with an aggregate consideration of
US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB63,816,000).

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 3 November
2018, each of the issued and unissued ordinary shares of
US$0.000002 par value was subdivided into 10 shares of the
Company with a par value of US$0.0000002 each.

On 21 December 2018, the Company was listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The total
number of offer shares under the global offering was 76,390,000
shares, and the offer price was HK$3.56 per share. Upon the
global offering, each of the issued and unissued preferred shares
was converted into one ordinary share of the Company of
US$0.0000002 par value.

The amount is less than RMB1,000.

Excluding 62,500,000 shares held by Wanka Alliance Limited as
at 31 December 2019.

(@)

MEHRME

31 December 2019
=EF-NEF+=A=t-H

28. fIx%& (&)
i

R-ZZ—NE=ZA+=-B &2
A][AlGoodluckshome Inc.(—%K &
EMIGRERERERN AR )BT
12,024,632k BIRE @AR LA M IE i
AR IRRIE - BRAFERER B
2B B 53R &R T E32(a) (i) ©

R-_ZE—N\ERA-_+WAB " fAE
RBREZDETE  BUEEAREE
%% 775,682,100 RA-1 IR E LK
2,105,200 3% Bém & 5L i% - 605,993 /%
B+ B LI 13,927,350 1k BA L iR
A% o

R-ZE—N\FRA-+WMA  AQ
AIAZA8.61FE LM EKMPICC
Investment Fund SPC%£174,086,057
AxBREE@AR - 421X{&710,000,000
Ex(HERHARY63,816,000
JL) °

BEBRER-_Z—N\F+—A=HA
BERER - SREE0.000002%
TLRIE BT AR BEITRGO H IR A108%
N2 )5 % {E0.0000002 3 TT A A%

{/\ ®

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H E&Q
AIRBEBBMERSBR AR ERE
e 2RBEBTRERGDEHA
76,390,000 i (5 + BHEBATR
356 c REIREEER - BREEHE
TRARBEITEAREERABEA R —
% T & 50.0000002 3 T HY @A

SET R ARE1,0007T °
TBFEWanka Alliance Limited? —

Z-NFFT A=+ —BFRHED
62,500,000 A 17 ©
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—E-NEtZA=t-A

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 29. LI BEREFTRR

The Group adopted the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme on
31 March 2016, under which employees render service as
consideration for equity instruments (RSUs and options) of
the Company.

The Company operates the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants. Eligible participants of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme include the Company’s directors and certain
employees of the Group. The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
became effective on 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date. On 24 May 2018, the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
was amended and a restricted share plan (the “RSU Plan”)
was carried out and the RSU Plan became effective from the
date when the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme was adopted,
that is 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
Pursuant to the RSU Plan, the vesting condition has been
revised as i) upon the completion of the Company’s IPO, and
ii) fulfilment of a certain service period. Other than that, there
is no significant change as compared with that of the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme.

Share options and RSUs do not confer rights on the holders
to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options/RSUs to be granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme/RSU Plan of the Company shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares
in issue on 31 March 2016. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options/RSUs in aggregate is 125,000.
On 15 November 2017, each of the issued and unissued
shares was subdivided into 50 shares of the Company and
accordingly, the number of shares issuable under the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme/RSU Plan is enlarged to 6,250,000
and the exercise price was decreased to US$0.000002.
Following another share subdivision approved on 3 November
2018, as of 31 December 2019, the Company has reserved
62,500,000 Class B ordinary shares underlying all the grants
under the RSU Plan.

As at 31 December 2019, 41,020,360 (2018: 34,103,840)
RSUs were vested and exercisable under the RSU Plan.

The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments (RSUs and options) is
recognised as an expense on the consolidated statement of
profit or loss with an increase in equity.

29.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

LA BB ()
BEBERARIA 22— "NERO BB
B ZREBRMDEMTERTFREN
EMBRAESIRHEIRMOEMETE
RO FRTHRABHEEHETEESR
—E-XE=ZA=+—HEBITR®H
MEHI10% ° RIBIERAE, 2R HIIR
PENAFETHNRERNEBEESH
£125,0008 - R=ZZE—+F+— A
TEHA BREBITRARBITROIF
WABSORALNTRMG  Hit » —F
—NERMDBE S, ZRFIM A E
NEEISRABRTHRAEBEEKR
£6,250,000% * MITEERFARZE
0.000002%7t - BHE=-ZF—NFE+=
B=+—8 #R=-Z—-N\F+—-A=
BitES —ERMIFAR - AATRE
62,500,000 B2 1R ¥5 % PR 1 A= 10 B8 (v 5t
ZIFER THBENBEZLER -

REZB-NF+ZB=+—H  RES
PREIAR D EEfu 5T &l > 41,020,360(==
— \5 :34,103,840) 183 PRI 10 B
NEEHEBIL AT °

BEYER TR (ZRABHELRE
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w2 o
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—E-NEtZA=t-A

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The following table shows the share options/RSUs
outstanding under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme/RSU
Plan during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019,
and their weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”):

2018 2018
Number WAEP
of share USS$ per
options  share option

“E-N\F

MR

—E2-N\E IfEfE
BREZE En/BRE

Outstanding at 1 January R-BA—-BHRITE 5,148,108  0.000002

Granted during the year ERERHE - -
Cancelled during the year FREIH (67,900)  0.000002
Forfeited during the year ERERK (366,669)  0.000002
Transfer from share optionsto ~ R=F—NF
RSUs on 24 May 2018 EA-TMAMH
BREERZ

SIRHI RN (4,713,539)  0.000002

Split shares by 1:10 B1100LL Bl AR = =

29. i BEBAIfFER (&)
TRIRBEZEZE-N\EFER=ZE-hF
TZA=+—HLEFEEZZ—RERH
BEEtEZIREIR D EMFTEIET
RITERBIRE SREBRHEMRE
IEEF (T EE ([IREFITEED -

2018 2018 2019 2019
Number WAEP Number WAEP
of US$ per of USS$ per
RSUs RSU RSUs RSU
ZB-)N\E “E-nF

il S5} il 352!

“B-N\F GEE SE-AE GRS
SRARS £7/FRH ERHBGH %5/ TRH
BREE  BGER  BAHE  ROEL

= - 48,837,240  0.0000002
212,670 0.000002 13,662,000  0.0000002

(42,485)  0.000002 = =

4,713,539 0.000002 = =

43,953,516 0.0000002 = =

Outstanding at 31 December ~ R+=A=+-H
HARITE - 0.000002

48,837,240  0.0000002 62,499,240  0.0000002

Exercisable at 31 December ~ Wt=A=1—-H
AFTE - 0.000002

34,103,840  0.0000002 41,020,360  0.0000002
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31 December 2019
—E-hFt+=A=t+—H

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 29. LI BB (B)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the RSUs RERSESHARERITENZIREIRMDE
outstanding as at the end of each reporting period are as VHTHEERTERBNT :
follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Number of RSUs Number of RSUs Exercise price Exercise period
=T-NF —E-N\F
+=A=+—H +=HA=+—H US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd)
ZREIRDENEE ZIREIRDENCEE TE 171

Zn/ Bk F/R/H

8,330 8,330 0.0000002 2018/12/04 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/04%2026/03/31

34,095,510 34,095,510 0.0000002 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22%2026/03/31

12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2019/03/12 to 2026/03/31
2019/03/12%2026/03/31

12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2019/03/14 to 2026/03/31
2019/03/14%2026/03/31

840,000 = 0.0000002 2019/03/283 to 2026/03/31
2019/03/23%2026/03/31

50,000 50,000 0.0000002 2019/04/02 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/02 £2026/03/31

111,170 111,170 0.0000002 2019/04/03 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/03 % 2026/03/31

8,330 8,330 0.0000002 2019/04/16 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/16 £2026/03/31

75,000 75,000 0.0000002 2019/05/02 to 2026/03/31
2019/05/02 &2026/03/31

229,000 229,000 0.0000002 2019/05/05 to 2026/03/31
2019/05/05%2026/03/31

180,930 180,930 0.0000002 2019/06/01 to 2026/03/31
2019/06/01 £ 2026/03/31

2,291,000 2,291,000 0.0000002 2019/09/22 to 2026/03/31
2019/09/22 £ 2026/03/31

1,145,500 1,145,500 0.0000002 2019/11/09 to 2026/03/31
2019/11/09 % 2026/03/31

8,330 8,330 0.0000002 2019/12/03 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/03%2026/03/31

1,952,260 1,952,260 0.0000002 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31

12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2020/03/10 to 2026/03/31
2020/03/10%2026/03/31

12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2020/03/12 to 2026/03/31

2020/03/12%2026/03/31
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 29. LI BB (B)
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Number of RSUs Number of RSUs Exercise price Exercise period
—E-hF —E-N\E
+=—A=+—8H +=—BA=+—H US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd)
SZIRERDELEE ZIREIRDENVEE TRE TEH

=/’ F/B/H

12,822,000 = 0.0000002 2020/03/23 to 2026/03/31
2020/03/23%2026/03/31

50,000 50,000 0.0000002 2020/03/31 to 2026/03/31
2020/03/31%2026/03/31

111,170 111,170 0.0000002 2020/04/01 to 2026/03/31
2020/04/01 22026/03/31

8,330 8,330 0.0000002 2020/04/14 to 2026/03/31
2020/04/14%2026/03/31

75,000 75,000 0.0000002 2020/04/30 to 2026/03/31
2020/04/30%2026/03/31

180,930 180,930 0.0000002 2020/05/30 to 2026/03/31
2020/05/30%2026/03/31

355,760 355,760 0.0000002 2020/06/20 to 2026/03/31
2020/06/20%2026/03/31

200,000 200,000 0.0000002 2020/08/11 to 2026/03/31
2020/08/11%2026/03/31

250,000 250,000 0.0000002 2020/08/16 to 2026/03/31
2020/08/16 £2026/03/31

300,000 300,000 0.0000002 2020/09/05 to 2026/03/31
2020/09/05%2026/03/31

1,778,770 1,778,770 0.0000002 2020/10/08 to 2026/03/31
2020/10/08 £2026/03/31

8,330 8,330 0.0000002 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22%2026/03/31

1,952,190 1,952,190 0.0000002 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31

500,000 500,000 0.0000002 2021/01/10 to 2026/03/31
2021/01/10%2026/03/31

12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2021/03/09 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/09 £2026/03/31

12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2021/03/11 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/1122026/03/31

50,000 50,000 0.0000002 2021/03/30 to 2026/03/31

2021/03/30%2026/03/31
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 29. LI BB (B)
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Number of RSUs Number of RSUs Exercise price Exercise period
—E-hEF —E-N\FE
+=—A=+—H +=—B=+—H US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd)
SZIRERMELEE ZIREIRDENCEE TRE e

=/’ F/B/H

111,170 111,170 0.0000002 2021/03/31 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/31%2026/03/31

8,330 8,330 0.0000002 2021/04/13 to 2026/03/31
2021/04/13%2026/03/31

75,000 75,000 0.0000002 2021/04/29 to 2026/03/31
2021/04/29%2026/03/31

180,930 180,930 0.0000002 2021/05/29 to 2026/03/31
2021/05/29%2026/03/31

8,340 8,340 0.0000002 2021/11/30 to 2026/03/31
2021/11/30%2026/03/31

1,952,190 1,952,190 0.0000002 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31

2021/12/1 22026/03/31
12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2022/03/08 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/0%2026/03/31

12,500 12,500 0.0000002 2022/03/10 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/10%2026/03/31

50,000 50,000 0.0000002 2022/03/29 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/29 % 2026/03/31

111,180 111,180 0.0000002 2022/03/30 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/30%2026/03/31

8,340 8,340 0.0000002 2022/04/12 to 2026/03/31
2022/04/12%2026/03/31

75,000 75,000 0.0000002 2022/04/28 to 2026/03/31
2022/04/28 22026/03/31

180,920 180,920 0.0000002 2022/05/28 to 2026/03/31

2022/05/28 & 2026/03/31

62,499,240 48,837,240
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 29. i BEBAIfFER (&)

The Group has used the discounted cash flow method to
determine the underlying value of the Company and adopted
the equity allocation model to determine the fair value of the
underlying ordinary shares for the period prior to the IPO. Key
assumptions, such as the discount rate and projections of
future performance, are determined by the Group with best

RERARABRENHE - AEECER
MEREREEBEEARANEREE
8 WeHRARES R EERES
BRODFE - BEERRARKER
SHRERIAANEEERREMGTTT
BE - RERDRABRER  ROENWAF

estimate. After the IPO, the fair value of shares should be the BB QDT RMDHIIRE -
quoted price of the Company’s shares.
Based on the fair value of the underlying ordinary shares, the EREREEERNATE  AEBEHK

Group has adopted the Hull-White Enhanced ESO Valuation
model to determine the fair value of the share options/RSUs
as of the grant/replacement date. Key assumptions are as
follows:

FHull-White 38 ESO{H {EE R EE E 8
R SRERMEMNEERE HUL
HEIMATFE - BRERI|HINT :

As at
i

31 March 30 June 31 December 22 June 22 March

2016 2017 2017 2018 2019

—E-RE “E—tF “E—tF —E-\E “E-hE

=A=t-H AA=TH +=B=+-B #~A=t=H =BA=1+=H

Dividend yield (%) RS MR (%) - - - - -

Expected volatility (%) BHREE (%) 60.11 56.35 56.57 56.1 58.0

Risk-free interest rate (%)  BEIFIE(%) 1.78 2.31 3.92 2.9 1.53

Expected forfeiture rate (%) FEHRE UE (%) 0-2 0-2 0-2 0-2 0
The fair value of each granted share option/RSU at each grant R-ZE—XRE=ZA=+—H -=Z—+t
date was US$9.7804, US$21.2634, US$1.0889, US$6.48 and FRA=+H - ZFE—tF+=A= +

HK$5.13 as at 31 March 2016, 30 June 2017, 31 December
2017, 22 June 2018 and 22 March 2019, respectively. Under
the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme/RSU Plan, the Group
recognised share-based payment expense of RMB51,251,000
and RMB8,119,000 during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018, respectively.
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—BZE-N\FXRAEZ+ZHRKZ=
—hWE=A=+=H" iﬁ}aﬁztljﬂ%ﬂx
S/ SRABRMEMNRERE BB
AFEDRIE9.7804% 5T ~ 21.26343%
7t~ 1.0889% 7T - 6.48E T K 5.1378
T o RIBEZE—REROBBEZ
REIRMDENGE  AEARBZ-F
—hWERZE-NE+ZA=1+HILF
EoRERURMGAERNSTRBAIA
R #551,251,000 Tt & A E#8,119,000
IT o
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The expected life of the options/RSUs is based on the
best estimation of management of the Company and is
not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The expected forfeiture rate and volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical forfeiture rate and volatility of
companies in the same industry is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options/RSUs granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company has reserved
62,500,000 shares under the RSU Plan and had 62,499,240
RSUs outstanding under the RSU Plan. The exercise in full
of the outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in a transfer of 62,499,240
ordinary shares of the Company from Wanka Alliance Limited
to the employees of the Group.

On 3 November 2018, the Company adopted the post-IPO
share option scheme to attract, retain and motivate
employees, directors and other participants, and to provide
a means of compensating them through the grant of options
for their contribution to the growth and profits of the Group,
and to allow such employees, directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group (the
“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”).

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from 3 November 2018 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. The options may be
vested over such period(s) as determined by the board of the
Company in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

On 29 August 2019, the Company adopted a new RSU
scheme to incentivize directors, senior management and
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group,
and to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion
of the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own
equity interests of the Company. (the “2019 RSU Scheme”).

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-hFt+=A=t+—H

29. LIy AERERIFR ()

FBIRE 2 IREIR D B TR HR T
ERANAEEENREMGMEE
BRMUAIRIRATBEH RV TERR -
R ERRRERRR—IERR - BIE
TERANBERRER KB R R
ARBE - BERLEERERER -

SFEATERYEERSREBRE
ZRRBIR D B E AR -

RZE-NE+ZA=+—H K
AREZRERMDEMNTTET FEE
62,500,000 % iR 11 - EZRFIRR 1D E
5t 8 T B 62,499,24018 18 R 1TfE
HIZ R &R D BE(L o BEVITIE S RITIE
WEZREIBRMDEN (RAQTNEREE
REREM S ) B BEAR QT 62,499,240
%38 IR Wanka Alliance Limited#
BEFAERES -

RZB-N\F+—-A=R  XAFRH
BEXAAHBERBRESSE (BRA
FRBERBIREE ] - KRS - BRE
KHEIES  EEBRHEMSEE > AE
BREBRENSRSHAKERRER
BRFFEHANER - URSZERES
EERHMATSRAKEEERRRA
F o

BRADRBRERBREN ISR -F—
NFE+—R=HEFTFREH kB
RHEBRETERRTF - BRETR
EEERENREENTBRE - A
BFEABERER - BATERNA
F o

“E-NAFENRBZTAR  AATERMR
HHZRERDENLE - BBOARE
BES SHEEEREERHEER
NEAREHORE - RBRSEDHAEEE
HEVERK - Wl - BB K % B R TR
HERIENABRAIEENRRE R
RERMELD (ZF-IFRRHEK
MEfETE]) -
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29.

30.

31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Subject to early termination by the board of the Company,
the 2019 RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10
years from 29 August 2019. The board of the Company can
determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the schedule
when the RSUs will vest.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and no RSUs have
been granted or agreed to be granted under the 2019 RSU
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 99 to
100 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries which are registered in the PRC
shall appropriate a certain percentage of profit for the year
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses) calculated under
the accounting principles generally applicable to the PRC
enterprises to reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

In 2018, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in
Shanghai ChilLe settled by issuance of 12,024,632 ordinary
shares to its original shareholders. Shanghai ChiLe is
engaged in online-video distribution services. The acquisition
was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand into
online-video distribution services in Mainland China. Shanghai
ChiLe was set up under PRC law and was controlled by the
Company through Wanka Huanju via a series of contractual
arrangements.
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29.

30.

31.

Rz B EEER 3K (FF)
BEFAAESERALL BT
—~hESRHRAERHBIEE =T~
AENA=HR BT FHEAEN -
AR TRE SRR ET
FEEE - REREER -

BE_Z-NF+-A=1+—-HL#F
B SEREEANHBEERBRET
EREIEABRBBRE - TERE
S NFZREBIRDEM T BIREHE
EREZREROEN o

it

AEENAEERBEFEE 2HESH
EREEEHRUERREIEESE
100BE 2SR EREY

REBPEBBEREERER - A2FRN
PEEMONEL R AERRESEE
RARFBEEXNERAGENEER
HEHEEFEEMNERR)NET
BRLLERES  MzREBESHRAES
ZUPRH

EBaH
R=Z—N\F > REEUWEE DEhLm
EHRE DEBAHRBRRET
12,024,632 [REBARE (S o Lt
RERPERIBEERDEER o LililEE
AREERRZTEAEREIREER
DEERISRAEE Y — 2D o LIEIhEETIIR
ERESEEMRY - WHAARBBRIR
MEEREB — RSN ZHEMIEF o
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 31.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Shanghai ChilLe as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-hFt+=A=t+—H

EBEH (&)
s T B A R A s B
HHAFENT :

Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
MaE  WEERERRMNATE
RMB’000
AREET T
Cash and bank balances BeRIBITER 20,377
Accounts receivable FEUBRFR 37,091
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BARIE - BER
H it R IR 15,844
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 13 1,247
Other intangible assets HihEEEE 16 31,000
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFRIEEE 18 (7,124)
Accounts payable FEAFERRR (8,197)
Income tax payable FESER1SHE (3,590)
Other payables and accruals Hib AR BT E A (25,322)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAFEYIERE
RAHEREERE 61,326
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEBEENEE 15 183,164
Satisfied by issuance of 12,024,632 Class B ordinary EiB3{T4 1 T
shares of the Company 12,024,632 f%
BEZ ERMEN 28(a) 244,490

The fair values of the accounts receivable and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB37,091,000 and RMB15,803,000, respectively. The
gross contractual amounts of accounts receivable and other
receivables were RMB37,420,000 and RMB15,803,000,
respectively, of which accounts receivable of RMB329,000
was expected to be uncollectible.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible
for income tax purposes.

FE Wit BR 3% R L Ath B WRR 1B A UK BB B B
HAFED BB ARYS7,091,0007T
F AER#15,803,0007t - EUWERR K
HiEWRIBATNSEIAIAAR
#537,420,000t & AR #15,803,000
7t - EhE AR%329,000 7T #Y FE UL ER
MIEHASEEIRE o

RN ERRSEENRAEHE N
AR ©
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 31. EBEH (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of WEZEHEARWAERBRSRED
these subsidiaries is as follows: M
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Cash consideration HeaNRE -
Cash and bank balances acquired TSR MIRTT 20,377
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents includedin st AREZBHFIERETEN
cash flows from investing activities BeRBESSEYARNEE 20,377

Since the acquisition, Shanghai ChiLe contributed
RMB92,518,000 to the Group’s revenue and contributed
a profit of RMB42,830,000 to the consolidated loss for the
year ended 31 December 2018. Had the combination taken
place at the beginning of 2018, the revenue of the Group and
the loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
would have been RMB1,560,732,000 and RMB420,095,000,
respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB330,000
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
()  During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,175,000 and
RMB2,175,000, respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for plant and equipment (2018: Nil).

(i) On 12 March 2018, the Group acquired a
100% equity interest in Shanghai ChiLe from
its original shareholders, which was settled by
issuing 12,024,632 Class B ordinary shares of the
Company to its original shareholders.
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32.

BUWEBLLIR » Bt REBEz =2 —
NE+ZA=+—RILEEANEES
iUz A R#92, 518,000 T i B4R S
J’éﬂaaﬁ, SF A R#42,830,0007T ©
ELMEHR=-ZE-—NEFEANSEE
g AAEEREE=ZE-N\E+=
B=+—HLEFENREREELES
B A ARK1,560,732,000 T A R#E
420,095,000 7T °

AEBEERS KA ARYES330,000
T ST AGEBERTNITEAR -

SZERERERME

(a) Eiikiﬁﬁzfi%

T= HJL$F ZKElzwt
BMERSENEERZHE
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁé&*ﬁ‘;ﬁ
BIERERFREDINAR
52,175,000t AR #E
2,175, 00075(_"—)\
F &)

iy R=ZFE-—NEFE=ZA+=
B AEBERELEEHEED
R 6 IR R U BB b O St 4%
HNEEHBE DEBRDO
HEBRKRRBETAAQF
12,024,632 B EERE
T
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances in the consolidated statement of financial
position for liabilities arising from financing activities,
which provides the information included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, is as follows:

MBEEME

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

32. # ﬂiﬁﬁlﬁgﬁpﬁlni(mﬁ

(b) RUEEBIFTSIREREIEE

FEMBRRRANBEZBAMEIBEE
AR AR ESRE R (REFERE
REBRAEIINERWT :

Interest-

Other Lease bearing bank
payables liabilities borrowings
HibFEMARIE HEARE sHRRTER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 (restated) R=Z—NF—H—H

ARETFR AR®BFR AREFT

(&&E35) 54,048 6,512 146,000
Changes from financing RIERESREEE :
cash flows:
Loans from banks RERITHER - - 301,400
Repayment of bank loans {EER1ITER - - (211,000)
Listing expenses paid EFFERAX (36,265) - -
New leases MgEE - 2,175 =
Principal portion of lease ~ HER KA E IS
payments (302) (3,808) -
Interest on lease liabilities HE&EFE - 323 -
Interest expenses paid ENFEREX (9,588) - (3,857)
Other changes: Heh# g :
Purchase of property, BEWE  BEKSZE
plant and equipment (60) - -
Changes related to BERERESR2EHN
operating cash flows &EJ 15,736 - -
Listing expenses payable fE{t EHRIX 2,713 - -
Bank borrowing interest  $R{TERASRX
expense 9,706 - 3,415
At 31 December 2019 RZB—-IEF
+=A=+—H 35,988 5,202 235,958
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

At 1 January 2018

Changes from financing cash flows:

Loans from banks

Repayment of bank loans

Proceeds from issuance of
convertible bonds

Repayment of convertible bonds

Proceeds from issuance of
preferred shares

Exercise of warrants

Listing expenses paid

Dividend paid

Loans from employees

Repayment of loans from
employees

Interest expenses paid

Other changes:

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Changes related to operating
cash flows

Listing expenses payable

Convertible bonds interest
expense

Interest expense related to loans
from employees

Bank borrowing interest expense

RZE-N\F-A-H
RERLHERY !
RERTHER
BERTER
BTRRES
FriEsE
BETERES
BTEARAMEHE

TiERRER
BALHHER
EARE
REEENER
EEREEENER

ERNERAX

2

BENE  HER
B3
WE-ENELR
HELRIRE
RENEE
JEfS LB
TRREFNEFX

ERBEENE
ABNRIEEX
BATEFFEHR
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Other

payables
AR
RMB’000
ARETR

92,954

(4,080)
(4,451)

(39)

25,322

(22,579)
72,449

242
4,346

32. ZEBERERMEE ()

(b)

Preferred
shares

BER
RMB’000
ARETR

259,944

31,908
61,787

REEBATS IR EEE)
&)

Interest-
Convertible bearing bank
bonds Warrants ~ borrowings
TRRES AEE  FHEROER
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR
25,297 41,358 10,000
- - 154,000
- - (18,000)
20,000 - -
(32,000) - -
1,628 - -
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

32. GEMERERMEE (&)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BUEEENFISIEBEAIES)
activities (continued) &)
Interest-
Preferred Convertible bearing bank
Other payables shares bonds Warrants borrowings
H AR BER TERES AMEE  HERTER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT  AR%Trn ARETT  AR®Trn ARETTL
Fair value of warrants at RBTHERR
issuance date EENAYE - - (3,202) 3,202 -
Fair value changes on TRREEATE
convertible notes 28 - - 3,202 = =
Fair value of warrants at RTERHR
exercise date REZNATE - 297,540 - (297,674) =
Transfer to preferred shares ERZEER (60,523) 60,523 = = =
Convertible bonds unsettled part K& EARRES
transfer to other payables BABEZEM
EAHE 29,195 - (14,925) = =
Fair value changes APEZEE - 217,123 - 261,791 -
Exchange realignment E R AR - 53,428 - (8,677) =
Converted to ordinary shares ERALER - (982,253) = = =
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\&
+ZA=1+-H 54,048 - - - 146,000
(C) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERLHHLEEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FFTARERERVEERSRY
statement of cash flows is as follows: BEEINT -
2019
k- -
RMB’000
AREBTR
Within operating activities KEERHENRN 2,423
Within financing activities RS EEEER 3,808
6,231
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. FAERE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any REBERR  AEELEEAEARA
significant contingent liabilities. =

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34. EEHRH
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s REBRAEBRITERIKIFNEEF
bank loans are included in notes 21 and 25 to the financial BHER B RERMT21 K25 °
statements.

35. COMMITMENTS 35. HKiE
(a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not @ RBEHR AEEALREME

have any significant capital commitments.

(o) Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 (b)

The Group leased certain of its office premises under
operating leases arrangements, with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from 4 to 31 months.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

KRE A ©

RZE-—NE+ZBA=+—HW
TEEERE

AEEBRBLEHERHHEES
FHOAWE  BHEBRBNTF4ZE
31ERATE -

R=Z-NF+=p=+—-8
REBEFURECEHETH#
BARBEEENRBE 58
FEERAOT

2018

—E-N\F

RMB’000

AREET T

Within one year —F A 5,039

In the second to fifth years, inclusive MEZEF (BEEREWA) 4,278
Total a% 9,317
(¢) The Group has a lease contract that has not yet (© AABEE—MHR=Z—NET+

commenced as at 31 December 2019. The future lease
payments for the non-cancellable lease contract are
RMB600,000 due within one year.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no related party transactions during the year
ended 31 December 2019 except the details stated below.

(@ As disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements,
the Group’s bank loans of (i) RMB45,000,000 as
at 31 December 2019 were guaranteed by the
board members, Gao Dinan and Zheng Wei; (ii)
RMB25,000,000 were guaranteed by the chairman of
the board, Gao Dinan.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

36. EAHEA RS
REBZZZE-NF+ZA=+—HILF
EXET BB RS - T AT
BRI o

(a) FRMEIFEIREMTT25IHE - ANE
BWRTEROR=ZB—NE+
—A=+—H AK%45,000,000
THESEEXESHEERBER
IER S (i) AR #25,000,0007T
HESEXIFSHBIRMEER -

(b) AEEEZEEEASHIEH

Group

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Short-term employee benefits ZHIEEEA 4,623 1,125
Equity-settled share option expenses  LAREZS 4 E AV BB IR ERIX 10,010 903
Pension scheme contributions EREFTEIAR 217 280

Total compensation paid to key BEEEEBAEXTHEBE
management personnel ) 14,850 2,308

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

FHREEREERITHAEHMH
#E— DA BEN M AR LS o

—E-NEFH BwWSEHARAS 233



Notes to the Financial Statements

PRSI

31 December 2019
=F-NEFF+=A=t-H

37.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

37. FEREISMERTR
ZHEEMIERBRERARNWERMEDN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as e
follows:
Financial assets SRIEE
2019 2018
—EB-hE —E-)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Financial assets at amortised cost REBERATENSREE
Accounts receivable FEURBRFR 597,485 443,889
Financial assets included in prepayments, T AFE{TFIE « EAEUER
other receivables and other assets HhEMEENESRERE 58,300 47,533
Pledged deposits [REEGEER 118,595 34,317
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFESEEY 261,370 303,436
1,036,750 829,175
Financial liabilities LRIEE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREET T
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REERATENESHEE
Accounts payable FEBRFR 94,936 48,542
Financial liabilities included in other STAHMENRIER
payables and accruals FEEtERNSRAE
— non-current portion —JFRHAER 500 500
— current portion — BNERER o 4,917 37,758
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTESRITER 235,958 146,000
Lease liabilities HEE8E 5,202 -
341,513 232,800
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments not measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments, are as follows:

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

38. EAMTRMAFHEHRAFEE
=R
AEEYFRAFEHRNESHIA
(BEHMBRBEMEEERATES
BIIE N T AR RS HROER
BERAFENT :

Financial liabilities LRIBE
Carrying amounts
AREE
2019 2018
—E-nE  —F-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Financial liabilities included in ST AE MRS FRIER
other payables TRBE
- non-current portion —JERNERE 500 500
500 500
Fair values
AFE
2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Financial liabilities included in FTAE R FRIERY
other payables SRIEE
- non-current portion —JERNERER o 500 500
500 500
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of pledged
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement
of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial
liabilities included in other payables have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities (level 2).

There were no assets and liabilities measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

236 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2019

38. ERMTAMAFERAFE

Bk (%)

ERBE (&)

EEBANEERIS CEAEK R
ERBEEEY - BRIRAR - BNYER
o RTATRNFOR - HtbBWEERE
HEENEHEE - STAHMENFE
KT E AN ERME AR ERITENR
HNAFEETZRAHZHHRBIEMEH
AREIEAEE o

AEENPEHBIIEEFESRIAR
FEFENBRRRERF  -RE®RER
o BBEHMEEsMERTANEER
BE o WHEEHER TR RS AR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits and interest-bearing bank
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts
receivable and accounts payable, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
minimising potential adverse effects of these risks, with
material impact, on the Group’s financial performance. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with
most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Renminbi and
United States dollars. The Group has not used any
derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

39. £REMEEBFERBUR

FEENFELRMIAGERSRES
ZEY - BERFERRETERITHR - &%
ZEMTANTIEENRAFEESEE
BIREES - AEETAEBREHEXH
EEMEESIRNHEMEREERE
& BB BRI B BRAR ©

FAEEERTAMTRNEZRBRBI
EmE - FERBRABMERERRE - A%
ENEERREETIEINEERE
ZEEREARTENERE NS E I
REMNBETANRE -E=EFEEYL
HEEEZERRVBERLBRNT -
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31 December 2019
=F-NEFF+=A=t-H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s loss before tax and the Group’s equity in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period with all other

variables held constant:

31 December 2019

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens
against the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens
against the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens
against the Hong Kong dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens
against the Hong Kong dollar

EARBRETRE

BEARBAETAE

EARWABIRE

EARBEZAETE

39. £REMEEBRERBUR

(%)

(a)

SpEERPE (&)
TRIIREMBEEMEEREIET
BN T 2N 5 B A 5] 5 HA R &
TERABHINEEEFFSER
BB E RN EBRBA
BERAEBESTROBOE
EN

—E-hE+=-A=+—H

Increase/

Change in (decrease) Increase/
exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity

B #5t Az 1 HEZz BN

ExgEy i (GRd) /GB)
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ABRETR ARETR

(5) (811) 9,172
5 811 (9,172)
(5) 110 (194)

5 (110) 194
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MSERME

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(@) Foreign currency risk (continued)

31 December 2018

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens
against the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens
against the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens
against the Hong Kong dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens
against the Hong Kong dollar

BEARBREARE

EARBAETAE

EARBABIRE

BEARBHBIHE

31 December 2019

—Z-hFt+=A=t—-8

39. £RIEMREEHIERBIR
(#&)
(@) SMEERPE (&)
—E-)\E+=-A=+—H
Increase/
Change in (decrease) Increase/
exchange in loss (decrease)
rate before tax in equity
BRBLATES R REZRIZ N
EREE 1M Ofd) / ORA)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBTRT AR%®TR
(®) (5,513) (14,290)
5) 5,513 14,290
(5) (11,111) (14,349)
B 11,111 14,349
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31 December 2019
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For
transactions that are not denominated in the functional
currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group does
not offer credit terms without the specific approval of
the head of credit control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. RESEEHERBUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREE(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BEEMRERPEERSE (E)
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hE+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs
+=f@8
afiEE Lifetime ECLs
| i SHIENEEHEE
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3 approach

P 1 PeEz2 PERR3 (LA
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETE ARBTT ARBTE ARBTT ARBTR

Accounts receivable* FEW AR - - - 603,579 603,579
Financial assets included st ATE{IFUE -

in prepayments, other Hith e FIE

receivables and other REMEEN

assets EREE

— Normal** —E&E~ 58,300 - - - 58,300
Pledged deposits EHEMER

~ Not yet past due — R 118,595 - - - 118595
Cash and cash equivalents RE&REE

— Not yet past due — R AR 261,370 - - - 261,370

438,265 -

603,579 1,041,844
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31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. £REISEEHERBUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BEEMRERPEERDE (E)
As at 31 December 2018 R=-ZF-—NE+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs
+=@A
BHEE Lifetime ECLs
18 2HEHREEEE
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

M Ex 1 PEER2 PEER3 LR E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTR ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTR

Accounts receivable* FEW AR - - = 444,023 444,023
Financial assets included 5T AFE{IFUE

in prepayments, other HithpE U018

receivables and other REMEEN

assets EREE

- Normal** —EE* 47,533 - - - 47,533
Pledged deposits EHEAER

- Not yet past due — RS 34,317 - - - 34,317
Cash and cash equivalents BE&RES

~ Not yet past due — MR 303,436 - - _ 303436

385,286 - - 444,023 829,309
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

*

*k

For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and concentrations of credit risk
arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 19
to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash
flows from operations.

MEHRME

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

39. £REMEEBFERBIR

(%)

(b)

(c)

SRR ()

REERRERPERSE ()

© BAEEERRER(LENE
WBRRT = - A8 45 % e A e

TE MO E B BT B 9B I 1 9 B

o

o EFATRENERIR - E MR
BEREMEENSRBEETE
BHATEENBETZESH
BENEERRE NI ERL
BEEMN - AR EEERERR
RIEF] Rz ZEEHE
ENEEEERERIF5R] -

BT EEREEWIRRAAZ 2
FERRREZRUREZE
ESsdRERZE-SEEINE
B RYBIHMRME19WE -

MENE & b
FEBBBERAKEMRBES
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31 December 2019
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. £REEEEBERBUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (48)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) RHELEM (E)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities rEEEREENRBREHARNE
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the BRHEARR (R BT AREERAR)
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: wmE
31 December 2019 —E-hE+=-HA=+—H
Within
1 year or 1to 2 2to 5
on demand years years Total
1ERFTIRER 1E2% 2F5% st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT AREFTR ARETR

Accounts payable REEN 84,924 9,972 40 94,936
Financial liabilities s AEABESK
included in other HRESTEHA
payables and accruals HI£REE
- non-current portion  —3EENEAEE S - - 500 500
— current portion — BNERER 35,488 - - 35,488
Interest-bearing bank  FFERITHER
borrowings 235,958 - - 235,958
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,638 1,564 - 5,202
360,008 11,536 540 372,084
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (continued)
31 December 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

39. £REMEEBFERBIR

(c) RHELEM (E)
—F-)N\E+=-A=+—H

Within
1 year or 1to2 2to5
on demand years years Total
1FERTIZER 1225 2E5F #et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTRT ARBTRT AR®TR

Accounts payable FEFBRFR 48,542 = = 48,542
Financial liabilities FTAH MR
included in other BREGTER
payables and accruals HEFEE
- non-current portion  — 3EENERER D - - 500 500
— current portion —BNERE 37,758 - - 37,758
Interest-bearing bank & ER{TE X
borrowings 151,690 - - 151,690
237,990 - 500 238,490

Capital management

(d) BEXEE

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are REFEREANTERESR
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going REAEENISEQSLEE S Tk
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to BEBRWERLE U FIEER
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. HEBEALBEEE -

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion RNEFBREKBLASETERS
to risk. The Group manages its capital structure and 3o REBETEEERERY
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic RIERER RS L RIAEEEY
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying E R4S A E A R o B
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital REREAEE  AEEAES
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, YEIREFRE « BRTHERR
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. In BBLESEMREG AATE
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the EPA KNEBEWNESNERSE
Group’s capital risk is low. No change was made in the Ko RER SXRTEWEE -
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital BRI A B A L o

during the year.

SE-NFH BWSHARAS 245



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a current ratio, which
is total current assets divided by total current liabilities,
and a gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided by
total assets. The current ratios and gearing ratios at the
end of each of the reporting periods are as follows:

39. £REMEEBRERBUR

(%)
(d)

EAEME (E)
Z‘K%ﬁ?@ﬁﬂzjuw@tt?(umu
BEEABERURBAGEHASE)
REXREELE (LBEERKRE
BEE)ERER - REREH
RORBELERREAREELEN
T

2019 2018

—F—-hE=E —E-N\EF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT AR¥T T

Total current assets RENEERE 1,369,365 1,057,440
Total non-current assets FREEELE 219,749 255,494
Total current liabilities REEBEHEE 547,096 430,967
Total non-current liabilities ERBABEERE 6,543 6,473
Current ratio REPLL = 2.50 2.45
Gearing ratio EREELE 35% 33%

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 7 January 2020, the Company and Xin Point Holdings
Limited (the “Subscriber”), a Cayman Island company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchanges
entered to a subscription agreement, pursuant to
which, the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue, and the Subscriber has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for, 25,789,000 ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Subscription Shares”) at HK$1.90
per share (the “Subscription”). The Subscription was
completed on 20 January 2020. For further details of the
Subscription, please refer to the related announcements
of the Company dated 7 January 2020 and 20 January
2020.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(continued)

(b)

On 7 January 2020, Huanju Times, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a joint venture agreement (the
“JV Agreement”) with Huizhou Keen Point Precision
Plastic Co., Ltd., which is an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of Xin Point Holdings Limited, and an
independent individual in relation to the formation of a
joint venture company that will principally engage in the
internet of vehicles businesses. For further details of the
JV Agreement, please refer to the related announcement
of the Company dated 7 January 2020.

On 24 March 2020, the board of directors of the
Company resolved and approved to grant 21,013,000
RSUs to 29 grantees (the “Grantees”) pursuant to
the 2019 RSU Scheme adopted on 29 August 2019,
subject to acceptance by the Grantees (the “Grant”).
The RSUs granted typically shall vest annually on an
equal basis within four years from the date of grant in
accordance with the vesting schedule determined by
the board of directors of the Company upon all vesting
conditions having been satisfied. For further details of
the Grant, please refer to the related announcement of
the Company dated 25 March 2020.

Since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) in January 2020, the prevention and
control of the COVID-19 has been going on throughout
the country. Up to the date of the report, COVID-19 has
not resulted in material impact to the Group.

Management of the Group will keep continuous
attention on the developments of COVID-19 situation,
assess and react actively to its impacts on the financial
position and operating results of the Group, and adjust
business plans when necessary.

Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances,
the further assessment of its impact on our Group’s
consolidated results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition will be reflected in the Group’s 2020
interim and annual financial statements.

CPEE e

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

40. SHREMIESIE (A)

(b)

R-Z-ZH—-FtH AQFH
MERRBRREAEERERE
RABEZEZEWE QX RDEMNE
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. EATHFHIRRR
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RATARE BRI BER R TRNE R0
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T <
2019 2018
—T-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EKME LA RNRE 721,149 669,898
Total non-current assets FREEELE 721,149 669,898
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Cash and bank equivalents HERRITEEY 25,672 232,729
Due from subsidiaries FEURHT B R FRIE 128,692 6,390
Prepayments, other receivables and FEAFRIE - B IE

other assets kEMEE 187 185
Total current assets MEEEHET 154,551 239,304
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEIBE
Other payables and accruals HibENFIERETER 5,995 84,107
Total current liabilities mENEEREE 5,995 84,107
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEVEEFEE 148,556 155,197
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBER

CURRENT LIABILITIES 869,705 825,095
Net assets EETHE 869,705 825,095
EQUITY e
Issued capital EETRA 1 1
Treasury shares EfF R = =
Other reserves (note) HAh A (MiEE) 869,704 825,094
Total equity IR A KR 869,705 825,095
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * SRR EARE1,0007T °
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

MSERME

31 December 2019
—E-NEtZA=t-A

41. KATHBIRRAFR

THE COMPANY (continued) (&)
Note: BT -
A summary to the Company’s other reserves is as follows: RARZEMEEREZESAT
Employee
share-based Exchange
Share Capital  compensation fluctuation ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
DR AETRN SNERE
RiPEE EXfife  EEHMREE ke Zithie &zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARET T ARETT ARBT T ARBT T
(Note 28) (Note 29)
(Hfz£28) (Fz29)
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E-F—H 37,933 3,634 30,665 11,353 (198,501) (114,916)
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (524,838) (524,838)
Other comprehensive loss FrEtEAFE
for the year
Exchange differences EXES - - - (45,554) - (45,554)
Total comprehensive loss ERZAEFELE
for the year - - - (45,554) (524,838) (570,392)
Issue of shares RIRG 1,505,917 (3,634) - - = 1,502,283
Equity-settled share NEREENEREZ S
option arrangements - - 8,119 - - 8,119
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N%
+ZB=1+-H 1,543,850 - 38,784 (34,201) (723,339) 825,094
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. RATHBIRRT
THE COMPANY (continued) (&)
Employee
share-based Exchange
Share Capital compensation fluctuation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
ARy BATER) IhERE
Ry {E BXfk  REHMNRE 1] it At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note 28) (Note 29)
(Mizk28) (ME29)
At 31 December2018and R=ZE-N\F+ZA=+-H
1 January 2019 E=%-15-A-A 1,543,850 - 38,784 (34,201) (723,339) 825,094
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (9,122) (9,122)
Other comprehensive EREMZEHA
income for the year
Exchange differences ERER - - - 2,481 - 2,481
Total comprehensive loss ~ FRZEFELAE
for the year - - - 2,481 (9,122) (6,641)
Equity-settled share NEREENBRERS
option arrangements - - 51,251 - - 51,251
At 31 December 2019 BRIB-RAE+TZA=+-B 1,543,850 - 90,035 (31,720) (732,461) 869,704

42.

Employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the
fair value of share options/RSUs granted which are yet to be
exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options/RSUs are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated loss should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2020.
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“AGM” or

“Annual General Meeting”

[RFAFXE |

“Articles of Association”

A ERAA

“associate(s)”

R IN

“Audit Committee”

[EZEEE

“Auditor”
[ #8A

“Board” or
“Board of Directors”

[EEE)

“Beijing JinChi”

Mbmsith |

“ChiLe Consolidated

Affiliated Entities”
[ithEe S e BEE
“CG Code”

EgEaFA

“China” or “PRC”

[ |

Definitions

R

the forthcoming 2019 annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 5 June 2020
ARBABR-ZBEF R ATRETHNER "S- NFFERTBFAE

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted on 3
November 2018 and effective on 21 December 2018 and as amended
from time to time
ARAAR=ZB-NF+-AZHRRARR=ZB-NF+ZA=+—-BEXR
W RS RT N ARETT A ER A A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

AR EmRAE T ZARNERE

the audit committee of the Company
RAREREES

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company
RABZHEI R RS TS

the board of directors of our Company
RABESS

Beijing Jinchi Guangxin Technology Co., Ltd. (It R&tMEEREKRHE
FRA 7)), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 13 May 2009, which holds 49% of the equity interests in
Shanghai ChiLe

EREHEERNEROERAE  —FKR=2BEAFHA+=ZARBFEE
FREMAINERAT - 58 LShg49% KRiE

Shanghai ChiLe and its subsidiaries
Babi=yEy S R=ti) = NG|

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules

LR RIS+ A E A E G T A

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires
and only for the purpose of this annual report, references in this annual
report to the PRC or China do not include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau
REARANE  BRYXERZEMERERAFRMNS - AFBRAFENTE
BFRELE  EBRRF
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Definitions

R

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”

“connected person(s)”

[BAEAL]

“connected transaction(s)”

[EAE3E 5 ]

“Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”
[EHEBER

“Contractual Arrangements”

[&#=H]

“Controlling Shareholders”

I 4R AR |

“DAPG”

[ DAPG |

“Director(s)”

[E=%]

our Group”,

we”, “us”,

“Group”,
“the Group
or “our”

[ AERE =[]

“Hong Kong”
[&#

*

For identification purposes only

Wanka Online Inc. (BW=EAGMRAF*), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 7
November 2014 and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1762)

Wanka Online Inc. (BWZEBERATY) » —KR=F—NFE+—-ALBAR
BRSNS LIEEMRINERRZERLT  EROREAER LD (R
MR 1 1762)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB L mRAETZANRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAETZANERE

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, and their respective subsidiaries

HMEBENTHEFNER M DOSHERBRER  RASANEAR

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and its shareholders, details of which are described in the section
headed “Report of the Directors — Connected Transactions — Contractual
Arrangements”

H(HPER) EtERBBERR (RMNEHEEERRERR)FILHN
—RIENZH FEFRHANEETERE -BERS —0TH -
BP

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context
of this annual report, refers to Mr. Gao, Mr. Zheng, Wanka Media Limited
and Countryside Tech Inc.

A EWRAUETZANRER  RAFR  DiESEE - B5L4E - Wanka
Media Limited } Countryside Tech Inc.

Data Al Platform Group, our proprietary platform powered by artificial
intelligence technology
EBEATIERTARAH  ARMUAIEERZEDNEETE

the director(s) of our Company

RARES

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (the
financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as
a subsidiary of our Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements)
from time to time

ARAR EABZMBARIREGHBBEER (HMBEECESNRHERE
ARFMERARIMBE DR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEIEBSRTHE

N EHBES
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“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[#&7]

“HKFRS”

[ EEMBREER ]

“Huanju Times”

[ ETRRF1C ]

“Listing”
[t

“Listing Date”
[ L BEE]
“Listing Rules”

[ E#RAll

“Main Board”

[E#H]

HMHA”

Bk A |

“Model Code”
[#E%E=rHl ]
“Mr. Gao”

(&4 ]

Definitions

R

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B BBEEER

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BB BRELEL

Huanju Shidai Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BXE:BX 2L (4t
) BR2QF), a company established in the PRC on March 7, 2014,
owned by Mr. Gao and Mr. Zheng as to 72% and 28% of its share capital,
respectively

EEEBAERE (ER)ERAT  —FRZE—NF=ALAEPEK
VAT BERERBEEDBIEEET72% K 28% RA

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
BRAD PABSE S T EAR £ 7

21 December 2018, being the date the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange

B \FETAT+—A - DRARBRA L E 0

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)
BEHMERZMARAR(ES LHRA) BREHERT)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

GXFTEENRS R (TREMETS)  BYNBEXAGEMIERE I
1TEE

Mobile Hardcore Alliance, a network of eight Android smartphone
manufacturers in China, namely Huawei, OPPO, vivo, Coolpad, Gionee,
Lenovo, Meizu and nubia

R APEN\RZEEEFREERMAE - BIZES - OPPO - vivo »
BOR ~ £33~ B8 - BIRR BT

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
LR BIM 8+ &R LB ITAESETES XS NZRESTED

Mr. GAO Dinan (/3 %), our chairman of the Board, executive Director,
chief executive officer and one of our Controlling shareholders

BHRBELE BMANESEXRE  HOTES  ERITERRMANESP—F
ERRR
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Definitions

R

“Mr. Zheng”
[EBSE4 |

“Nomination Committee”

[RBEEE

“Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme”

[ERAFEEREREE

“Prospectus”

Bz ER |

“QAA”
IR A& FRESE 3 |
“Quick App(s)”
MR FER |

“Remuneration Committee

[HNEESE

“Reporting Period”

[ER&H ]

“RMB”

PN
“RSU(s)”

I SZ BRI Ax 3 BE fir |

Mr. ZHENG Wei (&Ff12), our vice chairman of the Board, executive Director
and one of our Controlling shareholders

BERE  RMEFSEEFE  ITESREMNEP -BERKRR

nomination committee of the Company

KABRREEES

the share option scheme adopted by our Company on 3 November 2018,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors — Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”
ARARR=ZZ-N\FE+—-B=ZBRANBRESS > HEEERRBERE
EERE-ERLHBRERBRES -

the prospectus of the Company dated 11 December 2018 relating to its
initial public offering
ARBEBR-EB-NE+ZAT-BEBEER L ARBENERER

Quick App Alliance, a network of ten major Android smartphone
manufacturers, namely vivo, Huawei, OPPO, Xiaomi, Lenovo, Gionee,
Meizu, ZTE, Nubia and Oneplus

RIEAMBEE BT RLEERFHRREDHAL  Blvivo ~ EH - OPPO - /)
K~ BAE - &3~ RER - B B R

mobile apps that allow instant usage without having to visit any app store
or download anything, and are easier to develop than traditional mobile
apps

RANREANBEEARR  EFFRTAEABESLTHEMARS - B
LERBBERREFES REE

the remuneration committee of the Company

KABFMEES

the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-ZE-NFT-A=t—-HLEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC
ARYE  FEUEEEYE

restricted share units granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme

RE-Z—AFROBETERENZ RO EN
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“SFO”

[ 2% R GBI

“Shanghai ChiLe”

[ Ligithge ]

“Share(s)”

[zt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
i

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bk 32 Fft |

“subsidiary(ies)”

[BE2AE ]

“substantial shareholder”

[EZMRR]

“United States,”
IIU.S.” or “US”
[5EHE ]

“US$”

E

“Wanka Hong Kong”

[T E |

“Wanka Huanju” or “WFOE”

[ GUERTE s v BE R |

“%”

[%]

Definitions

R

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

BBEPIEST E(RERMEMRA) (EREHERT - MARURET X IER)

Shanghai Chile Information Technology Co., Ltd. (L/&th&E 2R H
FR/A 7)), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 18 June 2014, owned by Mr. Gao and Beijing JinChi as to
51.0% and 49.0% of its share capital, respectively
EPEHREEREERAR  —KR=2F—NFXA+N\BREBEPBEIEET
MR ERAR » S EERIEFEEMD BIHEEHE51.0% K% 49.0% R4

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0000002 each
R A B IR A 5 IR T {E0.0000002 3= T Y B AR

holder(s) of Share(s)
BB A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EBHMAERXZMABRAT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EmRAE T ZARNEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAETZANERE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction
EFRERE > HEL  BHRZHAZEENEHE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
X XEEEEY

Wanka Holdings Limited (3t ERAA]), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 6 June 2014, and our directly wholly-
owned subsidiary

MERBRAT > —KAZE-—WEANARNBEEBEIMRALINERA
8 ARMNEER2EWE AR

Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BtHIEE 2L & (16 3)
BPFR2AT]), a company established in the PRC on 10 October 2014, and
our wholly-owned subsidiary

mWMEBBE S LER (L) BRAR  — KR =ZE—NFE+A+AEPEK
YHWAE AERMANEZENB LR

per centum

B
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Definitions

R

“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF—RERGBBE S 5

“2019 Share Incentive Scheme”

the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 6 January 2016
which was amended, restated and replaced in its entirety by a restricted
share unit scheme on 24 May 2018, the principal terms of which are set
out in the section headed “Report of the Directors — 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme”

ARBRZB-—ARE-AXNBRANRDBBEAS  RZ22E-N\FHEA=+
MNEUZRERDEAFBEREMEE - EFIRER - AXERFENE
EERE - —Z- A FEROYBE -6

the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of

the Directors —2019 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF—hERGEBEE

B ARARZZFE-NFNAZTHBERMANRO MBS - EEZRRRER

[EEERE - T AFROBEE &

*for identification purposes only

The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations,
and the PRC governmental authorities referred to in this annual
report are translations from their Chinese names and are for
identification purposes. If there is any inconsistency, the Chinese
names shall prevail.

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual
report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them and figures rounded
to the nearest thousand, million or billion may not be identical to
figures that have been rounded differently to them.

For the purpose of this annul report announcement, the exchange
rate of HK$1 = RMBO0.8793 has been used, where applicable, for
purpose of illustration only and does not constitute a representation
that any amount has been, could have been or may be exchanged
at such rates or any other rates or at all on the date or dates in
question or any other date.
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REFEHrEFEERE - PEEELZRUR
BB TR R EETEE P XL
LUREGY » B2 » BAP X ERERE -

FEHIFBRETEHEREDLEFEHE -
Bt - B TF RGN B AL ERE L BER
HIE MR  HBERZOLF BEZE
HY B F RSB T e 5 A BRI F IS ©

RAFEHES  SERAI1EBTEARE
0.8793 7T 2 [EZX (148 H) » MEEHRZE &t
TERNFEEEARETE T UREEH A
KB (T A fth B B # 3% (B 26 (T A b [E =
BE o



WANKAONLINE

WANKA ONLINE INC.
BEMEBRARLF
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